II-VI INC Form DEF 14A September 16, 2016 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

- x Filed by the Registrant
- " Filed by a Party other than the Registrant

Check the appropriate box:

- " Preliminary Proxy Statement
- " Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- x Definitive Proxy Statement
- " Definitive Additional Materials
- " Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

II-VI INCORPORATED

		(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)
Pay	ment o	of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):
x	No fo	ee required.
	Fee o	computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(4) and 0-11.
	1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:
	2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
	3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which

Table of Contents 2

the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):

Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:

5) Total fee paid:

Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.

 Chec	ck box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
1)	Amount Previously Paid:
2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
3)	Filing Party:
4)	Date Filed:

375 Saxonburg Boulevard

Saxonburg, Pennsylvania 16056

Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders

TO BE HELD ON NOVEMBER 4, 2016

DATE AND TIME: Friday, November 4, 2016, at 1:30 p.m. local time

PLACE: Marriott Pittsburgh North, 100 Cranberry Woods Drive, Cranberry Township, Pennsylvania 16066, Phone (724) 772-3700

VOTING

Shareholders are asked to vote on the following items at the 2016 Annual Meeting:

- 1. Election of three (3) Class Two directors, each for a three-year term to expire in 2019.
- 2. Non-binding advisory vote to approve compensation paid to our named executive officers in fiscal year 2016, as disclosed in these materials.
- 3. Ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2017.
- 4. Any other matters that properly come before the meeting.

RECORD DATE

Shareholders of record at the close of business on September 2, 2016 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the 2016 Annual Meeting and any adjournment or postponements of the meeting.

AVAILABILITY OF MATERIALS

We are furnishing proxy materials to shareholders that hold shares through a broker, bank or other nominee (commonly referred to as held in street name), via the internet. If you received a *Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials* (the Notice) by mail from your broker, bank or other nominee, you will not receive a printed copy of the proxy materials unless you request one. The Notice instructs you how to access and review all of the important information contained in the proxy materials over the Internet. The Notice also provides instructions for submitting your proxy over the Internet. If you received a Notice and would like to receive a printed copy of our proxy materials, please follow the instructions for requesting materials included in the Notice. Shareholders of record will automatically receive a printed set of proxy materials, including a proxy card.

This Proxy Statement and Proxy Card will first be made available to shareholders on or about September 16, 2016.

By Order of the Board

WALTER R. BASHAW II, Secretary

September 16, 2016

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. WE URGE YOU TO CAST YOUR VOTE AS INSTRUCTED IN THE NOTICE OR

PROXY CARD AS PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE. IF YOU DID NOT RECEIVE A PAPER PROXY CARD, YOU MAY

REQUEST ONE TO VOTE BY MAIL IF YOU PREFER.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE	ITEM
Preceding	Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders
1	Introduction
3	Matters of Business, Votes Needed and Recommendations of the Board
4	PROPOSAL ONE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
6	Class Two Directors Standing for Election
7	Continuing Directors
9	Meetings and Standing Committees of the Board
10	Director Independence and Corporate Governance Policies
14	<u>Director Compensation in Fiscal Year 2016</u>
15	<u>Director Compensation Structure for Fiscal Year 2016</u>
17	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
20	Executive Officers
21	Executive Compensation
21	Compensation Discussion and Analysis
21	Message from the Compensation Committee
25	Alignment of Executive Pay and Company Performance
26	Compensation Philosophy and Objectives
27	Summary of Pay Elements and Mix of Variable and Fixed Compensation
29	Pay for Performance
30	Elements of Compensation
30	Base Salary
30	<u>Cash Incentives</u>
32	Equity Incentives
36	Process for Setting Compensation for Fiscal Year 2016
38	Fiscal Year 2016 Timeline
39	Compensation Decisions for Fiscal Year 2017
40	Compensation and Risk
41	Additional Information
43	Compensation Committee Report
44	Summary Compensation Table
45	Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table
46	Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End
48	Option Exercises and Stock Vested in Fiscal Year 2016
49	Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Fiscal Year 2016
50	Equity Compensation Plan Information
51	Potential Payments on Change in Control and Employment Termination
56	PROPOSAL TWO Advisory Vote to Approve Named Executive Officer Compensation
57	Report of the Audit Committee
58	

PROPOSAL THREE Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm

59 Other Information

375 Saxonburg Boulevard

Saxonburg, Pennsylvania 16056

Proxy Statement for the

Annual Meeting of Shareholders

TO BE HELD ON NOVEMBER 4, 2016

GENERAL

The enclosed proxy is solicited on behalf of the Board of Directors (the Board) of II-VI Incorporated, a Pennsylvania corporation, for use at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the Annual Meeting) to be held on November 4, 2016 at 1:30 p.m. local time, or any rescheduled date.

The Annual Meeting will be held at the **Marriott Pittsburgh North**, 100 Cranberry Woods Drive, Cranberry Township, Pennsylvania 16066, telephone: (724) 772-3700. Please see the Company website at www.ii-vi.com/investor/investors.html for directions to the location for the Annual Meeting. These proxy materials were first made available on or about September 16, 2016 to shareholders as of the record date, September 2, 2016 (the Record Date).

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THE ANNUAL MEETING?

Shareholders will act on the matters outlined on the cover page of this proxy statement. We are not aware of any matters to be presented at the meeting other than those described in this proxy statement. If any other matter is properly presented at the Annual Meeting, your proxy holders (one of the individuals named on your proxy card) will vote your shares in their discretion.

WHO MAY VOTE AT THE ANNUAL MEETING?

You are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting if our records show that you held your shares as of the close of business on the Record Date. As of the Record Date, 62,914,738 shares of Company common stock, no par value (Common Stock), were issued and outstanding.

WHAT ARE THE VOTING RIGHTS OF HOLDERS OF II-VI COMMON STOCK?

Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one (1) vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the shareholders, including the election of directors. Shareholders do not have cumulative voting rights.

WHO CAN ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING?

All shareholders as of the Record Date may attend the Annual Meeting. Since seating is limited, admission to the Annual Meeting will be on a first-come, first-served basis. If you attend, please note that you may be asked to present valid identification. Cameras, recording devices and other electronic devices will not be permitted at the Annual

Meeting. Please also note that if you hold your shares in street name (that is, through a broker or other nominee), you will need to bring a copy of a brokerage statement reflecting your stock ownership as of the Record Date and check in at the registration desk at the meeting.

WHAT CONSTITUTES A QUORUM?

Our bylaws provide that shareholders holding a majority of the shares of common stock issued, outstanding and entitled to vote on the Record Date constitute a quorum at the Annual Meeting. The presence in person or by proxy of holders representing at least 31,457,370 shares of Common Stock will be required to establish a quorum. Proxies received but marked as abstentions and broker non-votes (explained below) will be included in the calculation of the number of votes considered to establish a quorum. If there is no quorum, the holders of a majority of shares present at the meeting may adjourn the Annual Meeting to another date.

2016 Notice of Meeting and Proxy Statement

1

How Do I Vote?

Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, we urge you to vote by proxy to ensure your vote is counted. If entitled to vote, you may vote:

- Through your broker: If your shares are held through a broker, bank or other nominee (commonly referred to as held in street name), you will receive instructions from them that you must follow to have your shares voted. If you do not provide voting instructions to your broker, bank or other nominee, your shares will not be voted on any matter that your broker, bank or other nominee does not have discretionary authority to vote on. If you want to vote in person, you will need to obtain a legal proxy from your broker, bank or other nominee and bring it to the meeting.
- **u In person:** Attend the Annual Meeting and, if you request, we will give you a ballot at the time of voting. If you have previously submitted a proxy card, you must notify us at the Annual Meeting that you intend to cancel your prior proxy and vote by ballot at the meeting.
- **Returning a Proxy Card:** If you receive a proxy card, sign and date the proxy card, then return it promptly in the envelope provided. If your signed proxy card is received before the Annual Meeting, the designated proxies will vote your shares as you direct.
- **ü** Using the Telephone: Dial toll-free at 1-800-579-1639 and follow the recorded instructions. You will be asked to provide the control number from your proxy card or voting instruction form.
- **Through the Internet:** Go to www.proxyvote.com and follow the instructions provided. You will be asked for the control number from the proxy card or voting instruction form provided to you.

HOW DO I REQUEST PAPER COPIES OF THE PROXY MATERIALS?

Please refer to the Notice for the ways in which you may request a paper copy of the proxy statement and accompanying proxy card.

CAN I CHANGE OR REVOKE MY VOTE AFTER I VOTE ONLINE OR RETURN MY PROXY CARD?

Yes. Even after you have submitted your proxy, you may change or revoke your vote at any time before the proxy is exercised by filing with the Secretary of the Company either a notice of revocation or a duly executed proxy bearing a

later date. The powers of the proxy holders will be suspended if you attend the Annual Meeting in person and so request, although attendance at the Annual Meeting will not by itself revoke a previously granted proxy. This does not apply if your shares are in street name and you have not obtained a proxy from your broker, bank or other nominee)

WHAT ARE THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE BOARD?

Unless you give other instructions when you vote, the persons named as proxy holders on the proxy card will vote in accordance with the recommendations of the Company s Board of Directors (the Board). These recommendations are set forth in the description of each proposal in this proxy statement. In summary, the Board recommends a vote:

FOR election of the nominated slate of Class Two Directors for terms expiring in 2019 (see Proposal 1);

FOR approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers as disclosed in these materials (see Proposal 2); and

FOR ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2017 (see Proposal 3).

With respect to any other matter that properly comes before the Annual Meeting, the proxy holders will vote as recommended by the Board or, if no recommendation is given, in their own discretion.

WHAT IS THE EFFECT OF ABSTENTIONS AND BROKER NON-VOTES?

2

For each of the matters to be voted on at the Annual Meeting, abstentions and broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of establishing a quorum, but will not be counted in determining the number of votes necessary for approval. A broker non-vote occurs when a nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote because it did not receive instructions from the beneficial owner. A nominee may have discretionary authority to vote on Proposal 3 but will not be permitted to vote on Proposals 1 and 2. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be taken into account in determining the outcome of the election of directors, since they are not considered to be votes cast. Abstentions have the effect of a vote against with respect to Proposals 2 and 3, while broker non-votes have no effect.

2016 Notice of Meeting and Proxy Statement

MATTERS OF BUSINESS, VOTES NEEDED AND

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Proposal 1 Election of Directors

Each outstanding share of our Common Stock is entitled to one vote for as many separate nominees as there are directors to be elected. There are three directors nominated for election to Class Two of our Board at the Annual Meeting Francis J. Kramer, Wendy F. DiCicco and Shaker Sadasivam. A majority of the shares entitled to vote and cast in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting is required to elect each of the nominees for director. Abstentions and broker non-votes have no effect on this matter. This means that each nominee must receive more votes for than against him or her to be elected. The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the election of each of the Board s nominees for director.

Proposal 2 Non-Binding Advisory Vote to Approve 2016 Named Executive Officer Compensation

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote and present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting is required to approve on an advisory basis the compensation of our named executive officers for fiscal year 2016. Abstentions have the effect of an against vote and broker non-votes have no effect. Because this is an advisory vote, it will not be binding on the Company or Board of Directors. However, the Compensation Committee will consider the voting results of this advisory and non-binding proposal, among other factors, when making future decisions regarding executive compensation. The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the resolution approving the Company s fiscal year 2016 named executive officer compensation.

Proposal 3 Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote and present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting is required to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP to audit the Company s financial statements for 2017. Abstentions have the effect of an against vote and broker non-votes have no effect. The Audit Committee is responsible for appointing the Company s independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee is not bound by the outcome of this vote but, if the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP is not ratified by shareholders, the Audit Committee will reconsider the appointment. The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year

For More Board
Information Page 4 ü For Each
Nominee

Page 56 ü For

Page 58 ü For

ending June 30, 2017.

2016 Notice of Meeting and Proxy Statement

3

PROPOSAL 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is divided into three classes, each consisting of as nearly an equal number of directors as practicable. At present, the Board of Directors consists of nine members, with three directors in each Class.

The current term of our Class Two Directors expires at the Annual Meeting. Accordingly, three directors have been nominated for election to Class Two positions, for a term of three years or until such time as their respective successors are elected and qualified, or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal. Any Board vacancy may be filled by the remaining directors then in office, and any director so elected will serve for the predecessor s remaining term, or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.

The persons named as proxies for this Annual Meeting were selected by the Board and have advised the Board that, unless authority is withheld, they intend to vote the shares represented by them at the Annual Meeting as follows:

FOR the election of Francis J. Kramer, who has served as a director of the Company since 1989;

FOR the election of Wendy F. DiCicco, who has served as a director of the Company since 2006; and

FOR the election of Shaker Sadasivam, who has served as a director of the Company since 2016.

Each of the nominees has consented to serve if elected. However, if any of them is unable or unwilling to serve as a director, the Board may designate a substitute nominee, in which case, the persons named as proxies will vote for any such substitute nominee proposed by the Board of Directors.

DIRECTOR CONDITIONAL RESIGNATION POLICY

Each incumbent director nominee has submitted an irrevocable conditional resignation in the event the nominee receives a greater number of votes AGAINST than votes FOR such person s election. If this occurs, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will make a recommendation to the Board as to whether to accept or reject the resignation previously tendered by such director or if other action should be taken. The Board will act on the tendered resignation, taking into account the Committee s recommendation, and publicly disclose its decision regarding the tendered resignation, as well as the underlying rationale, within 90 days from the date of the certification of the election results. The incumbent director will remain as a member of the Board during this process.

INFORMATION REGARDING THE COMPANY S BOARD

The professional and personal experience, qualifications, attributes and skills of each of the director nominees are described below, and reflect the qualities that the Company seeks in its Board members. In addition to the specific examples set forth below, the Board and the Company believe that broad-based business knowledge, commitment to ethical and moral values, personal and professional integrity, sound business judgment and commitment to corporate citizenship demonstrated by the nominees make them exceptional candidates for these positions.

4

2016 Notice of Meeting and Proxy Statement

Proposal 1

								Corporate Governance	
		Expiration						and	
		of		Director		Audit	Compensation	_	Subsidiary
Name	Class	Term	Age	Since	With II-VI	Committee	Committee	Committee	Committee
NON-EMPLOYEE	,								
DIRECTORS:									
					Lead Independent				
Marc Y.E. Pelaez	One	2018	70	2002	Director		Member	Chair	Member
Howard H. Xia	One	2018	55	2011	Director	Member		Member	Chair
Wendy F. DiCicco	Two	2016	49	2006	Director	Chair	Member		
Shaker Sadasivam	Two	2016	56	2016	Director				
Thomas E. Mistler	Three	2017	74	1977	Director	Member		Member	Member
Joseph J.									
Corasanti	Three	2017	52	2002	Director		Chair	Member	Member
William A.									
Schromm	Three	2017	58	2015	Director	Member	Member		(2)
EMPLOYEE									
DIRECTORS:									
					Chairman and				
Francis J.					Chief Executive				
Kramer ⁽³⁾	Two	2016	67	1989	Officer; Director				
Vincent D.					President,				
Mattera, Jr.(1)	One	2018	60	2012	Director				

- (1) Dr. Mattera previously served as a non-employee director from 2000 through 2002, and as an employee from 2004.
- (2) Mr. Schromm withdrew from the Subsidiary Committee to concentrate on his responsibilities as a member of the Audit and Compensation Committees.
- (3) Mr. Kramer retired as Chief Executive Officer effective September 1, 2016 and will remain Chairman of the Board as a non-employee director. Dr. Mattera was named Chief Executive Officer effective September 1, 2016. All references in this document, except those referring to fiscal year 2017, refer to their respective roles as they existed for fiscal year 2016. Those roles are Mr. Kramer as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Dr. Mattera as President.

2016 Notice of Meeting and Proxy Statement

5

Proposal 1

CLASS TWO DIRECTORS STANDING FOR ELECTION

Francis J. Kramer. Mr. Kramer joined II-VI in 1983, served as its President from 1985 to 2014, its Chief Executive Officer since 2007, and its Chairman and CEO from 2014 to 2016. He now serves as the Company s Chairman of the Board of Directors. Mr. Kramer holds a B.S. degree in Industrial Engineering from the University of Pittsburgh and an M.S. degree in Industrial Administration from Purdue University. Mr. Kramer has served as director of Barnes Group Inc., a publicly traded aerospace and industrial manufacturing company (NYSE: B), since 2012. Mr. Kramer provides our Board and the Company with guidance on our growth strategy, in particular on the profitable and sustainable execution of the strategy to achieve sustainable competitive advantage. He contributes considerable business development experience, having completed 20 acquisitions in 20 years adding nearly \$700 million of revenue and significant operations experience, relevant to our vertical integration strategy and globalization. Based on these factors, the board has concluded that he should continue to serve as a director of the Company.

Wendy F. DiCicco. Ms. DiCicco is currently President and Chief Operating Officer of Camber Spine Technologies, a private developer and manufacturer of spinal implants, where she has been since November 2014. From April 2012 through October 2014, she served as Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Nuron Biotech, Inc., a privately held biotech company. During the period from 2008 through 2012, she served as the Chief Financial Officer of private equity backed companies. From 1996 to 2008, she served as the principal financial officer of Kensey Nash Corporation (as controller for two years and then as Chief Financial Officer for ten years), a publicly-traded medical technology company specializing in cardiology and orthopaedics and now part of Royal DSM, a Netherlands company. Ms. DiCicco was an Accounting and Audit Manager with Deloitte LLP from 1990 to 1996, where she served clients in the manufacturing and retail industries. Ms. DiCicco graduated from Philadelphia College of Textiles and Science with a B.S. degree in Accounting. Ms. DiCicco is a Certified Public Accountant in Pennsylvania and is a member of AICPA, the PICPA and the NACD. She also serves on the boards of SynCardia Systems, Inc., a private equity-backed cardiovascular medical device company and the Philadelphia Chapter of the NACD. Ms. DiCicco adds financial reporting and management skills to our Board, including her experience with a large public accounting firm and as a chief financial officer of both public and private companies. Based on these factors, the board has concluded that she should continue to serve as a director of the Company.

Shaker Sadasivam. Dr. Sadasivam is currently President and Chief Executive Officer of SunEdison Semiconductor LLC (NASDAQ:SEMI), a leading manufacturer of advanced semiconductors for electronics, which was separated from SunEdison, Inc. in 2015. From 2009 to 2014, he served as President, Semiconductor Materials Business Unit of SunEdison, Inc. (formerly known as MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc.). From 2002 to 2009, Dr. Sadasivam served as Senior Vice president, Research and Development of SunEdison, Inc. Dr. Sadasivam holds a B.S. and M.S. in Chemical Engineering from University of Madras and Indian Institute of Technology, an M.B.A from Olin School of Business and a Ph.D. in Chemical Engineering from Clarkson University. Dr. Sadasivam will bring to the Board of Directors his extensive experience related to the semiconductor industry and insight into areas including operations, product development and engineering management. Based on these factors the Board has concluded that he should continue to serve as a director of the Company.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR EACH OF THE NOMINEES NAMED ABOVE FOR ELECTION AS A CLASS TWO DIRECTOR.

6

2016 Notice of Meeting and Proxy Statement

Proposal 1

CONTINUING DIRECTORS

EXISTING CLASS THREE DIRECTORS WHOSE TERMS EXPIRE IN 2017

Thomas E. Mistler. Mr. Mistler retired in 2009 as an operating partner for Buckingham Capital Partners, a private investment firm, where he served beginning in 2003. He will retire from the Board of Directors of II-VI Incorporated in November, 2016. Mr. Mistler was President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of ESCO Holding Corp. and Engineered Arresting Systems Corporation, a manufacturer of aircraft and vehicle arresting systems, from 1999 to 2003. Previously, he was Senior Vice President of Energy Systems Business for Westinghouse Electric Corporation (Westinghouse), where he was employed from 1965 to 1998. Mr. Mistler served in various engineering, marketing and general management capacities with Westinghouse, including serving as President of Westinghouse Saudi Arabia Limited from 1981 to 1984. Mr. Mistler graduated from Kansas State University with B.S. and M.S. degrees in Engineering. Mr. Mistler possesses executive management, operational and corporate governance experience in multiple markets, which contribute greatly to our Board. In addition, his engineering background and the international business experience that he has developed throughout his career add value to our Board.

Joseph J. Corasanti. Mr. Corasanti presently serves as a member of the Board of Directors for SRC, Inc., a non-profit research and development company advancing technologies in the areas of defense, environment and intelligence. From 2006 to July 2014 Mr. Corasanti served as President and Chief Executive Officer of CONMED Corporation (CONMED), a publicly traded medical technology company (NASDAQ: CNMD). From 1999 to 2006, he served as President and Chief Operating Officer of CONMED. From 1998 to 1999, he was Executive Vice President/General Manager of CONMED and prior to that, he served as General Counsel and Vice President-Legal Affairs for CONMED from 1993 to 1998. From 1990 to 1993, he was an Associate Attorney with the Los Angeles office of the law firm of Morgan, Wenzel & McNicholas. Mr. Corasanti holds a B.A. degree in Political Science from Hobart College and a J.D. degree from Whittier College School of Law. He served as a director of CONMED from 1994 to 2014. Mr. Corasanti s past executive positions and his prior public company board experience have provided him with leadership skills and experience in a variety of matters that he contributes to the Company s Board. His experience and skill set, including his legal background and acquisition experience, are valuable to our Board.

William A. Schromm. Mr. Schromm has served in various roles at ON Semiconductor Corporation (NASDAQ: ON), a leading manufacturer of energy-efficient, low-cost, high-volume analog, logic and discrete semiconductors, which was separated from Motorola in 1999. At ON Semiconductor, Mr. Schromm has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer since 2014; prior to that time he served as Senior Vice President, Operating Systems and Technology from 2012 to 2014 and as Senior Vice President, General Manager, Computing and Consumer Products from 2006 to 2012. Prior to joining ON Semiconductor Corporation, he worked for 19 years at Motorola in various roles, including Process Engineer, Product Manager, Operations Manager and Marketing Director. He brings extensive engineering, management and marketing experience to our Board.

2016 Notice of Meeting and Proxy Statement

-

Proposal 1

CONTINUING DIRECTORS

EXISTING CLASS ONE DIRECTORS WHOSE TERMS EXPIRE IN 2018

Marc Y.E. Pelaez. Mr. Pelaez is a Rear Admiral, United States Navy (retired). Rear Admiral Pelaez is currently a private consultant to defense and commercial companies. He was Vice President of Engineering and later Vice President of Business and Technology Development for Newport News Shipbuilding from 1996 until 2001, when it was acquired by Northrop Grumman Corporation. From 1993 to 1996, Rear Admiral Pelaez served as Chief of Naval Research. He served as the Executive Assistant to the Assistant Secretary of the Navy (Research, Development, and Acquisition) from 1990 to 1993. From 1968 to 1990, he held numerous positions, including command assignments, in the United States Navy. He is a graduate of the United States Naval Academy. Rear Admiral Pelaez has a broad background and understanding of technology and technology development, a seasoned knowledge of military procurement practices, and management leadership and consulting skills developed throughout his military and civilian careers.

Howard H. Xia. Dr. Xia currently serves as a consultant to the telecommunications industry. Dr. Xia had served as General Manager of Vodafone China Limited, a wholly-owned company of Vodafone Group Plc, a publicly traded telecommunication company (NASDAQ: VOD), from 2001 to 2014. From 1994 to 2001, he served as a Director-Technology Strategy for Vodafone AirTouch Plc and AirTouch Communications, Inc. He served as a Senior Staff Engineer at Telesis Technology Laboratory from 1992 to 1994 and was a Senior Engineer at PacTel Cellular from 1990 to 1992. Dr. Xia holds a B.S. in Physics from South China Normal University and an M.S. in Physics and Electrical Engineering and a Ph.D. in Electrophysics from Polytechnic School of Engineering of New York University. Dr. Xia s extensive knowledge of and experience in the telecommunications industry, his knowledge of international business including that with China, and strong leadership skills make him a valuable member of our Board of Directors. In particular, his experience and knowledge of telecommunications in Asia contributes to the Board s breadth of knowledge in this area.

Vincent D. Mattera, Jr. Dr. Mattera joined II-VI in 2004, and was recently named the Company's Chief Executive Officer effective September 1, 2016. Dr. Mattera has been serving in the role of President since 2014 and Chief Operating Office since 2013. Prior to that time, he served in several executive capacities. Dr. Mattera joined II-VI following a 20 year career at Agere Systems, Lucent Technologies, and AT&T Bell Laboratories. Dr. Mattera previously served as a non-employee director of the Company from 2000 through 2002. Dr Mattera was reappointed as a member of the Board in 2014. Dr. Mattera holds B.S. and Ph.D. degrees in Chemistry from the University of Rhode Island and Brown University, respectively.

2016 Notice of Meeting and Proxy Statement

8

Proposal 1

MEETINGS AND STANDING COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company s Board held seventeen (17) meetings during fiscal year 2016. Each scheduled quarterly meeting occurred over a two-day period. In fiscal year 2016, each director attended 100% of the meetings of the Board, as well as at least 75% of the aggregate of (a) the total number of meetings of the Board and (b) the total number of meetings for the committees of which he or she was a member. The Board and committees of the Board have the authority to hire independent advisors to help fulfill their respective duties.

The Board of Directors has four standing committees: Audit; Compensation; Corporate Governance and Nominating; and Subsidiary. All Committees have written charters that may be found on the Company s website at www.ii-vi.com/investor/investors.html.

Committee and Members	Primary Committee Functions	Number of Meetings
Audit:		
Wendy F. DiCicco (Chair)*	Oversees the Company s discharge of its financial reporting obligations	Four (4)
Thomas E. Mistler		
William A. Schromm	Monitors the Company s relationship with its independent publi accounting firm	ic
Howard H. Xia	Monitors performance of the Company s business plan	
*Qualifies as a financial expert, as defined by the Securities and	Reviews the internal accounting methods and procedures	
Exchange Commission	Reviews certain financial strategies	
	Establishes procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, and the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of concerns regarding accounting or auditing matters	
	Periodically reviews of the Company s risk assessment approach and activities undertaken by management	h
Compensation:		
Joseph J. Corasanti (Chair)	Determines and oversees compensation of the Company s directors and executive officers	Eleven (11)
Wendy F. DiCicco		

Marc Y.E. Pelaez	Administers and interprets the Company s equity and incentive plans
William A. Schromm	Establishes terms and conditions of equity awards
	Reviews succession plans for CEO and other senior executives of the Company
	Further information regarding the functions of the Compensation Committee is provided in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section on page 34
Corporate Governance and	

Corporate Governance and Nominating:

Marc Y.E. Pelaez (Chair) Develops and implements policies and processes regarding Five (5)

corporate governance matters

Joseph J. Corasanti

Assesses Board membership needs and makes recommendations
Thomas E. Mistler regarding potential director candidates to the Board of Directors

Howard H Xia

Howard H. Xia	
Subsidiary:	
Howard H. Xia (Chair)	Oversees the activities of the Company s operating subsidiaries, Four (4) as directed from time to time by the Board of Directors
Joseph J. Corasanti	
	Attends selected quarterly meetings of the Company s operating
Thomas E. Mistler	subsidiaries and reports to the Board on material developments
	and risks
Marc Y. E. Pelaez	
	Focuses on risks related to operations, markets, customers and
	technology

the seasonality of our supplies and consumer demand;

the ability to process products during critical harvest periods; and

the timing and effects of ripening and perishability.

Although banana production tends to be relatively stable throughout the year, banana pricing is seasonal because bananas compete against other fresh fruit that generally comes to market beginning in the summer. As a result, banana prices are typically higher during the first half of the year. Our fresh vegetables segment experiences some seasonality as reflected by higher earnings in the first half of the year.

When the sale transaction is consummated, we no longer will be subject to these risks to the extent they relate to the businesses being sold, but our remaining risks in relation to these factors will be less diversified geographically and by product line, and could therefore have a greater relative impact on our businesses remaining after consummation of the sale transaction.

Currency exchange fluctuations may impact the results of our operations.

Our nearly 200 products are sourced, grown, processed, marketed and distributed in more than 100 countries throughout the world; following the sale transaction, we will have approximately 180 products distributed in more than 90 countries. Our international sales are usually transacted in U.S. dollars, and European currencies. Our results of operations are affected by fluctuations in currency exchange rates in both sourcing and selling locations. Although we enter into foreign currency exchange forward contracts from time to time to reduce our risk related to currency exchange fluctuation, our results of operations may still be impacted by foreign currency exchange rates, primarily, after the sale transaction, the euro-to-U.S. dollar exchange rate. Dole estimates that a 10% strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to the euro would lower operating income by approximately \$15 million, excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange hedges. Because we do not hedge against all of our foreign currency exposure, our business will continue to be susceptible to foreign currency fluctuations.

When the sale transaction is consummated, we no longer will be subject to these risks to the extent they relate to fluctuation of currency exchange rates applicable to the businesses being sold, but our remaining currency exchange rate fluctuation risks will be less diversified geographically, and could therefore have a greater relative impact on our businesses remaining after consummation of the sale transaction since we will be more concentrated in certain countries.

Increases in commodity or raw product costs, such as fuel and paper could adversely affect our operating results.

Many factors may affect the cost and supply of fresh produce, including external conditions, commodity market fluctuations, currency fluctuations, changes in governmental laws and regulations, agricultural programs,

15

severe and prolonged weather conditions and natural disasters. Increased costs for purchased fruit and vegetables have in the past negatively impacted our operating results, and there can be no assurance that they will not adversely affect our operating results in the future.

The price of various commodities can significantly affect our costs. For example, the price of bunker fuel used in shipping operations, including fuel used in ships that we own or charter, is an important variable component of transportation costs. Our fuel costs have increased substantially in recent years, and there can be no assurance that there will not be further increases in the future. In addition, fuel and transportation cost is a significant component of the price of much of the produce that we purchase from growers or distributors, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to pass on to our customers the increased costs we incur in these respects.

The cost of paper is also significant to us because some of our products are packed in cardboard boxes for shipment. If the price of paper increases and we are not able to effectively pass these price increases along to our customers, then our operating income will decrease. Increased costs for paper have in the past negatively impacted our operating income, and there can be no assurance that these increased costs will not adversely affect our operating results in the future.

When the sale transaction is consummated, we no longer will be subject to the risk related to the pricing of commodities used in our packaged foods businesses, especially tinplate, but our remaining risks related to commodity and raw material pricing will be less diversified, and could therefore have a greater relative impact on our businesses remaining after consummation of the sale transaction.

We face risks related to our former use of the pesticide DBCP.

We formerly used dibromochloropropane, (DBCP), a nematocide that was used by growers on a variety of crops throughout the world. The registration for DBCP with the U.S. government was cancelled in 1979 based in part on an apparent link to male sterility among chemical factory workers who produced DBCP. There are a number of pending lawsuits in the United States and other countries against the manufacturers of DBCP and the growers, including us, who used it in the past. The cost to defend these lawsuits, and the costs to pay any judgments or settlements resulting from these lawsuits, or other lawsuits which might be brought, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. See Note 18 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

The use of herbicides and other potentially hazardous substances in our operations may lead to environmental damage and result in increased costs to us.

We use herbicides and other potentially hazardous substances in the operation of our business. We may have to pay for the costs or damages associated with the improper application, accidental release or the use or misuse of such substances. Our insurance may not be adequate to cover such costs or damages or may not continue to be available at a price or under terms that are satisfactory to us. In such cases, payment of such costs or damages could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition. When the sale transaction is consummated, we no longer will be subject to these risks to the extent they relate to operations in the businesses being sold.

We face other risks in connection with our international operations.

Our operations are heavily dependent upon products grown, purchased and sold internationally. In addition, our operations are a significant factor in the economies of many of the countries in which we operate, increasing our visibility and susceptibility to legal or regulatory changes.

These activities are subject to risks that are inherent in operating in foreign countries, including the following (see Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation Other Matters):

foreign countries could change laws and regulations or impose currency restrictions and other restraints;

16

in some countries, there is a risk that the government may expropriate assets;

some countries impose burdensome tariffs and quotas;

political changes and economic crises may lead to changes in the business environment in which we operate;

international conflict, including terrorist acts, could significantly impact our business, financial condition and results of operations;

economic sanctions may be imposed on some countries, which could disrupt the markets for products we sell, even if we do not sell into the target country;

in some countries, our operations are dependent on leases and other agreements; and

economic downturns, political instability and war or civil disturbances may disrupt production and distribution logistics or limit sales in individual markets.

When the sale transaction is consummated, we no longer will be subject to these risks to the extent they relate to the businesses being sold.

In 2005, we received a tax assessment from Honduras of approximately \$137 million (including the claimed tax, penalty, and interest through the date of assessment) relating to the disposition of all of our interest in Cervecería Hondureña, S.A. in 2001. We have been contesting the tax assessment. Dole and the Honduran government are discussing the terms and conditions of a final resolution of the pending lawsuits and tax-related matters. See Note 18 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

We may be required to pay significant penalties under European antitrust laws.

The European Commission (EC) issued a decision (the Decision) imposing a 45.6 million fine against Dole and its German subsidiary on October 15, 2008. On December 24, 2008, we appealed the Decision by filing an Application for Annulment, or Application, with the European General Court. The General Court has given notice that its decision will be issued on March 14, 2013, which Dole believes could result in a possible resolution of this matter.

On December 3, 2008, the EC agreed in writing that if Dole made an initial payment of \$10 million (7.6 million) to the EC on or before January 22, 2009, then the EC would stay the deadline for a provisional payment, or coverage by a prime bank guaranty, of the remaining balance (plus interest as from January 22, 2009), until April 30, 2009. Dole made this initial \$10 million payment on January 22, 2009, and Dole provided the required bank guaranty for the remaining balance of the fine to the EC by the deadline of April 30, 2009.

We believe that we have not violated the European competition laws and that the Application has substantial legal merit, both for an annulment of the Decision and fine in their entirety, or for a substantial reduction of the fine, but no assurances can be given that we will be successful on appeal. Furthermore, the ultimate resolution of these items could materially impact our results of operations or financial condition. We cannot predict the outcome of our appeal of the EC s Decision. See Note 18 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

The global economic downturn could result in a decrease in our sales and revenue, which could adversely affect the results of our operations, and we cannot predict the extent or duration of these trends.

As a result of the global economic downturn, consumers may reduce their purchases and seek value pricing, which may affect sales and pricing of some of our products. Such trends could adversely affect the results of our operations and there can be no assurance whether or when consumer confidence will return and a solid, long-term recovery ensue.

17

Global capital and credit market issues could negatively affect our liquidity, increase our costs of borrowing and disrupt the operations of our suppliers and customers.

The global capital and credit markets have experienced volatility and disruption over the past several years, sometimes making it difficult for companies to access those markets. We depend in part on stable, liquid and well-functioning capital and credit markets to fund our operations. Although we believe that our operating cash flows, access to capital and credit markets and existing revolving credit agreement will permit us to meet our financing needs for the foreseeable future, there can be no assurance that continued or increased volatility and disruption in the capital and credit markets will not impair our liquidity or increase our costs of borrowing. Our business could also be negatively impacted if our suppliers or customers experience disruptions resulting from tighter capital and credit markets.

The ongoing sovereign debt issue in the European Union, and related European restructuring efforts, may result in a decrease in the value of European currencies, including the euro and Swedish krona, against the U.S. dollar, which in turn could adversely impact the U.S. dollar value of our sales and working capital denominated in such currencies. In addition, instability in global credit markets, and/or further economic deterioration in Europe could adversely impact demand for our products and product pricing.

When the sale transaction is consummated, these risks are likely to be of reduced significance because we will have significantly less debt and accordingly will be less susceptible than at present to the disruptions and volatility in the capital and credit markets.

The global economic downturn may have other impacts on participants in our industry, which cannot be fully predicted.

The full impact of the global economic downturn on customers, vendors and other business partners cannot be anticipated. For example, major customers or vendors may have financial challenges unrelated to us that could result in a decrease in their business with us or, in extreme cases, cause them to file for bankruptcy protection. Similarly, parties to contracts may be forced to breach their obligations under those contracts. Although we exercise prudent oversight of the credit ratings and financial strength of our major business partners and seek to diversify our risk to any single business partner, there can be no assurance that there will not be a bank, insurance company, supplier, customer or other financial partner that is unable to meet its contractual commitments to us. Similarly, stresses and pressures in the industry may result in impacts on our business partners and competitors that could have wide ranging impacts on the future of the industry. When the sale transaction is consummated, we no longer will be subject to these risks to the extent they relate to the businesses being sold, but the remaining risks related to these factors will be less diversified, and could therefore have a greater relative impact on our businesses remaining after consummation of the sale transaction.

Terrorism and the uncertainty of war may have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

Terrorist attacks, such as the attacks that occurred in New York and Washington, D.C. on September 11, 2001, the subsequent response by the United States in Afghanistan, Iraq and other locations, and other acts of violence or war in the United States or abroad may affect the markets in which we operate and our operations and profitability. From time to time in the past, our operations or personnel have been the targets of terrorist or criminal attacks, and the risk of such attacks impacts our operations and results in increased security costs. Further terrorist attacks against the United States or operators of United States-owned businesses outside the United States may occur, or hostilities could develop based on the current international situation. The potential near-term and long-term effect these attacks may have on our business operations, our customers, the markets for our products, the United States economy and the economies of other places in which we source or sell our products is uncertain. The consequences of any terrorist attacks, or any armed conflicts, are unpredictable, and we may not be able to foresee events that could have an adverse effect on our markets or our business. When the sale transaction is consummated, we no longer will be subject to these risks to the extent they relate to the

18

businesses being sold, but our remaining risks related to these factors will be less diversified geographically, and could therefore have a greater relative impact on our businesses remaining after consummation of the sale transaction.

Our operations and products are highly regulated in the areas of food safety and protection of human health and the environment.

Our operations are subject to a broad range of foreign, federal, state and local environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including laws and regulations governing the use and disposal of pesticides and other chemicals. These regulations directly affect day-to-day operations, and violations of these laws and regulations can result in substantial fines or penalties. There can be no assurance that these fines or penalties would not have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. To maintain compliance with all of the laws and regulations that apply to our operations, we have been and may be required in the future to modify our operations, purchase new equipment or make capital improvements. Further, we may recall a product (voluntarily or otherwise) if we or the regulators believe it presents a potential risk. In addition, we have been and in the future may become subject to lawsuits alleging that our operations and products caused personal injury or property damage.

We are subject to the risk of product contamination and product liability claims.

The sale of food products for human consumption involves the risk of injury to consumers. Such injuries may result from tampering by unauthorized third parties, product contamination or spoilage, including the presence of foreign objects, substances, chemicals, other agents, or residues introduced during the growing, storage, handling or transportation phases. We have from time to time been involved in product liability lawsuits, none of which were material to our business. While we are subject to governmental inspection and regulations and believe our facilities comply in all material respects with all applicable laws and regulations, we cannot be sure that consumption of our products will not cause a health-related illness in the future or that we will not be subject to claims or lawsuits relating to such matters. For example, in the fall of 2006, a third party from whom we and others had purchased spinach products recalled certain packaged fresh spinach due to contamination by *E. coli* O157:H7. Even if a product liability claim is unsuccessful or is not fully pursued, the negative publicity surrounding any assertion that our products caused illness or injury could adversely affect our reputation with existing and potential customers and our corporate and brand image. Moreover, claims or liabilities of this sort might not be covered by our insurance or by any rights of indemnity or contribution that we may have against others. We maintain product liability insurance, however, we cannot be sure that we will not incur claims or liabilities for which we are not insured or that exceed the amount of our insurance coverage.

We are subject to transportation risks.

An extended interruption in our ability to ship our products could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Similarly, any extended disruption in the distribution of our products could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. While we believe we are adequately insured and would attempt to transport our products by alternative means if we were to experience an interruption due to strike, natural disasters or otherwise, we cannot be sure that we would be able to do so or be successful in doing so in a timely and cost-effective manner.

Events or rumors relating to the DOLE brand could significantly impact our business.

Consumer and institutional recognition of the DOLE trademarks and related brands and the association of these brands with high quality and safe food products are an integral part of our business. The occurrence of any events or rumors that cause consumers and/or institutions to no longer associate these brands with high quality and safe food products may materially adversely affect the value of the DOLE brand name and demand for our products. We have licensed the DOLE brand name to several affiliated and unaffiliated companies for use in the

19

United States and abroad. Acts or omissions by these companies over which we have no control may also have such adverse effects. When the sale transaction is consummated, these risks may increase, since the sale transaction will result in our licensing or otherwise transferring significant intellectual property rights related to the DOLE brand to ITOCHU, which is an unaffiliated company.

A portion of our workforce is unionized and labor disruptions could decrease our profitability.

As of December 29, 2012, approximately 34% of our employees worldwide worked under various collective bargaining agreements. We cannot give assurance that we will be able to negotiate these or other collective bargaining agreements on the same or more favorable terms as the current agreements, or at all, and without production interruptions, including labor stoppages. A prolonged labor dispute, which could include a work stoppage, could have a material adverse effect on the portion of our business affected by the dispute, which could impact our business, results of operations and financial condition. When the sale transaction is consummated, approximately 45% of our remaining employees worldwide will be working under collective bargaining agreements.

Risks Relating to Our Indebtedness

We will use substantially all of the proceeds from the sale transaction to pay down our existing indebtedness. Until the sale transaction is consummated, however, our current level of indebtedness will remain unchanged and we will be subject to the risks described below. When the sale transaction is consummated, with the proceeds used to reduce our indebtedness to much reduced levels, the risks described below will be eliminated or largely mitigated as material risks.

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our operations, including our ability to perform our obligations under our debt obligations.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness. As of December 29, 2012, we had approximately \$1.5 billion in senior secured indebtedness, \$155 million in senior unsecured indebtedness, approximately \$55 million in capital leases and approximately \$24 million in unsecured notes payable and other indebtedness.

Our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences. For example, our substantial indebtedness may:

make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations;

limit our ability to borrow additional amounts in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service requirements, execution of our growth strategy or other purposes or make such financing more costly;

result in a triggering of customary cross-default and cross-acceleration provisions with respect to certain of our debt obligations if an event of default or acceleration occurs under one of our other debt obligations;

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, which would reduce the availability of our cash flow to fund future working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;

expose us to the risk of increased interest rates, as certain of our borrowings are at variable rates of interest;

require us to sell assets (beyond those assets currently classified as assets held-for-sale) to reduce indebtedness or influence our decisions about whether to do so:

increase our vulnerability to competitive pressures and to general adverse economic and industry conditions, including fluctuations in market interest rates or a downturn in our business;

20

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industries in which we operate;

restrict us from making strategic acquisitions or pursuing business opportunities;

place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors that have relatively less indebtedness; and

limit, along with the restrictive covenants in our credit facilities and senior note indentures, among other things, our ability to borrow additional funds. Failing to comply with those covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be unable to generate sufficient cash flow to service our debt obligations.

To service our debt, we require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate cash, make scheduled payments or refinance our obligations depends on our successful financial and operating performance. Our financial and operating performance, cash flow and capital resources depend upon prevailing economic conditions and various financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. These factors include among others:

economic and competitive conditions;

changes in laws and regulations;

operating difficulties, increased operating costs or pricing pressures we may experience; and

delays in implementing any strategic projects.

If our cash flow and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures, sell material assets or operations, obtain additional capital or restructure our debt. If we are required to take any actions referred to above, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, we cannot give assurance that we would be able to take any of these actions on terms acceptable to us, or at all, that these actions would enable us to continue to satisfy our capital requirements or that these actions would be permitted under the terms of our various debt agreements, in any of which events the default and cross-default risks set forth in the risk factor below titled Restrictive covenants in our debt instruments restrict or prohibit our ability to engage in or enter into a variety of transactions, which could adversely restrict our financial and operating flexibility and subject us to other risks would become relevant.

Subject to the restrictions in our senior secured credit facilities and the indentures governing our 8.75% debentures due 2013 (2013 Debentures), our 13.875% senior secured notes due 2014 (2014 Notes) and our 8% senior secured notes due 2016 (2016 Notes), we and certain of our subsidiaries may incur significant additional indebtedness, including additional secured indebtedness. Although the terms of our senior secured credit facilities and the indentures governing our 2013 Debentures, our 2014 Notes and our 2016 Notes contain restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of qualifications and exceptions, and additional indebtedness incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be significant. If new debt is added to our and our subsidiaries current debt levels, the related risks that we now face could increase.

Restrictive covenants in our debt instruments restrict or prohibit our ability to engage in or enter into a variety of transactions, which could adversely restrict our financial and operating flexibility and subject us to other risks.

The indentures governing our 2013 Debentures, our 2014 Notes, our 2016 Notes and our senior secured credit facilities, contain various restrictive covenants that limit our and our subsidiaries ability to take certain actions. In particular, these agreements limit our and our subsidiaries ability to, among other things:

incur additional indebtedness;

21

make restricted payments (including paying dividends on, redeeming or repurchasing our capital stock);
issue preferred stock of subsidiaries;
make certain investments or acquisitions;
create liens on our assets to secure debt;
engage in certain types of transactions with affiliates;
place restrictions on the ability of restricted subsidiaries to make payments to us;
merge, consolidate or transfer substantially all of our assets; and
transfer and sell assets.

Any or all of these covenants could have a material adverse effect on our business by limiting our ability to take advantage of financing, merger and acquisition or other corporate opportunities and to fund our operations. Any future debt could also contain financial and other covenants more restrictive than those imposed under our senior secured credit facilities and the indentures governing our debt securities.

A breach of a covenant or other provision in any debt instrument governing our current or future indebtedness could result in a default under that instrument and, due to customary cross-default and cross-acceleration provisions, could result in a default under our other debt instruments. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under the senior secured credit facilities or some of our other debt instruments, lenders representing more than 50% of our senior secured term credit facility or more than 50% of our senior secured revolving credit facility, or any indenture trustee or holders of at least 25% of any series of our debt securities could elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be immediately due and payable and, with respect to the revolving credit and letter of credit components of our senior secured credit facilities, terminate all commitments to extend further credit. If we were unable to repay those amounts, the lenders could proceed against the collateral granted to them, if any, to secure the indebtedness. If the lenders under our current or future indebtedness were to so accelerate the payment of the indebtedness, we cannot give assurance that our assets would be sufficiently liquid to repay in full our outstanding indebtedness on an accelerated basis.

Some of our debt, including the borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities, is based on variable rates of interest, which could result in higher interest expenses in the event of an increase in interest rates.

As of December 29, 2012, approximately \$1.0 billion, or 61%, of our total indebtedness, was subject to variable interest rates. If we borrow additional amounts under the revolving portion of our senior secured credit facilities, the interest rates on those borrowings may vary depending on the base rate or Eurodollar Rate (LIBOR). A 1% increase in the weighted average interest rates on our variable rate debt outstanding as of December 29, 2012, would result in higher interest expense of approximately \$10 million per year.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

David H. Murdock and his affiliates, whose interests in our business may be different from yours, can exert significant control over us.

David H. Murdock, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and his affiliates currently own 35,542,968 shares, or approximately 40%, of our outstanding common stock. Therefore, Mr. Murdock and his affiliates have significant influence over our management and affairs, including the election of our Board of Directors, and have significant control over actions to be taken by us and our Board of Directors, including amendments to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and approval of significant corporate transactions, including mergers and sales of substantially all of our assets.

The value of our common stock could be volatile, and may fluctuate greatly as a result of our operations following consummation of the sale transaction.

The overall market and the price of our common stock may fluctuate greatly, and our stock price may decrease or increase, given our reduced operations but with substantially lower debt, following the consummation of the sale transaction. The trading price of our common stock may be significantly affected by various factors, including:

quarterly fluctuations in our operating results, and the operating results of our business following the consummation of the sale transaction;

changes in investors and analysts perception of the business risks and conditions of our business;

our ability to meet the earnings estimates and other performance expectations of financial analysts or investors;

unfavorable commentary or downgrades of our stock by equity research analysts;

fluctuations in the stock prices of our peer companies or in stock markets in general; and

general economic or political conditions.

Our charter documents contain provisions that may delay, defer or prevent a change of control.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us, even if the change in control would be beneficial to stockholders. These provisions include the following:

division of our Board of Directors into three classes, with each class serving a staggered three-year term;

removal of directors by stockholders by a supermajority of two-thirds of the outstanding shares;

ability of the Board of Directors to authorize the issuance of preferred stock in series without stockholder approval;

advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations for election to the Board of Directors; and

prohibitions on our stockholders from acting by written consent and limitations on calling special meetings.

Future sales of our common stock may lower our stock price.

If Mr. Murdock were to sell a large number of shares of our common stock, the market price of our common stock could decline significantly. In addition, the perception in the public market that Mr. Murdock might sell shares of common stock could depress the market price of our common stock, regardless of his actual plans. On November 1, 2012, an affiliate of Mr. Murdock s delivered 23,317,270 shares of our common stock pursuant to the Forward Purchase Agreement dated as of October 22, 2009 between Mr. Murdock, his affiliate and the 2009 Dole Food

Automatic Common Exchange Security Trust, or the MACES Trust, to settle its obligations related to the trust transaction. Of such 23,317,270 shares of our common stock, 2,185,994 shares were distributed to Mr. Murdock in exchange for the securities issued by the MACES Trust that were then held by Mr. Murdock. All of these shares other than those held by Mr. Murdock are freely tradable under the Securities Act.

Under our 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, we have registered 13,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance. As of December 29, 2012, we had 7,340,046 shares of common stock available for future issuance of awards. These shares can be sold in the public market upon issuance, subject to restrictions under the securities laws applicable to resales by affiliates.

We may not pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.

We may not pay any dividends to our stockholders in the foreseeable future. The existing agreements governing our indebtedness restrict our ability to pay dividends, and any future such agreements may include similar restrictions. Accordingly, stockholders may have to sell some or all of their common stock in order to generate cash flow from their investment. Stockholders may not receive a gain on their investment when they sell our common stock and may lose some or all of the amount of their investment. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on our results of operations, financial conditions, contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by applicable law and other factors our Board of Directors deems relevant.

23

Risks Relating to Our Information Systems

Our electronic information and our information system assets may be made unavailable, leaked, or altered due to a computer security incident, which could adversely affect the results of our operations, and we cannot predict the extent or duration of these incidents.

Although our computer systems are distributed in many geographic areas, they are connected together in a private network. A widespread computer security incident such as virus infection may significantly disrupt our operations and business processes. In such case, we may have to operate manually, which may result in significant delay in the delivery of our products to our customers or damage to the fresh fruit and vegetable products. Our customers could refuse to continue to do business with us and prematurely terminate or reduce existing contracts resulting in a significant reduction of our operating revenue.

We have intellectual property, trade secrets and confidential business information that are stored in electronic formats that could be leaked to competitors or the public due to computer security incidents which may result in loss of competitive position and market share.

We also have personal confidential information stored in Dole-controlled systems. This information, if stolen or leaked, could result in significant financial and legal risk.

We may be targeted by computer hackers from the internet, from business partners networks connected to our network, or from employees for specific purposes such as financial gain, political or ideological motives or otherwise simply to damage our reputation, which may result in significant decline in consumer preference for our products in certain geographic regions or globally and could potentially reduce our market share.

Although we believe we have implemented reasonable industry best practices, processes and technologies to protect our information and information systems, recovery from the above computer incidents could be expensive. Rapidly raising and maintaining higher standards of computer security practices in our business globally may require significant initial investment and higher operating costs and therefore could negatively impact our operating income.

Risks Related to the Sale Transaction

While the sale transaction is pending, it creates uncertainty about our future which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

While the sale transaction is pending, it creates uncertainty about our future. Therefore, our current or potential business partners may decide to delay, defer or cancel entering into new business arrangements with us pending consummation of the sale transaction. In addition, while the sale transaction is pending, we are subject to a number of risks, including:

the diversion of management and employee attention from our day-to-day business;

the potential disruption to business partners and other service providers;

the loss of employees who may depart due to their concern about losing their jobs following the sale transaction or a shift in loyalty of employees of the businesses to be sold who see ITOCHU as their *de facto* employer even before the consummation of the sale transaction; and

our inability to respond effectively to competitive pressures, industry developments and future opportunities.

The occurrence of any of these events individually or in combination could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have also incurred substantial transaction costs in connection with the sale transaction, and we will continue to do so until the consummation of the sale transaction.

24

The failure to consummate the sale transaction may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

ITOCHU s obligation to close the sale transaction is subject to a number of conditions, although ITOCHU has paid us a \$200 million non-refundable cash deposit that, with limited exceptions, would be forfeited and retained by us if the closing does not occur by April 1, 2013. We cannot assure you that these conditions will be satisfied, or that ITOCHU will waive any that are not satisfied. In the unlikely event that the sale transaction is not consummated, we may be subject to a number of risks, including the following:

we may not be able to identify an alternate transaction, or if an alternate transaction is identified, such alternate transaction may not result in an equivalent price to what is proposed in the sale transaction;

the trading price of our common stock may decline to the extent that the current market price reflects a market assumption that the sale transaction will be consummated; and

our relationships with our customers, suppliers and employees may be damaged beyond repair and our business may be harmed. The occurrence of any of these events individually or in combination could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, which could cause the market value of our common stock to decline.

The acquisition agreement may expose us to contingent liabilities.

We have agreed to indemnify ITOCHU for certain breaches of any representation, warranty or covenant made by us in the acquisition agreement, as well as certain breaches under the trademark rights agreement to be entered into in connection with the sale transaction, in each case subject to certain limitations. Our indemnification obligations are subject to limitations, but the limitation on our maximum exposure is quite high. In some instances our indemnification obligations are not subject to any limitations. Significant indemnification claims by ITOCHU could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Because our worldwide packaged foods business and our Asia fresh business collectively represented approximately 38% of our total revenues in fiscal 2012, our business following the sale transaction will be substantially reduced and less diversified.

We may encounter unanticipated difficulties or challenges as we transition into a company with a heavier emphasis on fresh, perishable food products that cannot be inventoried and generally must be brought to market and sold soon after harvest. The reduction in the scale and scope of our business as a result of the sale transaction will expose a larger portion of our business to the type of risks associated with commodity products. Excess supply in any one of our non-value added fresh produce products could result in lower sales prices for those products. In addition, a greater portion of our product line will be exposed to the short term impact of weather and agricultural risks discussed above under Risks Related to Our Company. Also, the smaller scale of our business will reduce the opportunity to leverage global purchasing efficiencies across business lines. If we are unable to address and overcome these difficulties or challenges, we may not be successful with our remaining businesses.

We will be limited from using significant intellectual property rights and pursuing certain business opportunities following the consummation of the sale transaction.

By disposing of our worldwide packaged foods business and our Asia fresh business and by entering into the trademark rights agreement as part of the sale transaction, we are restricting our use of significant intellectual property rights, including the DOLE® brand, in connection with the fresh fruit business in Asia, Australia and New Zealand and the packaged foods business worldwide. In addition, we have also agreed to be bound by

noncompetition covenants in the trademark rights agreement which preclude our ability to enter certain aspects of these businesses within two years following the consummation of the sale transaction.

ITOCHU s use of the DOLE trademarks and related brands following the consummation of the sale transaction under the trademark rights agreement and otherwise could adversely affect our business.

The DOLE trademarks and related brands and associated goodwill represent a key component of the value of our business, and any impairment to the goodwill associated with the DOLE trademarks and related brands could adversely affect our business. ITOCHU will acquire certain DOLE trademarks in the sale transaction and, pursuant to the trademark rights agreement, subject to certain exceptions for our existing businesses, we will exclusively license other DOLE trademarks to ITOCHU for its use in connection with packaged products, as defined, worldwide and fresh products, as defined, in Asia, Australia and New Zealand. As a result, following the consummation of the sale transaction, the goodwill associated with the DOLE trademarks and related brands will be partially dependent on ITOCHU s reputation and its use of the DOLE trademarks and related brands, which could be harmed due to factors outside of our control. If ITOCHU fails to maintain the quality of the products with which it uses the DOLE trademarks consistent with our historical standards, or if ITOCHU s reputation among consumers is harmed for any reason, the goodwill associated with the DOLE trademarks and related brands could be negatively impacted, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our directors and executive officers may have interests in the sale transaction that may be in addition to, or different from, the interests of our stockholders.

Stockholders should be aware that our directors and executive officers have financial interests in the sale transaction that may be in addition to, or different from, the interests of our stockholders generally. These interests include agreements with certain executive officers that provide for severance payments following the termination of employment following a change of control, including the sale transaction, and the acceleration of all outstanding equity awards, except those granted in February 2013, upon the consummation of the sale transaction (i.e., such outstanding equity incentive awards will vest and become fully exercisable or be paid and settled, as applicable). However, Mr. Murdock has waived any right to severance compensation in connection with the sale transaction. The board of directors was aware of and considered these potential interests, among other matters, in evaluating and approving the sale transaction and acquisition agreement and in recommending the transaction to our stockholders.

There can be no assurances we will be successful in refinancing a part of our existing indebtedness.

We will use substantially all the proceeds from the sale transaction and our new capital structure to repay our existing indebtedness and to provide funding for transaction-related taxes, costs and expenses. Approximately \$1.632 billion is expected to be used to repay \$155 million of our 2013 Debentures, \$174.9 million of our 2014 Notes, \$315 million of our 2016 Notes, and all amounts outstanding under our term loan facilities and our revolving credit facility. Assuming these payments are made, our 2013 Debentures, 2014 Notes, 2016 Notes and our term loan and revolving credit facilities will be paid in full and will be cancelled, as applicable. We will need to put in place a new capital structure, including entering into a new term loan and revolving credit facility, at the time of the consummation of the sale transaction, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to enter into the new capital structure as we currently anticipate, or that any new financing will be available to us on equal or better terms than those of our current term loan and revolving credit facility. Any new financing may be subject to higher interest rates, may include less favorable terms or may require us to agree to additional or more severe restrictions on our business activities as compared to those of our current indebtedness.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None

26

Item 2. Properties

The following is a description of our significant properties both before and after the consummation of the sale transaction.

North America

We own our executive office facility in Westlake Village, California, and lease a divisional office in Monterey, California.

Our Hawaii operations are located on the island of Oahu and total approximately 25,000 acres, which we own. Of the total acres owned, we farm pineapples on 2,700 acres and coffee and cacao on an additional 195 acres. The remaining acres are leased or are in pastures and forest reserves. As of December 29, 2012, approximately 2,050 acres and 14,200 acres were classified as assets held-for-sale and actively marketed land, respectively. In light of the current competitive fresh produce market conditions, we have assessed our ongoing capital requirements and possible near-term funding resources for the ongoing operations, and are actively marketing the approximately 20,600 acres of land that we are not currently farming. We are seeking to sell as much of this land as we possibly can each year, expecting that it may take a few years to sell such a large quantity of farm and other land holdings. Targeted proceeds are in the \$175 \$200 million range, which would exceed current book value.

We own approximately 200 acres of farmland in California, 300 acres in Florida, 200 acres in Georgia and 75 acres in North Carolina in connection with our vegetable and berry operations. Additionally, we lease approximately 12,200 acres of farmland in California, 3,000 acres in Arizona and 500 acres in Mexico. The majority of this acreage is farmed under joint growing arrangements with independent growers, while we farm the remainder. We own cooling, packing and shipping facilities in Marina, Gonzales and Huron, California. Additionally, we have partnership interests in facilities in Yuma, Arizona and Salinas, California, and leases in facilities in the following California cities: Oxnard, Monterey and Watsonville. We own and operate state-of-the-art, packaged salad and vegetable plants in Yuma, Arizona, Soledad, California, Springfield, Ohio and Bessemer City, North Carolina. We own and operate berry packing facilities in Plant City and Winter Haven, Florida, Homerville and Baxley, Georgia, Lawndale, North Carolina and lease berry packing facilities in Hawthorne and Zolfo Springs, Florida, and Jalisco, Mexico.

In connection with our Packaged Foods operations, which are being sold as part of the sale transaction, we own approximately 2,600 acres of peach orchards in California of which we farm 1,050 acres, and own and operate a plant in Atwater, California that produces individually quick frozen fruit, and lease a production facility located in Decatur, Michigan.

The packaged foods acres and facilities in North America will be sold as part of the sale transaction, the Hawaii land and vegetable and berry properties will remain with Dole following the sale transaction.

Latin America

We own offices in San Jose, Costa Rica, and La Ceiba, Honduras. We also lease offices in Chile, Costa Rica, Ecuador and Guatemala.

We produce bananas directly from owned plantations in Costa Rica, Ecuador and Honduras as well as through associated producers or independent growing arrangements in those countries and others, including Guatemala and Colombia. We own approximately 21,800 acres in Costa Rica, 3,800 acres in Ecuador and 25,700 acres in Honduras, all related to banana production, although some of the acreage is not presently under production.

We own approximately 8,200 acres in Honduras, 7,300 acres in Costa Rica and 3,000 acres in Ecuador, all related to pineapple production, although some of the acreage is not presently under production. We also own a juice concentrate plant in Honduras for pineapple. Pineapple is grown primarily for the fresh produce market.

We grow grapes, kiwi, apples and pears on approximately 600 acres leased by us in Chile. Dole sources most of its grapes, stone fruit, kiwi, apples and pears from independent growers in Chile, Peru and Argentina. We own or operate 10 packing and cold storage facilities in Chile, and one in Argentina. In addition, we operate a fresh-cut salad plant and a small local fruit distribution company in Chile, and own a minority share in a fruit distribution company in Argentina.

We indirectly own 35% of Bananapuerto, an Ecuadorian port, and operate the port pursuant to a port services agreement signed in 2002, the term of which is up to 30 years.

At year end, Dole Latin America operated a fleet of six refrigerated container ships, of which four are owned and two are under long-term capital leases. In addition, Dole Latin America operated a fleet of 12 breakbulk refrigerated ships, of which seven are owned and five are chartered. Four of the chartered vessels are under a charter arrangement which will terminate at the end of 2013, and have been subleased to a third party for fiscal 2013. Additionally, following the sale transaction, we will enter into a ship usage agreement for three of our owned ships with ITOCHU. We also cover part of our requirements under contracts with existing liner services and occasionally charter vessels for short periods on a time or voyage basis as and when required. We lease or own approximately 12,500 refrigerated containers, 800 dry containers, 5,400 chassis and 4,200 generator sets worldwide. Following the sale transaction, our Latin American properties will be unchanged.

Europe

We lease our European headquarters in Hamburg, Germany, as well as our major regional offices in Milan, Italy, and Cape Town, South Africa. In addition, we own regional offices in Helsingborg, Sweden.

We own and operate one banana ripening and produce distribution center in Sweden, two in Germany, one in Turkey and one in Italy. We also operate and lease two banana ripening, produce and flower distribution centers in Sweden, two in Italy, two in Austria and two in Germany, and we own two other distribution facilities in Germany that we lease to an unrelated party. We have a minority interest in a French company, Compagnie Financière de Participations (CF), the leading African provider of bananas and pineapples from plantations in Cameroon, Ghana and the Ivory Coast. During the fourth quarter of 2011, CF acquired our Dole Spain subsidiary, which operated banana ripening and distribution facilities in Spain and Portugal. During the fourth quarter of 2008, CF acquired our JP Fresh and Dole France subsidiaries, which operate banana ripening and distribution facilities in the United Kingdom and France, respectively.

In addition, our subsidiary, Saba Fresh Cuts AB, owns and operates state-of-the-art, packaged salad and vegetable plants in Helsingborg, Sweden and Helsinki, Finland.

Following the sale transaction, these European properties will be unchanged.

Asia

Following the sale transaction, we will no longer own, lease or operate any of the following properties.

We operate a pineapple plantation of approximately 36,800 leased acres in the Philippines. Approximately 18,900 acres of the plantation are leased to us by a cooperative of our employees that acquired the land pursuant to agrarian reform law. The remaining 17,900 acres are leased from individual land owners. Two multi-fruit canneries, a blast freezer, cold storage, a juice concentrate plant, a box forming plant, a can and drum manufacturing plant, warehouses, wharf and a fresh fruit packing plant, each owned by us, are located at or near the pineapple plantation.

We own and operate a tropical fruit cannery and a multi-fruit processing factory in central Thailand and a second tropical fruit cannery in southern Thailand. Dole also grows pineapple in Thailand on approximately 3,700 acres of owned land, not all of which are currently under cultivation.

We produce bananas and papaya from 30,400 acres of leased land in the Philippines and also source these products through associated producers or independent growing arrangements in the Philippines. A plastic extruding plant and a box forming plant, both owned by us, are located near the banana plantations. We also operate banana ripening and distribution centers in Hong Kong, South Korea, Taiwan, China, the Philippines and New Zealand.

Bananas are also grown on 200 acres of owned and 700 acres of leased land in Australia.

Additionally, we source products from approximately 1,350 Japanese farmers through independent growing arrangements.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Dole is involved from time to time in claims and legal actions incidental to its operations, both as plaintiff and defendant. Dole has established what management currently believes to be adequate reserves for pending legal matters. These reserves are established as part of an ongoing worldwide assessment of claims and legal actions that takes into consideration such items as changes in the pending case load (including resolved and new matters), opinions of legal counsel, individual developments in court proceedings, changes in the law, changes in business focus, changes in the litigation environment, changes in opponent strategy and tactics, new developments as a result of ongoing discovery, and past experience in defending and settling similar claims. In the opinion of management, after consultation with outside counsel, the claims or actions to which Dole is a party are not expected to have a material adverse effect, individually or in the aggregate, on Dole s financial position or results of operations.

DBCP Cases: A significant portion of Dole s legal exposure relates to lawsuits pending in the United States and in several foreign countries, alleging injury as a result of exposure to the agricultural chemical DBCP (1,2-dibromo-3-chloropropane). DBCP was manufactured by several chemical companies including entities of The Dow Chemical Company and Royal Dutch Shell plc and registered by the U.S. government for use on food crops. Dole and other growers applied DBCP on banana farms in Latin America and the Philippines and on pineapple farms in Hawaii. Specific periods of use varied among the different locations. Dole halted all purchases of DBCP, including for use in foreign countries, when the U.S. EPA cancelled the registration of DBCP for use in the United States in 1979. That cancellation was based in part on a 1977 study by a manufacturer which indicated an apparent link between male sterility and exposure to DBCP among factory workers producing the product, as well as early product testing done by the manufacturers showing testicular effects on animals exposed to DBCP. To date, there is no reliable evidence demonstrating that field application of DBCP led to sterility among farm workers, although that claim is made in the pending lawsuits. Nor is there any reliable scientific evidence that DBCP causes any other injuries in humans, although plaintiffs in the various actions assert claims based on cancer, birth defects and other general illnesses.

Currently there are 194 lawsuits, in various stages of proceedings, alleging injury as a result of exposure to DBCP or seeking enforcement of Nicaragua judgments. In addition, there are 77 labor cases pending in Costa Rica under that country s national insurance program.

Of the 194 lawsuits, 16 are currently pending in various jurisdictions in the United States. One case in Los Angeles Superior Court, the last remaining lawsuit brought in the United States by Nicaraguan plaintiffs, was dismissed after the Court found that the plaintiffs and their representatives engaged in blatant fraud, witness tampering and active manipulation. On March 11, 2011, the Court issued a final Statement of Decision, followed on March 31, 2011 by a Judgment, that vacates the prior judgment and dismisses all plaintiffs claims with prejudice. Plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal of that judgment on May 6, 2011, and briefing is expected to be completed in the second quarter of 2013. The remaining lawsuits are pending in Latin America and the Philippines. Claimed damages in DBCP cases worldwide total approximately \$36 billion, with lawsuits in Nicaragua representing approximately 85% of this amount. Typically in these cases, Dole is a joint defendant

Table of Contents

with the major DBCP manufacturers. Except as described below, none of these lawsuits has resulted in a verdict or judgment against Dole.

In Nicaragua, 163 cases are currently filed (of which 13 are active) in various courts throughout the country, all but three of which were brought pursuant to Law 364 (including one new case that was served on November 21, 2011), an October 2000 Nicaraguan statute that contains substantive and procedural provisions that Nicaragua s Attorney General formally opined are unconstitutional. In October 2003, the Supreme Court of Nicaragua issued an advisory opinion, not connected with any litigation, that Law 364 is constitutional. Twenty-five cases have resulted in judgments in Nicaragua: \$489.4 million (nine cases consolidated with 465 claimants) on December 11, 2002; \$82.9 million (one case with 58 claimants) on February 25, 2004; \$15.7 million (one case with 20 claimants) on May 25, 2004; \$4 million (one case with four claimants) on May 25, 2004; \$56.5 million (one case with 72 claimants) on June 14, 2004; \$64.8 million (one case with 85 claimants) on June 15, 2004; \$27.7 million (one case with 36 claimants) on March 17, 2005; \$46.4 million (one case with 62 claimants) on August 20, 2005; \$38.4 million (one case with 192 claimants) on November 14, 2007; and \$357.7 million (eight cases with 417 claimants) on January 12, 2009, which Dole learned of unofficially. Except for the latest one, Dole has appealed all judgments. Dole will appeal the \$357.7 million judgment once it has been served.

In all but one of the active cases where the proceeding has reached the appropriate stage, Dole has sought to have the cases returned to the United States. In all of the cases where Dole s request to return the case to the United States has been ruled upon, the courts have denied Dole s request and Dole has appealed those decisions.

Dole believes that none of the Nicaraguan judgments will be enforceable against any Dole entity in the U.S. or in any other country, because Nicaragua s Law 364 is unconstitutional and violates international principles of due process. Among other things, Law 364 is an improper special law directed at particular parties; it requires defendants to pay large, non-refundable deposits in order to even participate in the litigation; it provides a severely truncated procedural process; it establishes an irrebuttable presumption of causation that is contrary to the evidence and scientific data; and it sets unreasonable minimum damages that must be awarded in every case.

On October 23, 2006, Dole announced that its subsidiary, Standard Fruit de Honduras, S.A., reached an agreement with the Government of Honduras and representatives of Honduran banana workers. This agreement establishes a Worker Program that is intended by the parties to resolve in a fair and equitable manner the claims of male banana workers alleging sterility as a result of exposure to DBCP. The Honduran Worker Program will not have a material effect on Dole s financial position or results of operations. The official start of the Honduran Worker Program was announced on January 8, 2007. On August 15, 2007, Shell Oil Company was included in the Worker Program.

As to all the DBCP matters, Dole has denied liability and asserted substantial defenses. Dole believes there is no reliable scientific basis for alleged injuries from the agricultural field application of DBCP. Nevertheless, Dole is looking to resolve all DBCP litigation and claims once and for all. Although no assurance can be given concerning the outcome of the DBCP cases, in the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel and based on past experience defending and settling DBCP claims, neither the pending lawsuits and claims nor their resolution are expected to have a material adverse effect on Dole s financial position or results of operations.

European Union Antitrust Inquiry: On October 15, 2008, the European Commission (EC) adopted a Decision against Dole Food Company, Inc. and Dole Fresh Fruit Europe OHG and against other unrelated banana companies, finding violations of the European competition (antitrust) laws. The Decision imposes 45.6 million in fines on Dole.

The Decision follows a Statement of Objections, issued by the EC on July 25, 2007, and searches carried out by the EC in June 2005 at certain banana importers and distributors, including two of Dole s offices.

30

Table of Contents

Dole received the Decision on October 21, 2008 and appealed the Decision to the European General Court in Luxembourg on December 24, 2008. Oral argument on the appeal was held on January 25, 2012. The General Court has given notice that its decision will be issued on March 14, 2013, which Dole believes could result in a possible resolution of this matter.

Dole made an initial \$10 million (7.6 million) provisional payment towards the 45.6 million fine on January 22, 2009. As agreed with the European Commission (DG Budget), Dole provided the required bank guaranty for the remaining balance of the fine plus interest to the EC by the deadline of April 30, 2009. The bank guaranty renews annually during the appeals process (which may take several years) and carries interest of 6.15% (accrued from January 23, 2009). If the European General Court fully agrees with Dole s arguments presented in its appeal, Dole will be entitled to the return of all monies paid, plus interest.

Although no assurances can be given, and although there could be a material adverse effect on Dole s financial position or results of operations, Dole believes that it has not violated the European competition laws.

Honduran Tax Case: In 2005, Dole received a tax assessment from Honduras of approximately \$137 million (including the claimed tax, penalty, and interest through the date of assessment) relating to the disposition of all of Dole s interest in Cervecería Hondureña, S.A in 2001. Dole believes the assessment is without merit and filed an appeal with the Honduran tax authorities, which was denied. As a result of the denial in the administrative process, in order to negate the tax assessment, on August 5, 2005, Dole proceeded to the next stage of the appellate process by filing a lawsuit against the Honduran government in the Honduran Administrative Tax Trial Court. The Honduran government sought dismissal of the lawsuit and attachment of assets, which Dole challenged. The Honduran Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the Honduran intermediate appellate court that a statutory prerequisite to challenging the tax assessment on the merits is the payment of the tax assessment or the filing of a payment plan with the Honduran courts; Dole has challenged the constitutionality of the statute requiring such payment or payment plan. Dole and the Honduran government are discussing the terms and conditions of a final resolution of the pending lawsuits and tax-related matters. Although no assurance can be given concerning the outcome of this case, in the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, the pending lawsuits and tax-related matters are not expected to have a material adverse effect on Dole s financial position or results of operations.

Former Shell Site: Shell Oil Company and Dole were sued in several cases filed in Los Angeles Superior Court, beginning in 2009, alleging property damage and personal injury by persons claiming to be current or former residents in the area of a housing development built in the 1960s by a predecessor of what is now a Dole subsidiary, on land that had been owned and used by Shell as a crude oil storage facility for 40 years prior to the housing development. On April 20, 2011, the Court dismissed the case with prejudice, including all claims against Dole. On August 11, 2011, the Court overturned its dismissal in response to plaintiffs motion for reconsideration and permitted the filing of a second amended complaint by plaintiffs. The defendants filed motions to dismiss plaintiffs second amended complaint, which have been denied, except that Shell s motions were granted to dismiss certain property damage claims and certain claims based on the allegation that Shell had engaged in ultra-hazardous activity. The California Regional Water Quality Control Board is supervising the cleanup on the former Shell site. On March 11, 2011, the Water Board issued a Cleanup and Abatement Order naming Shell as the Discharger and a Responsible Party, and ordering Shell to assess, monitor, and cleanup and abate the effects of contaminants discharged to soil and groundwater at the site. On April 22, 2011, the Water Board sent Dole a letter requiring Dole to supply information concerning ownership, development and activities of the former Shell site, which Dole did on September 15, 2011.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
None.

31

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Dole s common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol DOLE. As of February 28, 2013, there were 77 registered stockholders of Dole s common stock. The following table shows the high and low reported closing price per share of Dole s common stock on the New York Stock Exchange for each quarter during fiscal years 2012 and 2011.

	High	Low
2012		
First quarter	\$ 11.13	\$ 8.05
Second quarter	10.23	8.35
Third quarter	14.35	8.45
Fourth quarter	13.13	10.70
2011		
First quarter	\$ 14.87	\$ 13.06
Second quarter	14.26	12.57
Third quarter	14.50	9.37
Fourth quarter	10.94	8.05

Additional information required by Item 5 is contained in Note 20 Shareholders Equity, to Dole s Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K.

Performance Graph

The graph below matches the cumulative total return of holders of Dole Food Company, Inc. s common stock with the cumulative total returns of the S&P 500 index and the S&P 500 Food Products index. The graph assumes that the value of the investment in Dole s common stock and in each of the indexes (including reinvestment of dividends) was \$100 on October 23, 2009 and tracks it through December 29, 2012 (the end of Dole s fiscal year).

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return

ASSUMES \$100 INVESTED ON OCT. 23, 2009

ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED

FISCAL YEAR ENDING Dec. 29, 2012

	10/23/2009	1/02/2010	1/01/2011	12/31/2011	12/29/2012
Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ 100.00	\$ 101.06	\$ 110.02	\$ 70.44	\$93.40
S&P 500 Index	\$ 100.00	\$ 103.73	\$ 119.35	\$ 121.87	\$ 141.37
S&P 500 Food Products Index	\$ 100.00	\$ 104.93	\$ 119.83	\$ 137.99	\$ 150.76

The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

	Year Ended December 29, 2012	E Decei	Year nded nber 31, 2011	Ja	Year Ended nuary 1, 2011 except per s	Ja	Year Ended nuary 2, 2010	I Jai	Year Ended nuary 3, 2009
Summary of Operations			(111 111)	11110113,	except per s	nai e ua	ia)		
Revenues, net ⁽¹⁾⁽⁶⁾	\$ 4,247	\$	4,778	\$	4,687	\$	4,696	\$	5,482
Operating income ⁽⁷⁾	17	Ψ	101	Ψ.	80	Ψ.	186	Ψ.	164
Income from continuing operations, net of income	1,		101				100		10.
taxes	1		102		78		121		227
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income									
taxes	(150)		(60)		(111)		(34)		(107)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of	()		()				(-)		()
income taxes	7				3		1		3
Net income (loss)	(142)		42		(30)		88		123
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling	· · ·				, ,				
interests	(3)		(4)		(4)		(4)		(2)
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of									
Dole Food Company, Inc.	(145)		38		(34)		84		121
Average common shares outstanding Basic and									
Diluted ⁽³⁾	88		88		87		59		52
Per Share Data ⁽³⁾									
Income from continuing operations excluding net									
income attributable to noncontrolling interests									
Basic	\$ 0.00	\$	1.15	\$	0.88	\$	2.05	\$	4.39
Income from continuing operations excluding net									
income attributable to noncontrolling interests									
Diluted	\$ 0.00	\$	1.14	\$	0.88	\$	2.05	\$	4.39
Balance Sheet and Other Information									
Working capital (current assets less current									
liabilities)	\$ 1,265	\$	729	\$	695	\$	777	\$	531
Total assets ⁽⁴⁾	4,230		4,271		4,257		4,107		4,365
Long-term debt, net ⁽⁵⁾	1,513		1,641		1,564		1,553		1,799
Total debt, net ⁽⁵⁾	1,694		1,680		1,604		1,598		2,204
Total equity ⁽³⁾	713		818		817		866		433
Cash dividends declared and paid to parent							15		
Proceeds from sales of assets and businesses, net	43		42		46		185(2)		226
Capital additions from continuing operations	60		37		47		30		44
Depreciation and amortization from continuing					7.6		0.0		0.6
operations	66		64		76		80		96

Note: Discontinued operations for the periods presented relate to the reclassification of Dole s worldwide packaged foods and Asia fresh produce businesses (collectively, Dole Asia) during 2012 and the fresh-cut flowers operations during 2008 to discontinued operations.

⁽¹⁾ During the fourth quarter of 2008, Dole completed the sale of its JP Fresh and Dole France ripening and distribution subsidiaries. These businesses generated revenues of \$382 million during 2008.

⁽²⁾ Included in the 2009 proceeds from sales of assets and businesses, net was \$26 million of long-term debt which was assumed by the buyer of Dole s fresh-cut flowers business.

(3) During the fourth quarter of 2009, Dole completed a \$446 million initial public offering of 35.7 million common shares. Dole received net proceeds of \$415 million, reflecting \$31 million of underwriting discount and offering expenses, and used the net proceeds to pay down indebtedness. Immediately prior to the

34

Table of Contents

closing of the initial public offering, Dole completed certain restructuring transactions. Fiscal years 2008 through 2009 basic weighted average common shares outstanding reflect the effect of the 51,710:1 share conversion related to the restructuring transactions. Income from continuing operations excludes the net income attributable to noncontrolling interests.

- (4) Includes assets-held-for sale, including \$1.9 billion of assets-held-for-sale in the sale transaction at December 29, 2012.
- (5) Includes debt that will be extinguished at the time of closing of the sale transaction, totaling \$1.6 billion at December 29, 2012.
- (6) During the first quarter of 2012, Dole completed the sale of a non-core German ripening and distribution subsidiary. The business generated revenues of \$115 million, \$548 million, \$559 million, \$527 million and \$635 million during fiscal years 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
- (7) Included in 2012 operating income are costs of \$48.4 million related to the sale transaction.

35

Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Management s Discussion and Analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements, which are based on management s assumptions and describe Dole s future plans, strategies and expectations, are generally identifiable by the use of terms such as anticipate, will, expect, believe, should or similar expressions. The potential risks and uncertainties that could cause Dole s actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied herein are set forth in Item 1A and Item 7A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2012 and include: weather-related phenomena; market responses to industry volume pressures; product and raw material supplies and pricing; changes in interest and currency exchange rates; economic crises; quotas, tariffs and other governmental actions and international conflict.

Overview

Significant highlights for Dole Food Company, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (Dole or the Company) for the year ended December 29, 2012 were as follows:

On September 17, 2012, Dole signed a definitive agreement (the Agreement) with ITOCHU Corporation (ITOCHU) for the sale of Dole s worldwide packaged foods and Asia fresh produce businesses (collectively, Dole Asia) for \$1.685 billion in cash (sale transaction). Dole and ITOCHU have extended the term of the Agreement and the sale transaction is expected to close on April 1, 2013. On February 22, 2013, ITOCHU paid Dole a non-refundable cash deposit of \$200 million to be applied towards the purchase price, which Dole has used to temporarily repay revolver borrowings, pay certain sale transaction related expenses and for general corporate purposes. The parties agreed that, with limited exceptions, the deposit would be forfeited and retained by Dole if the closing does not occur by April 1, 2013. Additional consideration of \$29 million may be received if the acquirer chooses to exercise its option not to assume certain U.S. pension liabilities of Dole Asia. Dole will use substantially all of the proceeds from the transaction and our new, post-sale-transaction capital structure to pay down our existing indebtedness and to provide funding for transaction-related taxes, costs and expenses, extinguishment of our long-term Japanese yen hedges, the anticipated right-sizing of Dole and other post-closing restructuring expenses, and the possible resolution of the previously disclosed Honduran tax case, European Union Antitrust Inquiry and the DBCP cases. On March 8, 2013, Dole entered into an agreement to settle the long-term Japanese yen hedges, for \$25.1 million payable after the close of the sale transaction.

The operations of Dole Asia consist of Dole s Packaged Foods reportable operating segment and Dole s Asia fresh produce business, which is a component of Dole s Fresh Fruit reportable operating segment. The results of operations for Dole Asia have been reclassified to discontinued operations for all periods presented.

In connection with the transaction, Dole will realign and streamline its global operating structure to conform to the specific needs of the remaining fresh produce businesses. Following the consummation of the transaction, Dole will be a commodity produce company with two lines of business—fresh fruit and fresh vegetables—and will remain a leading producer, marketer and distributor of fresh fruit and fresh vegetables. As a result of the sale transaction, Dole—s fresh fruit business line will be smaller than at present, with an approximate 30% reduction in revenue; Dole—s fresh vegetables reportable operating segment will not be impacted by the transaction. Dole will continue to be one of the world—s largest producers of bananas and pineapples, and an industry leader in packaged salads, fresh-packed vegetables and fresh berries. Dole also will maintain its fully-integrated operating platform in the Americas, Europe and Africa, as well as its refrigerated supply chain, which features a dedicated refrigerated containerized fleet, as well as a network of packaging, ripening and distribution centers, to deliver fresh Dole products to market.

Revenues for 2012 were \$4.2 billion, a decrease of 11%. Excluding sales from both the German and Spanish ripening and distribution subsidiaries (European divested businesses), as well as sales from

36

SunnyRidge Farms, which was acquired in the fourth quarter of 2011 (berry acquisition), sales decreased 1%.

Operating income in 2012 was \$16.6 million compared to \$101 million in 2011.

Fresh fruit operating income decreased by \$34 million primarily as a result of lower earnings in Dole s North America banana operations and European ripening and distribution business, partially offset by higher earnings in Europe bananas and North America fresh pineapples. In addition, earnings were impacted by provisions totaling \$26 million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2012 in connection with the possible resolution of certain legal-related matters.

Fresh vegetables operating income decreased by \$6.7 million due to lower pricing of fresh-packed vegetables, partially offset by higher earnings of packaged salads.

Operating income was also impacted by costs of \$48.4 million related to the sale transaction.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The following is a reconciliation of earnings before interest expense, income taxes and discontinued operations (EBIT before discontinued operations) and adjusted earnings before interest expense, income taxes and depreciation and amortization (Adjusted EBITDA) to the most directly comparable U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP) financial measure:

	Year Ended December 29, 2012	Year Ended December 31, 2011 (In thousands)	Year Ended January 1, 2011
Net income (loss)	\$ (141,567)	\$ 41,793	\$ (30,166)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes	150,003	60,324	111,163
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	(7,231)	(339)	(2,957)
Interest expense from continuing operations	12,219	9,628	8,256
Income taxes from continuing operations	10,755	(2,070)	6,000
EBIT before discontinued operations Depreciation and amortization from continuing operations	24,179 65,856	109,336 63,899	92,296 75,903
Net unrealized loss on derivative instruments from continuing operations	1,185	900	746
Foreign currency exchange (gain) loss on vessel obligations	2,387	(125)	(2,677)
Net unrealized loss on foreign denominated instruments from continuing operations	811	1,906	3,237
Share-based compensation from continuing operations	10,781	7,925	5,996
Charges for restructuring and long-term receivables from continuing operations	5,158	16,412	31,459
ITOCHU transaction related costs	48,395		
Gain on asset sales	(12,913)	(4,541)	(3,017)
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 145,839	\$ 195,712	\$ 203,943

EBIT before discontinued operations and Adjusted EBITDA are measures commonly used by financial analysts in evaluating the performance of companies. EBIT before discontinued operations is calculated from net income by adding interest expense and income tax expense, and adding the loss or subtracting the income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated from EBIT before discontinued operations by: (1) adding depreciation and amortization from continuing operations; (2) adding the net unrealized loss or subtracting the net unrealized gain on foreign currency and bunker fuel hedges from continuing operations; (3) adding the foreign currency loss or subtracting the foreign currency gain on the vessel obligations; (4) adding the net unrealized loss or subtracting the net unrealized gain on foreign denominated instruments from continuing operations; (5) adding share-based compensation expense from continuing operations; (6) adding charges for restructuring and long-term receivables from continuing operations; (7) adding ITOCHU transaction related costs; and

(8) subtracting the gain on asset sales from continuing operations. These adjustments have been made because management excludes these amounts when evaluating the performance of Dole.

37

EBIT before discontinued operations and Adjusted EBITDA are not calculated or presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and EBIT before discontinued operations and Adjusted EBITDA are not a substitute for net income attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc., net income, income from continuing operations, cash flows from operating activities or any other measure prescribed by U.S. GAAP. Further, EBIT before discontinued operations and Adjusted EBITDA as used herein are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. However, Dole has included EBIT before discontinued operations and Adjusted EBITDA are useful performance measures for Dole. In addition, EBIT before discontinued operations and Adjusted EBITDA are presented because management believes that these measures are frequently used by securities analysts, investors and others in the evaluation of Dole.

EBIT before discontinued operations and Adjusted EBITDA have limitations as analytical tools and should not be considered in isolation from, or as an alternative to, operating income, cash flow or other combined income or cash flow data prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Because of their limitations, EBIT before discontinued operations and Adjusted EBITDA and the related ratios presented throughout this Item 7 should not be considered as measures of discretionary cash available to invest in business growth or reduce indebtedness. Dole compensates for these limitations by relying primarily on its U.S. GAAP results and using EBIT before discontinued operations and Adjusted EBITDA only supplementally.

Results of Operations

Selected results of operations for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011, and January 1, 2011 were as follows:

	Year Ended December 29, 2012	Year Ended December 31, 2011 (In thousands)	Year Ended January 1, 2011
Revenues, net	\$ 4,246,708	\$ 4,778,424	\$ 4,686,858
Operating income	16,592	101,035	80,130
Other income (expense), net	(3,130)	(380)	(276)
Interest expense	(12,219)	(9,628)	(8,256)
Income taxes	(10,755)	2,070	(6,000)
Earnings from equity method investments	6,063	4,588	6,571
Income from continuing operations, net of income taxes	1,205	101,778	78,040
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes	(150,003)	(60,324)	(111,163)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	7,231	339	2,957
Net income (loss)	(141,567)	41,793	(30,166)
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	(2,896)	(3,434)	(3,958)
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc. Revenues	(144,463)	38,359	(34,124)

For the year ended December 29, 2012, revenues decreased 11% to \$4.2 billion from \$4.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2011. Excluding sales from Dole s European divested businesses of \$539 million for the first three quarters of fiscal 2011, as well as the first three quarters of 2012 sales from the berry acquisition of \$53 million, sales decreased 1%. Fresh fruit sales decreased \$615.9 million from 2011 to 2012. Excluding sales from divested businesses, fresh fruit sales decreased \$77.3 million primarily due to lower pricing in North America bananas as well as unfavorable euro and Swedish krona foreign currency exchange movements in Europe. These factors were partially offset by higher volumes of North America fresh pineapple and improved local pricing in Europe and in Dole s Chilean deciduous fruit business. Fresh vegetables sales increased \$84 million. Excluding sales from the berry acquisition, fresh vegetables sales increased \$31 million. The increase

38

was primarily due to improved pricing for packaged salads and higher sales of fresh berries, partially offset by lower pricing for fresh-packed vegetables. Net unfavorable foreign currency exchange movements in Dole s selling locations resulted in lower revenues of approximately \$82 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, revenues increased 2% to \$4.8 billion from \$4.7 billion for the year ended January 1, 2011. Higher sales were reported in both of Dole s operating segments. Fresh fruit sales increased \$62.5 million primarily due to improved banana pricing in North America and Europe, higher volumes of bananas sold in North America, favorable foreign currency exchange movements in Europe as well as higher sales of Chilean deciduous fruit. These improvements were partially offset by lower volumes of bananas sold in Europe due to the implementation of Dole s 2010 European restructuring plan as well as lower volumes sold in the European ripening and distribution business. Fresh vegetables sales increased \$28.9 million due primarily to higher pricing of packaged salads and revenues associated with the October 2011 berry acquisition. Net favorable foreign currency exchange movements in Dole s selling locations resulted in higher revenues of approximately \$113 million.

Operating Income

For the year ended December 29, 2012, operating income was \$16.6 million compared with \$101 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. Fresh fruit operating income decreased primarily due to lower earnings in Dole s North America banana operations partially offset by higher earnings in Dole Europe s banana operations and North America fresh pineapple operations. In addition, fresh fruit earnings were also impacted by provisions totaling \$26 million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2012 in connection with the possible resolution of certain legal-related matters. Fresh vegetables operating income decreased due to lower pricing in all major fresh-packed vegetable product lines, partially offset by higher earnings of packaged salads. Operating income was also impacted by costs of \$48.4 million related to the sale transaction. If foreign currency exchange rates in Dole s significant foreign operations during the year ended December 29, 2012 had remained unchanged from those experienced during the year ended December 31, 2011, Dole estimates that its operating income would have been higher by approximately \$12 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, operating income increased \$20.9 million or 26% to \$101 million compared with \$80.1 million for the year ended January 1, 2011. Excluding the \$32.5 million gain on the legal settlements recorded in 2010, operating income increased \$53.4 million or 67%. Fresh fruit operating results increased primarily due to higher earnings in Dole s North America and Europe banana operations, European ripening and distribution business and Chilean deciduous fruit business. Banana earnings benefitted from higher local pricing for bananas and lower shipping and distribution costs in Europe. Fresh vegetables operating results increased due primarily to higher earnings in packaged salads partially offset by lower earnings in the fresh-packed vegetables and berries operations. If foreign currency exchange rates in Dole s significant foreign operations during the year ended December 31, 2011 had remained unchanged from those experienced during the year ended January 1, 2011, Dole estimates that its operating income would have been lower by approximately \$4 million.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net was expense of \$3.1 million in 2012 compared to expense of \$0.4 million in 2011. The change was due primarily to unrealized losses of \$2.4 million on Dole s British pound sterling vessel obligation in 2012 compared to unrealized gains of \$0.1 million in 2011.

Other income (expense), net was expense of \$0.4 million in 2011 compared to expense of \$0.3 million in 2010.

As a result of reflecting Dole Asia s operations as discontinued operations, amounts previously recorded in other income (expense), net related to Dole s long-term Japanese yen hedges and cross currency swap as well as charges for premiums paid and the write-off of debt issuance costs and debt discounts in connection with refinancing transactions have been reclassified into discontinued operations for all periods presented.

39

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the year ended December 29, 2012 was \$12.2 million compared to \$9.6 million in 2011. The increase was primarily due to a \$4 million accrual recorded in the fourth quarter of 2012 in connection with the possible resolution of certain legal-related matters.

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2011 was \$9.6 million compared to \$8.3 million in 2010.

As a result of reflecting Dole Asia s operations as discontinued operations, all interest expense associated with Dole s notes and debentures, term loan and revolving credit facilities and interest rate swap has been reclassified into discontinued operations for all periods presented. Refer to Note 4 in the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Income Taxes

Dole recorded income tax expense of \$10.8 million on \$5.9 million of income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity earnings for the year ended December 29, 2012, reflecting a 182.4% effective tax rate for the year. Income tax expense increased \$12.8 million in 2012 compared to 2011 due primarily to a higher level of foreign earnings taxed at U.S. rates in 2012 and the absence of the impact of a state law change that reduced deferred taxes in 2011, partially offset by the reduction in Dole s liability for unrecognized tax benefits in 2012 attributable to the expiration of the statute of limitations concerning certain transfer pricing items. The effective tax rate in 2011 was (2.2%). Dole s effective tax rate varies significantly from period due to the level, mix and seasonality of earnings generated in its various U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. For 2012, Dole s income tax provision differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate applied to Dole s pre-tax income primarily due to a higher level of foreign earnings taxed at U.S rates and the impact of non-deductible compensation arrangements and costs related to the sale transaction.

Income tax expense for fiscal year 2011 decreased by \$8.1 million compared to 2010 due primarily to the impact of a state law change effective for 2011 that reduced the deferred taxes on certain of Dole s intangibles. The effective tax rate in 2010 was 7.7%. For 2011, Dole s income tax provision differed from the U.S. federal statutory rate applied to Dole s pre-tax income primarily due to the impact of a state law change that reduced the tax rate on certain of Dole s intangibles, a reduction of its U.S. federal valuation allowance partially offset by an increase in Dole s liability for unrecognized tax benefits, primarily attributable to potential issues with foreign investment in U.S. property. For 2010, Dole s income tax provision differed from the U.S. federal statutory rate applied to Dole s pretax income primarily due to operations in foreign jurisdictions that are taxed at a rate lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate and the reduction in Dole s liability for unrecognized tax benefits, primarily attributable to the lapse of the statute of limitations relating to a state unrecognized tax benefit.

As of December 29, 2012, Dole has not provided for U.S. federal income and foreign withholding taxes on approximately \$2.2 billion of the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of investments that are essentially permanent in duration. Management believes that such excess at December 29, 2012 will remain indefinitely invested at this time. Of this amount, \$414 million relates to the Dole Asia non-U.S. operations. The repatriation of cash currently held by Dole s foreign subsidiaries at December 29, 2012 would not currently result in a material cash tax payment. In the event cash flow from U.S. operations combined with accumulated previously taxed income is insufficient to fund U.S. cash flow requirements, Dole may be required to provide U.S. federal income tax and foreign withholding taxes on a portion of its anticipated fiscal 2013 foreign earnings. As a result, Dole s overall effective tax rate may increase in fiscal 2013 versus the effective tax rate experienced in previous years.

Dole had state deferred tax assets totaling \$47 million at December 29, 2012 which management believes are recoverable through the realization of income on appreciated non-core assets, including income to be generated from the reversal of the related existing taxable temporary differences upon the sale of such assets and the gain on the impending sale of the U.S. packaged foods assets to ITOCHU.

40

Internal Revenue Service Audit: On September 4, 2012, the IRS completed its examination of Dole s U.S. federal income tax returns for the years 2006-2008 and issued a Revenue Agent s report (RAR) that includes various proposed adjustments, including with respect to whether certain transactions with foreign affiliates or certain third party borrowings by Dole or its foreign affiliates created or are deemed to have created investments in U.S. property. The net tax deficiency associated with the RAR is \$132 million, after net operating loss utilization, plus interest. On November 9, 2012, Dole filed a protest letter challenging the proposed adjustments contained in the RAR and will pursue resolution of these issues with the Appeals Division of the IRS. Dole believes, based in part upon the advice of its tax advisors, that its tax treatment of such transactions was appropriate. Although the timing and ultimate resolution of any issues arising from the IRS examination are highly uncertain, at this time Dole does not anticipate that the total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change within the next twelve months nor does Dole believe that any material tax payments will be made related to these matters within the next twelve months.

Refer to Note 7 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about Dole s income taxes.

Earnings from Equity Method Investments

Earnings from equity method investments for the year ended December 29, 2012 increased to \$6.1 million from \$4.6 million in 2011. The increase was primarily related to higher earnings generated by Compagnie Financière de Participations (CF), a company in which Dole holds a non-controlling 40% ownership interest, and Healthy Foods, LLC (Healthy Foods), a company in which Dole holds a non-controlling 30% ownership interest. Higher earnings generated by CF were due in part to improved pricing and consumer demand in markets in which it sells. Healthy Foods produces the yonanas® frozen treat maker. The increase in Healthy Foods earnings was attributable to a full year of operations.

Earnings from equity method investments for the year ended December 31, 2011 decreased to \$4.6 million from \$6.6 million in 2010. The decrease was primarily related to lower earnings generated by CF. Lower earnings generated by CF were due in part to lower pricing and lower consumer demand in markets in which it sells.

Segment Results of Operations

Due to the reporting of the packaged foods reportable operating segment as discontinued operations, Dole has two reportable operating segments from continuing operations: fresh fruit and fresh vegetables. These reportable segments are managed separately due to differences in geography, products, production processes, distribution channels and customer bases.

The fresh fruit reportable operating segment (fresh fruit) primarily sells bananas, fresh pineapple and deciduous fruit, which are sourced from local growers or Dole-owned or leased farms located in Latin America, with significant selling locations in North America and Western Europe. Dole Asia s fresh produce business formerly was included in the fresh fruit reportable operating segment, but is reported as discontinued operations in this report as a result of the sale transaction.

The fresh vegetables reportable operating segment (fresh vegetables) sells packaged salads and has a line of fresh-packed products that includes iceberg and romaine lettuce, celery, and fresh berries including strawberries and blueberries. Substantially all of the sales for fresh vegetables are generated in North America.

Dole s management evaluates and monitors segment performance primarily through earnings before interest expense and income taxes before discontinued operations (EBIT). EBIT is calculated by adding interest expense and income taxes to income (loss) from continuing operations, net of income taxes. Management believes that segment EBIT provides useful information for analyzing the underlying business results as well as allowing investors a means to evaluate the financial results of each segment in relation to Dole as a whole. EBIT

41

is not defined under U.S. GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net income or cash flow measures prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP or as a measure of Dole s profitability. Additionally, Dole s computation of EBIT may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures computed by other companies, because not all companies calculate EBIT in the same manner.

Revenues from external customers for continuing operations were as follows:

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Revenues from external customers:			
Fresh fruit	\$ 3,141,192	\$ 3,757,048	\$ 3,694,487
Fresh vegetables	1,103,999	1,019,673	990,807
Corporate	1,517	1,703	1,564
	\$ 4,246,708	\$ 4,778,424	\$ 4,686,858

The table above includes intersegment revenues from the Dole Asia business of \$53 million, \$40 million and \$31 million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

EBIT for continuing operations was as follows:

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Fresh fruit EBIT	\$ 103,457	\$ 138,846	\$ 109,931
Fresh vegetables EBIT	24,839	31,355	34,328
Total operating segments EBIT	128,296	170,201	144,259
Corporate:			
Net unrealized loss on foreign denominated instruments	(474)	(1,724)	(3,173)
Share-based compensation	(7,539)	(5,808)	(4,533)
ITOCHU transaction related costs	(48,395)		
Operating expenses, net	(47,709)	(53,333)	(44,257)
Corporate	(104,117)	(60,865)	(51,963)
Interest expense	(12,219)	(9,628)	(8,256)
Income taxes	(10,755)	2,070	(6,000)
Income from continuing operations	1,205	101,778	78,040
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes	(150,003)	(60,324)	(111,163)
Gain from disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	7,231	339	2,957
Net income (loss)	\$ (141,567)	\$ 41,793	\$ (30,166)

2012 Compared with 2011 for Continuing Operations

Fresh Fruit: Fresh fruit revenues for the year ended December 29, 2012 decreased 16% to \$3.1 billion from \$3.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2011. Excluding 2011 sales from the Spanish subsidiary and the last three quarters of 2011 sales from the divested German subsidiary, totaling \$539 million, fresh fruit revenues decreased 2%. Banana sales decreased \$16 million primarily due to lower pricing in North America, partially offset by improved volumes in Europe. Sales in the European ripening and distribution operations decreased primarily as a result of unfavorable euro and Swedish krona foreign currency exchange movements, partially offset by improved local pricing. These factors were partially offset by higher volumes of fresh pineapples sold worldwide and higher local pricing of Chilean deciduous fruit. Net unfavorable foreign currency exchange movements in Dole s foreign selling locations resulted in lower revenues of approximately \$82 million during the

year ended December 29, 2012.

Dole s fresh fruit segment EBIT is impacted by certain items, which are included in the table below:

	2012 (In thou	2011 isands)
Charges for restructuring and long-term receivables	\$ (5,158)	\$ (16,412)
Legal provisions	(26,000)	
Unrealized loss on foreign currency and fuel hedges	(1,185)	(900)
Foreign currency exchange gain (loss) on vessel obligations	(2,387)	125
Net unrealized loss on foreign denominated instruments	(337)	(182)
Share-based compensation	(2,391)	(1,519)
Gain on asset sales	12,913	4,541
Total	\$ (24,545)	\$ (14,347)

Fresh fruit EBIT for the year ended December 29, 2012 decreased 25% to \$103.5 million from \$138.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. Banana EBIT decreased as a result of lower pricing in North America and higher costs of the fruit imported into Europe, partially offset by lower shipping costs in Europe. The decrease in shipping costs was due primarily to Dole s 2011 restructuring initiatives which further reduced vessel charters, improved vessel utilization and made better use of available outside freight offerings. EBIT in the European ripening and distribution business decreased as a result of higher product costs and unfavorable euro currency exchange movements, partially offset by improved pricing, lower selling, marketing and general and administrative expenses and higher equity earnings. Earnings were also impacted by provisions totaling \$26 million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2012 in connection with the possible resolution of certain legal-related matters. Fresh pineapples EBIT increased primarily as a result of lower fruit and shipping costs in North America and Europe, partially offset by lower pricing. Chilean deciduous EBIT was comparable as improved local pricing was offset by higher packing and cooling costs. If foreign currency exchange rates in Dole s significant fresh fruit foreign operations during the year ended December 29, 2012 had remained unchanged from those experienced during the year ended December 31, 2011, Dole estimates that fresh fruit EBIT would have been higher by approximately \$12 million. Fresh fruit EBIT in 2012 included realized foreign currency hedge gains of \$10 million and realized foreign currency transaction losses of \$3 million.

Fresh Vegetables: Fresh vegetables revenues for the year ended December 29, 2012 increased \$84 million to \$1.1 billion. Fresh berries revenues increased as a result of sales resulting from the berry acquisition as well as higher sales of strawberries. Packaged salads revenues increased as a result of improved pricing and a favorable product mix. These improvements were partially offset by lower pricing in fresh-packed vegetables across all major product lines. In addition, the year over year comparison for fresh-packed vegetables was impacted by abnormally strong pricing during the first quarter of 2011 associated with product shortages from challenging weather conditions.

Fresh vegetables EBIT for the year ended December 29, 2012 decreased to \$24.8 million from \$31.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. EBIT decreased as a result of lower earnings in the fresh-packed business due primarily to lower pricing across all major product lines, partially offset by lower growing costs and lower grower s share of revenue. These factors were partially offset by an increase in packaged salads earnings as a result of improved pricing and lower product costs due in part to production efficiencies, partially offset by higher marketing and selling expenses. Fresh berries earnings improved slightly due to earnings from the berry acquisition, partially offset by higher growing costs.

Corporate: Corporate EBIT includes general and administrative costs not allocated to the operating segments. Corporate EBIT in 2012 was a loss of \$104.1 million compared to a loss of \$60.9 million in 2011. Corporate EBIT is impacted by expenses as described in the EBIT table under Segment Results of Operations. Corporate operating expenses decreased \$5.6 million primarily due to lower incentive compensation accruals.

2011 Compared with 2010 for Continuing Operations

Fresh Fruit: Fresh fruit revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased 2% to \$3.8 billion from \$3.7 billion for the year ended January 1, 2011. Banana sales increased \$38 million as a result of improved pricing in North America and Europe and higher volumes sold in North America. Sales in the European ripening and distribution businesses were down slightly as a result of lower volumes sold as well as the impact of the fourth quarter 2011 sale of the Spanish subsidiary. Lower sales in Europe were due in part to lower consumer demand resulting from the bean sprout foodborne-illness outbreak in Northern Europe, which was not associated with any of Dole s products. Sales of Chilean deciduous fruit increased \$47 million primarily due to higher volumes and local pricing. Net favorable foreign currency exchange movements in Dole s foreign selling locations resulted in higher revenues of approximately \$113 million during the year ended December 31, 2011.

Dole s fresh fruit segment EBIT is impacted by certain items, which are included in the table below:

	2011 (In thou	2010 sands)
Charges for restructuring and long-term receivables	\$ (16,412)	\$ (31,459)
Gain on arbitration settlement, net		27,271
Unrealized loss on foreign currency and fuel hedges	(900)	(746)
Foreign currency exchange gain on vessel obligations	125	2,677
Net unrealized loss on foreign denominated instruments	(182)	(64)
Share-based compensation	(1,519)	(1,136)
Gain on asset sales	4,541	3,017
Total	\$ (14,347)	\$ (440)

Fresh fruit EBIT for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased 26% to \$139 million from \$110 million for the year ended January 1, 2011. Banana EBIT increased primarily due to improved pricing in North America and Europe as well as lower shipping and distribution costs in Europe. These benefits were partially offset by higher fruit costs in North America and Europe as well as higher shipping, selling, marketing and general and administrative expenses in North America. Lower shipping costs in Europe were mainly due to Dole s 2010 restructuring initiatives, which reduced vessel charters and inland freight costs. Higher fruit costs were due to higher contract prices from Latin American growers as well as higher commodity costs for containerboard and fertilizers. EBIT in the European ripening and distribution business increased primarily due to lower selling, marketing, and general and administrative expenses. This improvement was partially offset by higher product and shipping costs and lower equity earnings. Chilean deciduous fruit EBIT increased as a result of improved pricing. If foreign currency exchange rates in Dole s significant fresh fruit foreign operations during the year ended December 31, 2011 had remained unchanged from those experienced during the year ended January 1, 2011, Dole estimates that fresh fruit EBIT would have been lower by approximately \$4 million. Fresh fruit EBIT in 2011 included realized foreign currency hedge losses of \$4 million and realized foreign currency transaction gains of \$2 million.

Fresh Vegetables: Fresh vegetables revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased \$28.9 million to \$1 billion. Packaged salads revenues increased as a result of higher pricing, partially offset by lower volumes due to continued efforts to improve customer mix. Revenues in the berries business increased primarily as a result of the October 2011 berry acquisition which contributed revenues of \$9 million. These improvements were partially offset by lower sales in the fresh-packed vegetable business primarily due to lower volumes and pricing of iceberg lettuce and lower volumes of broccoli and cauliflower, partially offset by higher pricing of romaine lettuce.

Fresh vegetables EBIT for the year ended December 31, 2011 decreased to \$31.4 million from \$34.3 million for the year ended January 1, 2011. Excluding the \$5.3 million settlement with a fresh vegetable supplier recorded in the fourth quarter of 2010, EBIT increased \$2.4 million. EBIT in the packaged salads business increased primarily due to improved pricing and lower marketing expenditures, partially offset by higher

packaging and vegetable costs. The increase in vegetable costs was due in part to product shortages as a result of challenging weather conditions in January and February 2011. These improvements were partially offset by lower EBIT in the fresh-packed vegetables business primarily due to higher harvesting and growing costs. The berry acquisition did not have a significant impact to EBIT during 2011.

Corporate: Corporate EBIT includes general and administrative costs not allocated to the operating segments. Corporate EBIT in 2011 was a loss of \$60.9 million compared to a loss of \$52 million in 2010. Corporate EBIT is impacted by expenses as described in the EBIT table under Segment Results of Operations. Corporate operating and other expenses increased \$9 million primarily due to the fact that fiscal 2010 benefited from a decrease in incentive compensation accruals.

Discontinued Operations

During the fourth quarter of 2012, Dole concluded that Dole Asia met the requirements to be presented as assets and liabilities held-for-sale and discontinued operations. Accordingly, the results of operations for Asia Fresh and Packaged Foods have been reclassified to discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Included in discontinued operations are interest expense and debt related costs associated with Dole s debentures, secured notes, revolving credit facility and term loans for all historical periods presented. The interest expense and related costs associated with these debt instruments have been reclassified to discontinued operations because the terms of these instruments require immediate repayment of the outstanding debt balance upon consummation of the pending sale of Dole Asia. In addition, for all historical periods presented, had the sale of Dole Asia been previously consummated, the terms of the then outstanding debentures, secured notes, revolving credit facility and term loans would have been required them to be repaid in their entirety. These costs have been included in the Financing Related Items column in the below table.

During 2006 Dole entered into an interest rate swap to synthetically convert \$320 million of its term loans into Japanese yen denominated debt (cross currency swap). The cross currency swap did not qualify for hedge accounting and was marked to market each accounting period. In addition, during 2006, Dole also entered into an interest rate swap to synthetically convert \$320 million of term loans into fixed-rate debt. During 2011, Dole refinanced its liability under the cross currency swap by entering into a series of Japanese yen forward contracts (long-term Japanese yen hedges), and obtained hedge accounting for these hedges. Due to the fact that the cross currency swap and the interest rate swap were linked to the term loans of Dole, all of the statement of operations activity associated with these instruments has been presented within discontinued operations for all periods presented. In addition, since the long-term Japanese yen hedges were designated to hedge Dole s yen-denominated revenue stream generated from the Dole Asia business, the statement of operations activity associated with the long-term Japanese yen hedges has been presented within discontinued operations for all periods presented. All amounts associated with these instruments have been presented in the Financing Related Items column in the table below.

During the second quarter of 2008, Dole approved and committed to a formal plan to divest its fresh-cut flowers business. During the first quarter of 2009, the operations and the majority of the related assets of this business were sold. During 2010, Dole sold a building and a farm located in Colombia. During 2011, Dole sold a warehouse in Miami and also sold a farm in Colombia. During the fourth quarter of 2012, Dole sold a farm in Colombia. The gains associated with these disposals are recorded in gain on disposal of discontinued operations. Refer to Note 9 in the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

45

The operating results of fresh-cut flowers and Dole Asia for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010 are reported in the following table:

	Dole Asia									
	A	sia Fresh	P	Packaged Foods	Financing Related Items (In thou		Total Dole Asia ls)	esh-Cut lowers		Total
2012										
Revenues	\$ 1	,333,677	\$ 1	1,251,846	\$	\$ 2	2,585,523	\$ 47	\$ 2	2,585,570
Income (loss) before income taxes Income taxes	\$	(77,417) (6,179)	\$	101,290 (41,384)	\$ (98,610) (27,307)	\$	(74,737) (74,870)	\$ (436) 40	\$	(75,173) (74,830)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes	\$	(83,596)	\$	59,906	\$ (125,917)	\$	(149,607)	\$ (396)	\$	(150,003)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	\$		\$		\$	\$		\$ 7,231	\$	7,231
2011										
Revenues	\$ 1	,288,609	\$ 1	1,197,106	\$	\$ 2	2,485,715	\$ 476	\$ 2	2,486,191
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$	30,580	\$	95,945	\$ (178,057)	\$	(51,532)	\$ (129)	\$	(51,661)
Income taxes		(5,148)		(23,659)	20,216		(8,591)	(72)		(8,663)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes	\$	25,432	\$	72,286	\$ (157,841)	\$	(60,123)	\$ (201)	\$	(60,324)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of										
income taxes	\$		\$		\$	\$		\$ 339	\$	339
2010										
Revenues	\$ 1	1,115,389	\$ 1	1,121,417	\$	\$ 2	2,236,806	\$ 1,347	\$ 2	2,238,153
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$	6,038	\$	105,808	\$ (216,243)	\$	(104,397)	\$ 790	\$	(103,607)
Income taxes		(9,515)		(28,784)	30,904		(7,395)	(161)		(7,556)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes	\$	(3,477)	\$	77,024	\$ (185,339)	\$	(111,792)	\$ 629	\$	(111,163)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	\$		\$		\$	\$		\$ 2,957	\$	2,957

2012 Compared with 2011 for Discontinued Operations

Asia Fresh: Asia Fresh revenues for the year ended December 29, 2012 increased 3% to \$1.33 billion from \$1.29 billion for the year ended December 31, 2011. Revenues increased primarily due to higher sales of fresh pineapples, citrus and other fresh fruit. Banana sales were down slightly as lower local pricing and unfavorable Korean won foreign currency exchange movements were partially offset by higher volumes sold primarily in Japan and the Middle East.

Income before income taxes in the Asia Fresh segment for the year ended December 29, 2012 decreased to a loss of \$77.4 million compared to income of \$30.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. The decrease was primarily due to lower local pricing of bananas, higher product costs, higher selling expenses, and unfavorable foreign currency exchange movements in the Philippine Peso, where products are

sourced. In addition, Dole s operations in the Philippines were impacted by approximately \$49 million of costs as a result of Typhoon Bopha. Earnings in Asia were also impacted by disruptions from delays related to China quarantine regulations which contributed to lower pricing and higher costs. If foreign currency exchange rates in Dole s Asia Fresh operations during the year ended December 29, 2012 had remained unchanged from those experienced during the year ended December 31, 2011, Dole estimates that Asia Fresh income before income taxes would have been higher by approximately \$10 million.

46

Packaged Foods: Packaged foods revenues for the year ended December 29, 2012 increased 5% to \$1.25 billion from \$1.2 billion for the year ended December 31, 2011. Revenues increased primarily due to higher sales in the frozen fruit and healthy snacks businesses. Revenues also benefited from higher pricing of FRUIT BOWLS and canned pineapple juice in North America and higher sales in Asia. These improvements were partially offset by lower volumes of packaged fruit products sold in North America and lower pricing in Europe.

Income before taxes in the packaged foods segment for the year ended December 29, 2012 increased to \$101.3 million from \$95.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase was due primarily to improved pricing for FRUIT BOWLS, canned pineapple juice and frozen fruit in North America and lower general and administrative expenses in North America as well as lower selling and marketing expenses in Asia. These improvements were partially offset by higher worldwide purchased fruit and tinplate costs experienced during the first half of 2012 and higher marketing expenditures associated with the introduction of new frozen fruit products.

Income tax expense increased by \$66 million from fiscal 2011 to fiscal 2012 due to an accrual of \$65 million recorded in discontinued operations for the potential future repatriation of \$185 million from the sale of the Dole Asia non-U.S. operations.

2011 Compared with 2010 for Discontinued Operations

Asia Fresh: Asia Fresh revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased 16% to \$1.3 billion from \$1.1 billion for the year ended January 1, 2011. Banana sales increased \$112 million as a result of improved pricing and higher volumes sold. Banana sales also benefited from favorable Japanese yen foreign currency exchange movements. Revenues also increased \$61 million due to higher local pricing and volumes of other fresh fruit and higher local pricing of fresh pineapples and fresh vegetables. Net favorable foreign currency exchange movements in Asia Fresh resulted in higher revenues of approximately \$77 million during the year ended December 31, 2011.

Income before income taxes in the Asia Fresh segment for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased to \$30.6 million from \$6 million for the year ended January 1, 2011. Banana earnings increased primarily due to improved local pricing and favorable Japanese yen foreign currency exchange movements, partially offset by higher fruit costs and higher shipping, selling, marketing and general and administrative expenses. If foreign currency exchange rates in Dole s Asia Fresh operations during the year ended December 31, 2011 had remained unchanged from those experienced during the year ended January 1, 2011, Dole estimates that Asia Fresh income before income taxes would have been lower by approximately \$26 million.

Packaged Foods: Packaged foods revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased 7% to \$1.2 billion from \$1.12 billion for the year ended January 1, 2011. Revenues increased in all major product lines primarily due to improved pricing worldwide as well as higher volumes of packaged fruit products sold in Asia, and the North America frozen fruit business. Higher volumes of frozen fruit products were due in part to two new products launched in the third quarter of 2011, Dole fruit smoothie SHAKERS and Dole frozen fruit single-serve cups. These improvements were partially offset by lower volumes of packaged fruit products sold in North America. Net favorable foreign currency exchange movements in Dole s foreign selling locations resulted in higher revenues of approximately \$8 million during the year ended December 31, 2011.

Income before taxes in the packaged foods segment for the year ended December 31, 2011 decreased to \$95.9 million from \$105.8 million for the year ended January 1, 2011. The decrease was due primarily to higher product, marketing, selling, and general and administrative costs worldwide, partially offset by higher pricing worldwide. The increase in product costs resulted from higher purchased fruit costs and unfavorable foreign currency exchange movements in Thailand and the Philippines, where product is sourced. Higher marketing expenditures were due to the 2011 product launches in North America. If foreign currency exchange rates in Dole s packaged foods foreign operations during the year ended December 31, 2011 had remained unchanged from those experienced during the year ended January 1, 2011, Dole estimates that packaged foods income before taxes would have been higher by approximately \$14 million.

47

Liquidity and Capital Resources

CASH REQUIREMENTS:

The following table summarizes Dole s contractual obligations and commitments at December 29, 2012:

	Less Than				
	1 Year	1-2 Years	3-4 Years (In thousands)	After 4 Years	Total
Contractual obligations related to continuing operations:					
Fixed rate debt	157,413	175,372	315,468	703	648,956
Variable rate debt	8,787	17,574	136,774	823,767	986,902
Notes payable	19,762				19,762
Capital lease obligations	3,005	6,391	7,066	38,553	55,015
Non-cancelable operating lease commitments	75,817	83,204	30,976	32,343	222,340
Purchase obligations	759,007	429,710	28,775	13,803	1,231,295
Long-term Japanese yen hedges	34,523	35,593			70,116
Minimum required pension funding	22,388	41,605	36,419	72,850	173,262
Postretirement benefit payments	3,836	7,383	6,975	15,098	33,292
Interest payments on fixed and variable rate debt	105,789	152,501	109,852	26,777	394,919
Contractual obligations related to discontinued operations:					
Notes payable	42,927				42,927
Capital lease obligations	622	1,749	1,158	946	4,475
Non-cancelable operating lease commitments	13,674	20,854	17,843	42,838	95,209
Purchase obligations	61,722	32,448	22,282	12,869	129,321
Minimum required pension funding	5,363	13,840	12,919	26,151	58,273
Postretirement benefit payments	61	126	133	354	674
Interest payments on fixed and variable rate debt	165	232	148	144	689
Total contractual each obligations	1 214 961	1 010 502	726 788	1 107 106	4 167 427
Total contractual cash obligations	1,314,861	1,018,582	726,788	1,107,196	4,167,427

Short-Term Borrowings: Dole s short term debt borrowings consist primarily of notes payables to finance current operations. The terms of these borrowings range from one month to three months. Dole s notes payable at December 29, 2012 consist primarily of foreign borrowings in Asia and Latin America. Dole will cease foreign borrowings in Asia following the consummation of the sale transaction. The notes payable balance did not fluctuate significantly during the fiscal year. The weighted average interest rate on notes payable was 1.3% at December 29, 2012.

Long-Term Debt: Details of amounts included in long-term debt can be found in Note 12 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. The table assumes that long-term debt is held to maturity. The variable rate maturities include amounts payable under Dole s senior secured credit facilities.

Concurrent with the consumation of the sales transaction, the unsecured debt and secured debt included above in contractual obligations related to continuing operations will be repaid, defeased or discharged in full.

Capital Lease Obligations: Dole s capital lease obligations include \$54 million related to two vessel leases. The obligations under these leases, which continue through 2026, are denominated in British pound sterling. The lease obligations are presented in U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect on December 29, 2012 and therefore will continue to fluctuate based on changes in the exchange rate.

Operating Lease Commitments: Dole has obligations under cancelable and non-cancelable operating leases, primarily for land, machinery and equipment, vessels and containers and office and warehouse facilities. The leased assets are used in Dole s operations where leasing offers advantages of operating flexibility and is less expensive than alternate types of funding. A significant portion of Dole s operating lease payments are fixed. Lease payments are charged to operations, primarily through cost of products sold.

Total rental expense, including rent related to cancelable and non-cancelable leases were as follows:

	December 29, 2012	cember 31, 2011 thousands)	January 1, 2011
Continuing Operations:			
Rental expense, gross	\$ 118,536	\$ 133,158	\$ 156,908
Sublease income	(23,306)	(17,336)	(16,154)
	\$ 95,230	\$ 115,822	\$ 140,754
Discontinued Operations:			
Rental expense, gross	51,125	50,392	45,297
Sublease income	(152)	(83)	(157)
	\$ 50,973	\$ 50,309	\$ 45,140

Dole and Castle and Cooke, Inc. are parties to a corporate aircraft lease agreement in which the parties are responsible for 68% and 32%, respectively, of all obligations. The corporate aircraft lease agreement includes a residual value guarantee of up to \$7 million of which Dole s share is \$4.8 million at the termination of the lease in 2018. Dole does not currently anticipate any future payments related to this residual value guarantee.

Purchase Obligations: In order to secure sufficient product to meet demand and to supplement Dole s own production, Dole enters into non-cancelable agreements with independent growers, primarily in Latin America and North America, to purchase substantially all of their production subject to market demand and product quality. Prices under these agreements are generally tied to prevailing market rates and contract terms range from one to ten years. Total purchases under these agreements were \$708.1 million, \$667.6 million and \$637.3 million for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Of these total purchases, \$132.8 million, \$117.2 million and \$91.4 million were related to discontinued operations for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

In order to ensure a steady supply of packing supplies and to maximize volume incentive rebates, Dole enters into contracts for the purchase of packing supplies; some of these contracts run through 2013. Prices under these agreements are generally tied to prevailing market rates. Purchases under these contracts for 2012, 2011 and 2010 were approximately \$209 million, \$199 million and \$190.4 million, respectively. Of these total contracts, \$44.9 million, \$46.7 million and \$32.9 million were related to discontinued operations for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

Interest Payments on Fixed and Variable Rate Debt: Commitments for interest expense on debt, including capital lease obligations, were determined based on anticipated annual average debt balances, after factoring in mandatory debt repayments. Interest expense on variable-rate debt has been based on the prevailing interest rates at December 29, 2012. No interest payments were calculated on the notes payable due to the short term nature of these instruments. The secured notes and the debentures as well as the secured term loans and revolving credit facility mature by their terms at various times between 2013 and 2017, but all will be repaid, defeased or discharged at the time of the closing of the sale transaction. See Page 52 Transactions Affecting Liquidity and Capital Resources.

Long-term Japanese Yen Hedges: Details regarding Dole s long-term Japanese yen hedges can be found in Note 18 of the consolidated financial statements. Upon entering into the long-term Japanese yen hedges, Dole designated the long-term Japanese yen forward contracts as cash flow hedges of its forecasted Japanese yen

revenue stream. Due to the fact that there is a significant financing element present at the inception of the long-term Japanese yen hedges, the cash inflows or outflows associated with settlement of these contracts are included within the financing activities in Dole s consolidated statement of cash flows. While the long-term Japanese yen hedges were designated as cash flow hedges, a portion of the long-term Japanese yen hedges were deemed ineffective. With respect to this portion, changes in the fair value of the hedges were recorded in other income (expense), net because the ineffectiveness was considered to be caused by the financing element of this instrument. As a result of the reclassification of Dole Asia s results of operations into discontinued operations, amounts previously recorded to other income (expense), net for the long-term Japanese yen hedges for all periods are recorded in discontinued operations.

As a result of the sale transaction, it was no longer considered to be probable that the forecasted Japanese yen revenue streams in 2013 and 2014 would occur. Accordingly, Dole de-designated these contracts as cash flow hedges on that date. Changes in the fair value of these hedges subsequent to September 17, 2012, were recorded to discontinued operations, net in the consolidated statement of operations. During the fourth quarter of 2012, management determined that it was no longer reasonably possible that the forecasted Japanese yen revenue streams would occur; the amounts remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the long-term Japanese yen forward contracts were reclassified and recorded in discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations.

On March 8, 2013, Dole entered into an agreement to settle the long-term Japanese yen hedges, for \$25.1 million payable after the close of the sale transaction.

Other Obligations and Commitments: Dole has obligations with respect to its pension and other postretirement benefit (OPRB) plans. During 2012, Dole contributed \$16.5 million to its qualified U.S. pension plan. These contributions were made to comply with minimum funding requirements under the Internal Revenue Code as amended by the Pension Protection Act of 2006. Dole expects to contribute \$13.3 million to its U.S. qualified plan during 2013. Dole also has nonqualified U.S. and international pension and OPRB plans. During 2012, Dole made payments of \$20.1 million related to these pension and OPRB plans. Dole expects to make payments of \$18.3 million related to its other U.S. and foreign pension and OPRB plans in 2013. The table includes pension and other postretirement payments through 2020. See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Dole has numerous collective bargaining agreements with various unions covering approximately 45% of Dole s continuing operations hourly full-time and seasonal employees. Of these unionized employees, 57% are covered under collective bargaining agreements that will expire within one year and the remaining 43% are covered under collective bargaining agreements expiring beyond the upcoming year. Dole Asia has collective bargaining agreements with various unions that cover approximately 29% of employees, of which 92% are covered under collective bargaining agreements that expire within one year, and 8% that expire beyond the upcoming year. These agreements are subject to periodic negotiation and renewal. Failure to renew any of these collective bargaining agreements may result in a strike or work stoppage; however management does not expect that the outcome of these negotiations and renewals will have a material adverse impact on Dole s financial condition or results of operations.

Dole had approximately \$92 million of total unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and penalties at December 29, 2012. At this time, Dole believes that it is reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits could decrease in 2013 by cash payments of approximately \$20 million relating to non-U.S. audit settlements.

50

SOURCES AND USES OF CASH:

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Cash flow provided by (used in):			
Operating activities	\$ 45,278	\$ 5,125	\$ 147,639
Investing activities	(75,581)	(82,735)	(69,917)
Financing activities	(534)	29,490	(29,371)
Foreign currency impact	68	321	2,126
Increase (decrease) in cash	\$ (30,769)	\$ (47,799)	\$ 50,477

Overview

The following discussion provides information for Dole including both continuing and discontinued operations.

As of December 29, 2012, Dole had cash and cash equivalents of \$91.6 million and an asset-based lending senior secured revolving credit facility (ABL revolver) borrowing base of \$331.3 million. After taking into account \$95 million of outstanding letters of credit issued under the ABL revolver and the outstanding ABL balance, Dole had approximately \$117.1 million available for borrowings as of December 29, 2012. The ABL revolver is secured by and is subject to a borrowing base consisting of up to 85% of eligible accounts receivable plus a predetermined percentage of eligible inventory, as defined in the credit facility. During 2012, the average borrowings under the ABL revolver were approximately \$61 million and the maximum borrowing outstanding was approximately \$129 million. The ABL revolver will be repaid in full at the time of the consummation of the sale transaction.

At December 29, 2012, Dole had total outstanding long-term secured debt borrowings of \$1.51 billion (consisting primarily of notes, net of debt discount, term loan facilities and capital lease obligations). Amounts outstanding under the term loan facilities were \$867.7 million at December 29, 2012. The term loan facilities and the long-term notes will be repaid, defeased or discharged in full at the time of the consummation of the sale transaction.

The ABL revolver and term loan facilities are collateralized by substantially all of our tangible and intangible assets, excluding the capital stock of our subsidiaries, certain intercompany debt, certain equity interests and each of Dole s U.S. manufacturing plants and processing facilities that have a net book value exceeding 1% of our net tangible assets.

Dole s subsidiaries have uncommitted lines of credit of approximately \$26 million at various local banks, of which \$6.3 million was available at December 29, 2012. Dole s discontinued operation subsidiaries have uncommitted lines of credit of approximately \$141.2 million at various local banks, of which \$94.4 million was available at December 29, 2012. These lines of credit are used primarily for short-term borrowings, foreign currency exchange settlement and the issuance of letters of credit or bank guarantees. Several of Dole s uncommitted lines of credit expire in 2013 while others do not have a commitment expiration date. These arrangements may be cancelled at any time by Dole or the banks. Dole s ability to utilize these lines of credit may be impacted by the terms of Dole s new, post-sale-transaction capital structure.

Dole s management believes that borrowings under our new, post-sale-transaction capital structure and subsidiaries uncommitted lines of credit, together with our existing cash balances, future cash flow from operations, planned asset sales and access to capital markets, will enable Dole to meet its working capital, capital expenditure, debt maturity and other commitments and funding requirements over the next twelve months. Dole management s plan is dependent upon the occurrence of future events which will be impacted by a number of

factors including the availability of refinancing, the general economic environment in which Dole operates, Dole s ability to generate cash flows from its operations, and Dole s ability to attract buyers for assets being marketed for sale. Factors impacting Dole s cash flow from operations include, but are not limited to, items such as commodity prices, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, among other things, as more fully set forth in Item 1A, Risk Factors, of this Form 10-K.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities were \$45.3 million in 2012 compared to \$5.1 million in the prior year. The increase was primarily due to lower inventory spending as prior year reflected increased inventory levels to support new products and higher levels of accounts payable and accrued liabilities due to timing. These factors were partially offset by lower income and higher levels of receivables. Cash flows provided by operating activities were \$5.1 million in 2011 compared to cash flows provided by operating activities of \$147.6 million in the prior year. The decrease was primarily due to higher inventory costs attributable to rising commodity prices as well as supporting new products and other revenue growth and lower levels of accounts payable and accrued liabilities due to timing. These factors were partially offset by higher net income.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows used in investing activities were \$75.6 million in 2012 compared to \$82.7 million in the prior year. The decrease was mainly due to lower cash payments for acquisitions of approximately \$63.2 million and lower equity method investments of \$8 million. These factors were partially offset by the elimination of the collateral requirement for the cross currency swap in 2011, as well as higher capital expenditures in fiscal 2012. Cash flows used in investing activities were \$82.7 million in 2011 compared to cash flow used in investing activities of \$69.9 million in the prior year. The increase was mainly due to the acquisition of SunnyRidge which used approximately \$78 million of cash at closing and equity method investments of \$8 million. These factors were partially offset by lower levels of restricted deposits primarily due to the elimination of the collateral requirement for the cross currency swap Dole currently estimates that its 2013 capital additions will be approximately \$170 million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash flows used in financing activities were \$0.5 million in 2012 compared to cash flows provided by financing activities of \$29.5 million in the prior year. The decrease was mainly due to higher long-term Japanese yen hedge settlements of \$48.8 million, offset by lower debt issuance costs and premiums paid associated with the 2011 refinancing and early retirement of debt of \$23.2 million. Cash flows provided by financing activities were \$29.5 million in 2011 compared to \$29.4 million cash flows used in the prior year. The change was mainly due to \$68.7 million of higher borrowings, net of repayments, compared to 2010.

Dividends, Capital Contributions and Return of Capital: Dole s ability to declare and pay future dividends is subject to limitations contained in its senior secured credit facilities and bond indentures. At present, under such limitations, Dole could not declare or pay dividends exceeding \$25 million in the aggregate.

Transactions Affecting Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect to enter into a new capital structure, consisting of a new term loan and a revolving credit facility, concurrently with the consummation of the sale transaction. The term loan, together with substantially all of the net proceeds from the sale transaction, will allow us to pay off our existing indebtedness of approximately \$1.6 billion, and will provide funding for transaction-related taxes, costs and expenses, extinguishment of long-term Japanese yen hedges, post-closing restructuring expenses, and possible resolution of previously disclosed legal-related matters.

52

Guarantees, Contingencies and Debt Covenants

Dole is a guarantor of indebtedness of some of its key fruit suppliers and other entities integral to Dole s operations. At December 29, 2012, guarantees of \$6.5 million consisted primarily of amounts advanced under third-party bank agreements to independent growers that supply Dole with product, all related to Dole Asia. Dole has not historically experienced any significant losses associated with these guarantees.

Dole issues letters of credit and bank guarantees through its ABL revolver and, in addition, separately through major banking institutions. Dole also provides bonds issued by insurance companies. These letters of credit, bank guarantees and insurance company bonds are required by certain regulatory authorities, suppliers and other operating agreements. As of December 29, 2012, total letters of credit, bank guarantees and bonds outstanding under these arrangements were \$195 million, of which \$12.8 million related to discontinued operations.

Dole also provides various guarantees, mostly to foreign banks, in the course of its normal business operations to support the borrowings, leases and other obligations of its subsidiaries. Dole guaranteed \$133.2 million of its subsidiaries obligations to suppliers and other third parties as of December 29, 2012, \$24.8 million of these guarantees related to discontinued operations.

Dole has change of control agreements with certain key executives, under which severance payments and benefits would become payable in the event of specified terminations of employment following a change of control (as defined) of Dole. Refer to Item 11 of this Form 10-K, under the heading Severance and Change of Control Arrangements for additional information concerning the change of control agreements.

As disclosed in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Dole is subject to legal actions, most notably related to Dole s prior use of the agricultural chemical dibromochloropropane, or DBCP. Although no assurance can be given concerning the outcome of these cases, in the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel and based on past experience defending and settling DBCP claims, the pending lawsuits are not expected to have a material adverse effect on Dole s business, financial condition or results of operations.

Provisions under the currently existing senior secured credit facilities and the indentures governing Dole s senior notes and debentures require Dole to comply with certain covenants. These covenants include limitations on, among other things, indebtedness, investments, liens, loans to subsidiaries, employees and third parties, the issuance of guarantees and the payment of dividends. The ABL revolver also contains a springing covenant, which would not be effective unless the availability under the ABL revolver were to fall below the greater of (i) \$35 million and (ii) 12.5% of the lesser of the Total Commitment (as defined) and the borrowing base. To date, the springing covenant has never been effective and Dole does not currently anticipate that the springing covenant will become effective. At December 29, 2012, Dole was in compliance with all applicable covenants. We expect to enter into a new capital structure, consisting of a new term loan and a revolving credit facility, concurrently with the consummation of the sale transaction. These facilities, constituting a much lower level of debt than exists at present, are likely to contain covenants that will differ, in certain respects, from the covenants contained in the currently existing facilities.

A breach of a covenant or other provision in any debt instrument governing Dole s indebtedness could result in a default under that instrument and, due to customary cross-default and cross-acceleration provisions, could result in a default under Dole s other debt instruments. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under the senior secured credit facilities or other debt instrument, the lenders or holders of such other debt instruments could elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit. If Dole were unable to repay those amounts, the lenders could proceed against the collateral granted to them, if any, to secure the indebtedness. If the lenders under Dole s indebtedness were to accelerate the payment of the indebtedness, Dole cannot give assurance that its assets would be sufficiently liquid to repay in full its outstanding indebtedness on an accelerated basis.

53

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts. These estimates and assumptions are evaluated on an ongoing basis and are based on historical experience and on other factors that management believes are reasonable. Estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, the areas of customer and grower receivables, inventories, impairment of assets, useful lives of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, income taxes, retirement benefits, financial instruments and commitments and contingencies.

Dole s management believes that the following represent the areas where more critical estimates and assumptions are used in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Refer to Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of Dole s significant accounting policies.

Grower Advances: Dole makes advances to third-party growers primarily in Latin America and Asia for various farming needs. Some of these advances are secured with property or other collateral owned by the growers. Dole monitors these receivables on a regular basis and records an allowance based on estimates of the growers—ability to repay advances and the fair value of the collateral. These estimates require significant judgment because of the inherent risks and uncertainties underlying the growers—ability to repay these advances. These factors include weather-related phenomena, government-mandated fruit prices, market responses to industry volume pressures, grower competition, fluctuations in local interest rates, economic crises, security risks in developing countries, political instability, outbreak of plant disease, inconsistent or poor farming practices of growers, and foreign currency fluctuations. For continuing operations, the aggregate amounts of grower advances made during fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010 were approximately \$185.1 million, \$170.4 million and \$146.6 million, respectively. For discontinued operations, the aggregate amounts of grower advances made during fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010 were approximately \$40.7 million, \$32.1 million and \$22.9 million, respectively. Net grower advances receivable for continuing operations were \$43.5 million and \$24.9 million and \$24.9 million and \$24.9 million and \$24.9 million and \$23.4 million at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets: Dole s long-lived assets consist of 1) property, plant and equipment and amortized intangibles and 2) goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets.

1) Property, Plant and Equipment and Amortizable Intangibles: Dole depreciates property, plant and equipment and amortizes intangibles principally by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of these assets. Estimates of useful lives are based on the nature of the underlying assets as well as Dole s experience with similar assets and intended use. Estimates of useful lives can differ from actual useful lives due to the inherent uncertainty in making these estimates. This is particularly true for Dole s significant long-lived assets such as land improvements, buildings, farming machinery and equipment, vessels and containers and customer relationships. Factors such as the conditions in which the assets are used, availability of capital to replace assets, frequency of maintenance, changes in farming techniques and changes to customer relationships can influence the useful lives of these assets. Refer to Notes 10 and 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of useful lives by major asset category and for further details on Dole s intangible assets, respectively. Dole incurred depreciation expense from continuing operations of \$61.9 million, \$63.1 million and \$75.8 million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011, respectively. The depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment for discontinued operations totaled \$34.1 million, \$36.4 million and \$34.6 million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011, respectively. Amortization expense of intangibles from continuing operations totaled \$3.9 million, \$0.8 million and \$0.1 million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011, and January 1, 2011, respectively. Amortization expense of intangibles included in discontinued operations totaled \$4.8 million, \$3.7 million and \$3.7 million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011, and January 1, 2011, respectively.

Dole s management reviews property, plant and equipment and amortizable intangibles to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If an evaluation of recoverability is required, the estimated total undiscounted future cash flows directly associated

54

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents

with the asset is compared to the asset s carrying amount. If this comparison indicates that there is an impairment, the amount of the impairment is calculated by comparing the carrying value to the discounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition or comparable market values, depending on the nature of the asset. Changes in commodity pricing, weather-related phenomena and other market conditions are events that have historically caused Dole s management to assess the carrying amount of its long-lived assets.

2) Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets: Dole s indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of the DOLÊ brand trade name (Dole trade name), with a carrying value of \$689.6 million. In connection with the sale of Dole Asia, ITOCHU will receive a perpetual, non-transferable, royalty-free license to use the Dole trade name in Dole Asia s operations. As a result, approximately \$460 million of the Dole trade name was allocated to Dole Asia during the fourth quarter of 2012 once the assets-held-for-sale criteria were met. In addition, approximately \$73 million of goodwill previously included in the Fresh Fruit reportable operating segment related to the Asia Fresh component and \$67 million of goodwill related to the packaged foods reportable operating segment were reclassified to assets-held-for-sale during the fourth quarter of 2012.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment annually during the second fiscal quarter and whenever events or circumstances indicate that an impairment may have occurred. Indefinite-lived intangibles are tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of the asset to the carrying value. In connection with the fourth quarter 2012 allocation of a portion of the Fresh Fruit goodwill and the Dole trade name to assets-held-for-sale, the goodwill remaining in the Fresh Fruit reportable operating segment and the Dole name remaining with Dole were tested for impairment based on the adjusted balances that will remain with Dole. These tests indicated there was no impairment to the remaining fresh fruit goodwill and the remaining trade name balances.

Income Taxes: Deferred income taxes are recognized for the income tax effect of temporary differences between financial statement carrying amounts and the income tax bases of assets and liabilities. Dole s provision for income taxes is based on domestic and international statutory income tax rates in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Dole regularly reviews its deferred income tax assets to determine whether future taxable income will be sufficient to realize the benefits of these assets. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred income tax assets for which it is deemed more likely than not that future taxable income will not be sufficient to realize the related income tax benefits from these assets. In making such determination, Dole s management considers all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial operations. In the event it is determined that Dole will not be able to realize its net deferred tax assets in the future, Dole will reduce such amounts through a charge to income in the period such determination is made. Conversely, if it is determined that Dole will be able to realize deferred tax assets in excess of the carrying amounts, Dole will decrease the recorded valuation allowance through a credit to income in the period that such determination is made.

At December 29, 2012, management s estimates of future taxable income to recover its existing U.S. state deferred tax assets totaling approximately \$47 million are principally related to the realization of income on appreciated non-core assets, including income to be generated from the reversal of the related existing taxable temporary differences upon the sale of such assets and the gain on the impending sale of the U.S packaged foods assets to ITOCHU. Although Dole s management currently believes it will be able to sell such appreciated non-core assets in amounts sufficient to realize its U.S. federal deferred tax assets, the ultimate sale prices for such assets are dependent on future market conditions and may vary from those currently expected. If Dole is unable to sell such assets at the amounts currently anticipated, valuation allowances may be necessary which would result in the recognition of additional income tax expense in Dole s consolidated statements of operations.

Significant judgment is required in determining income tax provisions, and in evaluating tax positions. Dole establishes additional provisions for income taxes when, despite the belief that tax positions are fully supportable, there remain positions that do not meet the minimum probability threshold, which is a tax position that is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing authority. In the normal course of business, Dole and its subsidiaries are examined by various federal, state and foreign tax authorities.

55

Dole s management regularly assesses the potential outcomes of these examinations and any future examinations for the current or prior years in determining the adequacy of its provision for income taxes. Dole s management continually assesses the likelihood and amount of potential adjustments and adjusts the income tax provision, the current tax liability and deferred taxes in the period in which the facts that give rise to a revision become known. At this time, Dole believes that it is reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits could decrease in 2013 by approximately \$20 million relating to non-U.S. audit settlements.

Refer to Note 7 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about Dole s income taxes.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits: Dole has qualified and nonqualified defined benefit pension plans covering some of its full-time employees. Benefits under these plans are generally based on each employee s eligible compensation and years of service, except for certain plans covering union employees, which are based on negotiated benefits. In addition to pension plans, Dole has other postretirement benefit (OPRB) plans that provide health care and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees. Covered employees may become eligible for such benefits if they fulfill established requirements upon reaching retirement age. Pension and OPRB costs and obligations are calculated based on actuarial assumptions including discount rates, health care cost trend rates, compensation increases, expected return on plan assets, mortality rates and other factors.

Pension obligations and expenses are most sensitive to the expected return on pension plan assets and discount rate assumptions. OPRB obligations and expenses are most sensitive to discount rate assumptions and health care cost trend rates. Dole s management determines the expected return on pension plan assets based on an expectation of average annual returns over an extended period of years for the asset classes in which the plan s assets are invested. In the absence of a change in Dole s asset allocation or investment philosophy, this estimate is not expected to vary significantly from year to year. Dole s 2012 and 2011 pension expense was determined using an expected rate of return on U.S. plan assets of 7.5% and 8%, respectively. At December 29, 2012, Dole s U.S. pension plan investment portfolio was invested approximately 49% in equity securities, 50% in fixed income securities and 1% in private equity and venture capital funds. A 25 basis point change in the expected rate of return on pension plan assets would impact annual pension expense by \$0.5 million.

The discount rate of 3.75% in 2012 and 4.72% in 2011 for Dole s U.S. pension plan was determined based on a hypothetical portfolio of high-quality, non-callable, zero-coupon bonds with amounts and maturities that match the projected future benefit payments from that plan. Discount rates for Dole s other U.S. plans were determined in a similar manner. A 25 basis point decrease in the assumed discount rate would increase the projected benefit obligation for the U.S. pension plans by \$8.7 million and increase the annual expense by \$0.5 million.

Dole s foreign pension plans weighted average discount rate was 6.09% and 6.51% for 2012 and 2011, respectively. A 25 basis point decrease in the assumed discount rate of the foreign plans would increase the projected benefit obligation by approximately \$3.2 million and increase the annual expense by approximately \$0.3 million.

While management believes that the assumptions used are appropriate, actual results may differ materially from these assumptions. These differences may impact the amount of pension and other postretirement obligations and future expense. Refer to Note 13 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details of Dole s pension and other postretirement benefit plans.

Litigation: Dole is involved from time to time in claims and legal actions incidental to its operations, both as plaintiff and defendant. Dole is management has established what it currently believes to be adequate reserves for pending legal matters. These reserves are established as part of an ongoing worldwide assessment of claims and legal actions that takes into consideration such items as changes in the pending case load (including resolved and new matters), opinions of legal counsel, individual developments in court proceedings, changes in the law, changes in business focus, changes in the litigation environment, changes in opponent strategy and tactics, new

developments as a result of ongoing discovery, and past experience in defending and settling similar claims. Changes in accruals are part of the ordinary, recurring course of business, in which management, after consultation with legal counsel, is required to make estimates of various amounts for business planning purposes, as well as for accounting and SEC reporting purposes. These changes are reflected in the reported earnings of Dole each quarter. The litigation accruals at any time reflect updated assessments of the then existing pool of claims and legal actions. Actual litigation settlements could differ materially from these accruals.

Recently Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding Dole s adoption of recently issued accounting pronouncements.

Other Matters

European Union (EU) Banana Import Regime: Under the World Trade Organization Geneva Agreement on Trade in Bananas reached in 2009, a new EU tariff only import regime for bananas went into force on all banana imports to the EU market from Latin America. Under terms of the agreement, there will be a gradual tariff reduction from 148 euros per metric ton in 2010 to a final tariff of 114 euros per metric ton on January 1, 2017 or January 1, 2019 (the 2019 date applies if no further trade agreements are reached in the ongoing Doha Development Agenda global trade discussions). Bananas from African, Caribbean, and Pacific countries may be imported to the EU duty-free.

In addition, the EU has negotiated several free trade areas agreements (FTA) that will allow for an even lower import tariff on specified volumes of banana exports from certain countries. An EU-Colombia-Peru FTA was signed on June 26, 2012 and an EU-Central America (i.e., Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua and Panama) FTA was signed on June 29, 2012. The EU and Peru have fully ratified their respective FTA, but Colombia is still pursuing its internal ratification process. On February 28, 2013, the European Council approved provisional entry into force of the FTA for Peru; however the EU-Colombia-Peru FTA is expected to be fully ratified by Colombia and come into force within the next few months. The ratification of the EU-Central American FTA is also ongoing and is similarly expected to come into force sometime during 2013. Ecuador has not yet negotiated an FTA with the EU on bananas and may not benefit, like the other Latin American countries party to an FTA, unless a similar FTA can be negotiated with the EU. Dole continues to monitor these developments but cannot yet anticipate the specific dates when these FTAs will come into force or if Ecuador will be successful in negotiating similar trade terms with the EU for Ecuadorian bananas.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

As a result of its global operating and financing activities, Dole is exposed to market risks including fluctuations in interest rates, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and changes in commodity pricing. Dole uses derivative instruments to hedge against fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rate movements and bunker fuel prices. Dole does not utilize derivatives for trading or other speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk: As a result of its normal borrowing and leasing activities, Dole s operating results are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates. Dole has short-term and long-term debt with both fixed and variable interest rates. Short-term debt primarily comprises the current portion of long-term debt maturing within twelve months from the balance sheet date. Short-term debt also includes unsecured notes payable to banks and bank lines of credit used to finance working capital requirements. Long-term debt represents publicly held secured and unsecured notes and debentures, as well as amounts outstanding under Dole s senior secured credit facilities.

As of December 29, 2012, Dole had \$637.6 million of fixed-rate debt, \$1 million of fixed-rate capital lease obligations and \$4.1 million of other debt with a combined weighted average interest rate of 9.6% and a fair value of \$686.8 million. Dole currently estimates that a 100 basis point increase in prevailing market interest rates would decrease the fair value of its fixed-rate debt by approximately \$8 million.

57

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents

As of December 29, 2012, Dole had the following variable-rate arrangements: \$977.7 million of variable-rate debt and \$54 million of variable-rate capital lease obligations with a combined weighted average interest rate of 4.7%. Interest expense under the majority of these arrangements is based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR). Dole currently estimates that a 100 basis point increase in LIBOR would lower pretax income by approximately \$10 million.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk: Dole products are sourced, grown, processed, marketed and distributed worldwide in more than 90 countries. Its international sales are usually transacted in U.S. dollars and major European and, prior to the consummation of the sale transaction, Asian currencies. Some of Dole s costs are incurred in currencies different from those received from the sale of products. Results of operations may be affected by fluctuations in currency exchange rates in both sourcing and selling locations.

Dole s continuing operations have significant European sales denominated primarily in euro and Swedish krona. Product and shipping costs associated with a significant portion of these sales are U.S. dollar-denominated. In 2012, Dole had approximately \$745 million of annual sales denominated in euro, and \$466 million of annual sales denominated in Swedish krona. If U.S. dollar exchange rates versus the euro and Swedish krona during 2012 had remained unchanged from 2011, Dole s revenues would have been higher by approximately \$82 million. Operating income would have been higher by approximately \$12 million, excluding the impact of hedges. In addition, Dole estimates that a 10% strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to the euro and Swedish krona would lower operating income by approximately \$16 million, excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange hedges.

Dole s discontinued operations have significant sales denominated in Japanese yen. Product and shipping costs associated with a significant portion of these sales are U.S. dollar-denominated. In 2012, Dole had approximately \$815 million of annual sales denominated in Japanese yen. If U.S. dollar exchange rates versus the Japanese yen during 2012 had remained unchanged from 2011, the impact on Dole s discontinued operations would have been immaterial. In addition, Dole currently estimates that a 10% strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to the Japanese yen would lower results of discontinued operations by approximately \$26 million, excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange hedges.

Dole sources the majority of its products in foreign locations and accordingly is exposed to changes in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and currencies in these sourcing locations. Dole s exposure to exchange rate fluctuations in these sourcing locations is partially mitigated by entering into U.S. dollar denominated contracts for third-party purchased product and most other major supply agreements, including shipping contracts. However, Dole is still exposed to those costs that are denominated in local currencies. The most significant production currencies to which Dole has exchange rate risk for continuing operations are the Chilean peso and South African rand. If U.S. dollar exchange rates versus these currencies during 2012 had remained unchanged from 2011, the results on Dole s operating income would have been immaterial. In addition, Dole currently estimates that a 10% weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to these currencies would have had an immaterial impact on operating income, excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange hedges.

The most significant production currencies to which Dole has exchange rate risk for discontinued operations are the Thai baht and Philippine peso. If U.S. dollar exchange rates versus these currencies during 2012 had remained unchanged from 2011, Dole s results from discontinued operations would have been higher by approximately \$5 million. In addition, Dole currently estimates that a 10% weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to these currencies would lower operating income by approximately \$81 million, excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange hedges.

At December 29, 2012, Dole had British pound sterling denominated capital lease obligations. The British pound sterling denominated capital lease of \$54 million is owed by foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar. Fluctuations in the British pound sterling to U.S. dollar exchange rate result in gains/losses that are recognized through results of operations. In 2012, Dole recognized \$2.4 million in foreign currency exchange losses related to the British pound sterling denominated capital lease. Dole currently estimates that the weakening of the value of the U.S. dollar against the British pound sterling by 10% as it relates to the capital lease obligation would decrease operating income by approximately \$5 million.

58

Some of Dole s divisions operate in functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The net assets of these divisions are exposed to foreign currency translation gains and losses, which are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders equity. Such translation resulted in unrealized gains of approximately \$4 million in 2012. Dole has historically not attempted to hedge this equity risk.

The ultimate impact of future changes to these and other foreign currency exchange rates on 2013 revenues, operating income, net income, equity and comprehensive income is not determinable at this time.

As part of its risk management strategy, Dole uses derivative instruments to hedge certain foreign currency exchange rate exposures. Dole s objective is to offset gains and losses resulting from these exposures with losses and gains on the derivative contracts used to hedge them, thereby reducing volatility of earnings. Dole uses foreign currency exchange forward contracts to reduce its risk related to anticipated dollar equivalent foreign currency cash flows, specifically forecasted revenue transactions and forecasted operating expenses. Participating forwards are the combination of a put and call option, structured such that there is no premium payment, there is a guaranteed strike price, and Dole can benefit from positive foreign currency exchange movements on a portion of the notional amount.

At December 29, 2012, Dole s foreign currency hedge portfolio was as follows:

	Gross Notional Value Forwards (In th	Average Strike Price rike price)		
Foreign Currency Hedges(buy/sell):				
U.S. dollar/Japanese yen	\$ 387,393	\$ (69,564)	JPY 101.30/\$	
U.S. dollar/Euro	\$ 141,167	(1,688)	EUR 1.28/\$	
Chilean Peso/U.S. dollar	\$ 26,615	137	CLP 490.47/\$	
South African Rand/Euro	2,735	65	ZAR 11.63/	
South African Rand /U.S. dollar	\$ 1,260	4	ZAR 8.95/\$	
South African Rand/ British pound sterling	£ 400	3	ZAR 14.16/£	
Total		\$ (71,043)		

Commodity Sales Price Risk: Commodity pricing exposures include the potential impacts of weather phenomena and their effect on industry volumes, prices, product quality and costs. Dole manages its exposure to commodity price risk primarily through its regular operating activities, however, significant commodity price fluctuations, particularly for bananas, pineapples, fresh-packed vegetables and berries could have a material impact on Dole s results of operations.

Commodity Purchase Price Risk: Dole uses a number of commodities in its operations, including containerboard in its packaging containers and bunker fuel for its vessels. Dole is most exposed to market fluctuations in prices of containerboard and fuel. Dole currently estimates that a 10% increase in the price of containerboard would lower operating income by approximately \$12 million and a 10% increase in the price of bunker fuel would lower operating income by approximately \$16 million.

Dole enters into bunker fuel hedges to reduce its risk related to price fluctuations on anticipated bunker fuel purchases. At December 29, 2012, bunker fuel hedges had an aggregate outstanding notional amount of 18,833 metric tons. The fair value of the bunker fuel hedges at December 29, 2012 was an asset of \$0.5 million. For the year ended December 29, 2012, Dole recorded realized gains of \$1.7 million. During 2012, unrealized losses were \$1.1 million.

Counterparty Risk: The counterparties to Dole s derivative instruments contracts consist of a number of major international financial institutions. Dole has established counterparty guidelines and regularly monitors its positions and the financial strength of these institutions. While counterparties to hedging contracts expose Dole to credit-related losses in the event of a counterparty s non-performance, the risk would be limited to the unrealized gains on such affected contracts. Dole does not anticipate any such losses.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

I. Index to Consolidated Financial Statements of Dole Food Company, Inc.

	Form 10-K
	Page
Audited Financial Statements for the Three Years Ended December 29, 2012:	
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	61
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011, and January 1, 2011	63
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (loss) for the Years Ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011,	
and January 1, 2011	64
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 29, 2012, and December 31, 2011	65
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011, and January 1,	
<u>2011</u>	66
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity for the Years Ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011, January 1,	
2011	68
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	69
II. Supplementary Data	
Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)	134

60

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dole Food Company, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011, and January 1, 2011. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Dole Food Company, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and the results of their operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements, during the year ended December 29, 2012, the Company signed a definitive agreement with ITOCHU Corporation to sell its worldwide packaged foods and Asia fresh produce businesses (collectively Dole Asia). The results of operations of Dole Asia are included in discontinued operations in the accompanying financial statements for all periods presented.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company s internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2012 based on the criteria established in *Internal Control Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 12, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Los Angeles, California March 12, 2013

61

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.

Westlake Village, California

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Dole Food Company, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 29, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Annual Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2012, based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 29, 2012 of the Company and our report dated March 12, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the presentation of the results of operations of the Company s worldwide packaged foods and Asia fresh produce businesses as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Los Angeles, California March 12, 2013

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011

	2012 (In t	าดบรลทศร	2011 , except per sh	are da	2010
Revenues, net	\$ 4,246,70		4,778,424		4,686,858
Cost of products sold	(3,878,94		(4,375,760)		(4,331,336)
Gross margin	367,76	5	402,664		355,522
Selling, marketing and general and administrative expenses	(310,53	4)	(289,758)		(279,471)
Charges for restructuring and long-term receivables (Note 5 and 6)	(5,15)	3)	(16,412)		(31,459)
ITOCHU transaction related costs (Note 3)	(48,39)	5)			
Gain on legal settlements, net (Note 18)					32,521
Gain on asset sales (Note 9)	12,91	3	4,541		3,017
Operating income	16,59	2	101,035		80,130
Other income (expense), net	(3,13)))	(380)		(276)
Interest income	4,65	1	4,093		5,871
Interest expense	(12,21)	9)	(9,628)		(8,256)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity earnings	5,89	7	95,120		77,469
Income taxes	(10,75)	5)	2,070		(6,000)
Earnings from equity method investments	6,06	3	4,588		6,571
Income from continuing operations, net of income taxes	1,20	5	101,778		78,040
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes	(150,00)	3)	(60,324)		(111,163)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	7,23	1	339		2,957
Net income (loss)	(141,56	7)	41,793		(30,166)
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	(2,89	5)	(3,434)		(3,958)
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ (144,46)	3) \$	38,359	\$	(34,124)
Earnings per share Basic (Note 21):					
Income from continuing operations excluding net income attributable to noncontrolling					
interests	\$ 0.0) \$	1.15	\$	0.88
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ (1.6	4) \$	0.44	\$	(0.39)
Earnings per share Diluted (Note 21):					
Income from continuing operations excluding net income attributable to noncontrolling					
interests	\$ 0.0		1.14	\$	0.88
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ (1.6	4) \$	0.44	\$	(0.39)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

For the Years Ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Net income (loss)	\$ (141,567)	\$ 41,793	\$ (30,166)
Net foreign currency translation adjustment	4,028	(11,717)	3,844
Unrealized hedging gains (losses), net of income tax expense (benefit) of \$2,079, \$(2,914), and			
\$1,907	25,318	(45,619)	(14,416)
Reclassification of realized losses to net income (loss), net of income tax expense (benefit)			
\$(1,132), \$1,281, and \$(47)	12,003	32,751	9,390
Change in employee benefit plans, net of income tax expense (benefit) of (\$9,082), (\$8,964), and			
(\$1,019)	(17,414)	(22,872)	(19,443)
Comprehensive income (loss)	(117,632)	(5,664)	(50,791)
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests	(2,899)	(3,438)	(3,961)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ (120,531)	\$ (9,102)	\$ (54,752)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011

ACCEPTEC	,	2011 ls, except per data)
ASSETS		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 91,579	\$ 122,348
Restricted cash and deposits		6,230
Receivables, net of allowances of \$22,687 and \$32,237, respectively	491,640	685,094
Inventories	241,741	829,517
Prepaid expenses and other assets	36,249	65,331
Deferred income tax assets	5,959	26,184
Assets held-for-sale (Note 9)	1,877,523	75,641
Total current assets	2,744,691	1,810,345
Investments	88,881	99,469
Actively marketed land (Note 9)	74,814	74,814
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of \$819,218 and \$1,150,304, respectively	688,890	910,729
Goodwill	273,906	418,113
Intangible assets, net	261,315	732,013
Other assets, net	97,274	225,839
Total assets	\$ 4,229,771	\$ 4,271,322
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		
Accounts payable	\$ 313,400	\$ 452,049
Liabilities related to assets held-for-sale (Note 9)	448,924	49,117
Accrued liabilities	535,364	541,730
Current portion of long-term debt, net	161,750	10,756
Notes payable	19,762	27,969
Total current liabilities	1,479,200	1,081,621
Long-term debt, net	1,512,646	1,641,112
Deferred income tax liabilities	128,927	181,677
Other long-term liabilities	396,472	548,491
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 15 and 18)		
Shareholders equity		
Preferred stock \$0.001 par value; 10,000 shares authorized, none issued or outstanding		
Common stock \$0.001 par value; 300,000 shares authorized, 89,189 and 88,952 shares issued and		
outstanding as of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011	89	89
Additional paid-in capital	800,517	786,355
Retained earnings (deficit)	(35,021)	109,442
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(79,450)	(103,382)
Equity attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	686,135	792,504
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interests	26,391	25,917
Total equity	712,526	818,421
Total liabilities and equity	\$ 4,229,771	\$ 4,271,322

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

65

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011

Net income (loss) \$ 41,750 \$ 41,750 \$ 30,164 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities: 104,700 103,201 114,234 Depreciation and amorization 104,700 103,201 114,234 Share-based compensation expense 1,265 9,141 36,65 Net unrealized (gains) losses on financial instruments (10,384) 24,485 66,36 Asset write-officand and ret (gain) losses on financial instruments (7,084) (5,530) (7,156 Amorization of obeh discounts and debt issuance costs 11,00 7,70 4,55 11,100 11,50 7,75 4,55		2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Agiustments for reconcile net income (loss) to net eash provided by operating activities:	Operating Activities			
Depreciation and amortization 104,700 103,921 114,235 Share-based compensation expense 12,653 9,134 64,245 Net unrealized (gains) losses on financial instruments (19,384) 24,485 66,366 Asset write-offs and net (gain) losses on financial instruments (17,084) (5,500) (4,111) Earnings from equity method investments (10,789) 11,162 11,300 Provision for objectmer receivables 433 12,759 4,651 Write-off of debt issuance costs 433 12,759 4,651 Devoision for deferred income taxes 78,366 (47,128) 3,955 Impairment of discontinued operations 24,085 25,774 23,437 Other 518 149 22,343 Other 518 149 22,343 Other 518 149 22,343 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions. 49,671 (15,308) (18,671 Receivables (24,641) (15,508) (18,877 (24,681) (14,282)		\$ (141,567)	\$ 41,793	\$ (30,166)
Share-based compensation expense 12,653 9,143 6,54 Net unrealized gian's losses on financial instruments (19,384) 2,485 66,36 Asset write-offs and net (gain) loss on sale of assets 33,450 9,209 (4,11) Earnings from equity method investments (7,084) (5,530) (7,364) Annotization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs 10,779 11,40 Urile-off of debt discounts and debt issuance costs 433 12,759 44,60 Loss on early retirement of notes 13,453 13,453 14,00 Provision for deferred income taxes 78,866 (47,28) 3,955 Impairment of discontinued operations 1,18 1,18 Pension and other postretirement benefit plan expense 40,855 2,74 23,43 Other 62,243 (10,420) 14,229 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions: 4,9671 15,300 18,67 Inventories (2,23) (10,120) (12,23 (10,120) (12,23 Prepaid expenses and other assets (2,33)				
Net unrealized (gains) losses on financial instruments				
Asset write-offs and net (gain) loss on sale of assets 33,450 9,209 4,117 Earnings from equity method investments (7,084) (5,530) (7,36 Amortization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs 10,779 11,162 11,50 Provision for long-term receivables 433 12,759 455 Loss on early retirement of notes 78,366 471,228 395 Provision for deferred income taxes 78,366 471,228 395 Impairment of discontinued operations 1,189 222 Charges in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions: 24,085 25,774 23,437 Charges in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions: 49,671 (15,308 (18,67) Receivables (49,671) (15,308) (18,67) (18,27) (18,267) Prepaid expenses and other assets (49,671) (15,308) (18,67) (18,67) (18,67) (18,67) (19,530) (18,67) (19,27) (19,28) (19,50) (19,28) (19,50) (19,50) (19,50) <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>·</td><td>6,642</td></t<>			·	6,642
Earnings from equity method investments (7,084) (5,50) (7,364) Amortization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs 10,779 11,162 11,500 Provision for long-term receivables 31 12,759 4,565 Does on early retirement of notes 31,343 12,759 4,565 Provision for deferred income taxes 78,366 47,128 3,955 Impairment of discontinued operations 1,188 24,085 25,774 23,437 Other 518 149 22,543 20,600 21,238 20,600 21,234 20,600 22,343 10,750 11,80 24,085 25,774 23,437 20,600 20,600 22,343 10,750 12,234 30,000 10,600 12,238 10,750 12,243 10,150 10,80 18,600 12,24 3,43 10,750 12,24 3,43 10,750 12,24 3,43 10,750 12,24 3,43 10,750 12,24 3,43 10,25 14,25 2,43 10,42 14,22 14,26 <				66,366
Amortization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs 11,102 11,150 Provision for long-term receivables 11,303 12,759 4,656 Loss on early retirement of notes 13,453 12,759 4,656 Loss on early retirement of notes 78,366 (47,128) 3,955 Impairment of discontinued operations 24,085 25,774 23,435 Other 2,085 25,774 23,435 Other 2,085 25,774 23,435 Other 6,0243 (10,4296) (14,623) Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions: 49,671 (15,308) (18,672 Inventories (49,671) (15,308) (18,672 (18,672 (18,672 Inventories (49,671) (15,308) (18,672 (18		,		(4,117)
Provision for long-term receivables				(7,364)
Write-off of debt issuance costs 433 12,759 4,656 Loss on early retirement of notes 13,453 12,759 4,656 Provision for deferred income taxes 78,366 (47,128) 3,955 Impairment of discontinued operations 24,085 25,774 23,438 Other 518 149 222 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions: 49,671 (15,308) (18,677 Inventories (96,71) (15,308) (18,677 Inventories (2,243) (10,436) (12,238) Inventories (2,243) (10,436) (12,238) Inventories (24,483) (2,269) (10,508) (18,677 Inventories (3,438) (2,269) (10,508) (12,239) (10,229) (10,229) (10,229) (10,229) (10,229) (10,229) (10,229) (10,229) (10,229) (10,229) (10,229) (11,229) (11,229) (11,229) (11,229) (11,229) (11,229) (11,209) (11,209)		10,779	11,162	
Los on early retirement of notes 13,453 1,950 1,950 1,950 1,180 3,955 1,180 2,183 2,192 2,333 3,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 2,180 1,180 2,183 3,180 1,180 2,183 3,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 1,180 2,133 3,143 2,143 2,143 3,143 1,180				11,404
Provision for deferred income taxes 78,366 (47,128) 3,955 Impairment of discontinued operations 24,085 25,774 23,437 Other 518 149 22:22 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions: (49,671) (15,308) (18,671) Receivables (49,671) (15,308) (18,677) Inventories (62,243) (104,296) (14,238) Prepaid expenses and other assets (2,383) (10,736) (21,230) Income taxes (14,837) 2,269 (16,964) Accounts payable 35,786 (28,703) 10,122 Accounts payable 45,278 5,125 147,638 New provided by operating activities 45,278 5,125 147,638 Investing Activities 43,028 41,722 45,891 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (17,067) (79,034) Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash disposed (10,58) (82,187) (87,40) Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash dispos		433	12,759	4,650
Impairment of discontinued operations			13,453	
Rension and other postretirement benefit plan expense 24,085 25,74 23,43° Other 518 149 22° Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions: (49,671) (15,308) (18,67°) Receivables (49,671) (15,308) (18,67°) Inventories (62,243) (104,296) (14,235) Prepaid expenses and other assets (2,383) (10,736) (21,231) Income taxes (14,837) 2,296 (16,964) Accounts payable 35,786 (3,562) 37,844 Account liabilities (45,909) (33,729) (31,18° Cash flow provided by operating activities 45,278 5,125 147,63° Investing Activities 43,028 41,722 45,89° Investing Activities 43,028 41,722 45,89° Business acquisitions, net of cash disposed (17,067) (79,034) Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash disposed (10,584) (82,187) (87,401) Capital expenditures (75,81) </td <td></td> <td>78,366</td> <td>(47,128)</td> <td>3,958</td>		78,366	(47,128)	3,958
Other 518 149 222 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions: Total content of the				1,186
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions: Receivables	Pension and other postretirement benefit plan expense			23,437
Receivables (49,671) (15,308) (18,672) Inventories (62,243) (104,296) (42,323) Prepaid expenses and other assets (2,283) (10,736) (21,232) Income taxes (14,837) 2,269 (16,966) Accounts payable 35,786 (3,562) 37,844 Accrued liabilities 87,586 (28,703) 10,122 Other long-term liabilities (45,909) (33,729) (31,187) Cash flow provided by operating activities 45,278 5,125 147,635 Investing Activities 30,288 41,722 45,891 Investing Activities 10,007 (79,034) Cash received from sales of assets and businesses, net of cash disposed 43,028 41,722 45,891 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (17,067) (79,034) (79,034) Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash disposed (10,5843) (82,187) (87,400) Captial expenditures (10,5843) (82,187) (87,400) Restricted cash (10,200) (10,	Other	518	149	225
Inventories	Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions:			
Prepaid expenses and other assets (2,383) (10,736) (21,230) Income taxes (14,837) 2,269 (16,968) Accounts payable 35,786 (3,562) 37,844 Actual liabilities 87,586 (28,703) 10,122 Other long-term liabilities 45,278 5,125 147,633 Cash flow provided by operating activities 45,278 5,125 147,633 Investing Activities 43,028 41,722 45,891 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (10,67) (79,034) Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash disposed 43,028 41,722 45,891 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (10,67) (79,034) (79,034) (82,187) (87,400) Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash disposed 6,230 44,878 (27,818) (82,187) (87,400) (82,187) (87,400) (82,187) (87,400) (82,187) (87,400) (82,818) (82,781) (82,781) (82,781) (82,781) (82,781) (82,781) (82,781) (82	Receivables	(49,671)	(15,308)	(18,672)
Income taxes (14,837) 2,269 (16,966) Accounts payable 35,786 (3,562) 37,844 Accrued liabilities 87,586 (28,703) 10,123 Cher long-term liabilities (45,909) (33,729) (31,187) Cash flow provided by operating activities 45,278 5,125 147,633 Investing Activities 43,028 41,722 45,891 Cash received from sales of assets and businesses, net of cash disposed 43,028 41,722 45,891 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (17,067) (79,034) 105 Capital expenditures (105,843) (82,187) (87,40) Restricted cash 6,230 44,878 (27,818) Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries (1,929) (1,127) (588) Other (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities (75,581) (82,735)	Inventories	(62,243)	(104,296)	(14,239)
Accounts payable 35,786 (3,562) 37,844 Accrued liabilities 87,586 (28,703) 10,122 Other long-term liabilities (45,909) (33,729) (31,187 Cash flow provided by operating activities 45,278 5,125 147,639 Investing Activities 1 43,028 41,722 45,891 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (17,067) (79,034) (79,034) Capital expenditures (105,843) (82,187) (87,402) Restricted cash 6,230 44,878 (27,818) Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries (1,929) (1,127) (588) Other (1,929) (1,127) (588) Cash flow used in investing activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities (75,581) (82,735)	Prepaid expenses and other assets	(2,383)	(10,736)	(21,230)
Accrued liabilities 87,586 (28,703) 10,122 Other long-term liabilities (45,909) (33,729) (31,187) Cash flow provided by operating activities 45,278 5,125 147,639 Investing Activities 34,028 41,722 45,891 Cash received from sales of assets and businesses, net of cash disposed 43,028 41,722 45,891 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (17,067) (79,034) 1,051 Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash disposed 1,051 1,051 Capital expenditures (105,843) (82,187) (87,402) Restricted cash 6,230 44,878 (27,818) Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries (1,929) (1,127) (588) Other (1,929) (1,127) (588) Cash flow used in investing activities 75,581 (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities 75,581 (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities 474,309 2,887 57,533 Short-term debt borrowings 444,0	Income taxes	(14,837)	2,269	(16,969)
Other long-term liabilities (45,099) (33,729) (31,187) Cash flow provided by operating activities 45,278 5,125 147,635 Investing Activities 3,028 41,722 45,891 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (17,067) (79,034) Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash disposed 1,051 1 Capital expenditures (105,843) (82,187) (87,402) Restricted cash 6,230 44,878 (27,818) Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries (8,038) (80,38) Other (1,929) (1,127) (588) Cash flow used in investing activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Short-term debt borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,533 Short-term debt borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,533 Short-term debt prayments (440,954) (1,128) (76,341) Long-term debt prayments (965,261) (1,270,99) (91,3	Accounts payable	35,786	(3,562)	37,846
Cash flow provided by operating activities 45,278 5,125 147,639 Investing Activities 43,028 41,722 45,891 Cash received from sales of assets and businesses, net of cash disposed 43,028 41,722 45,891 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (17,067) (79,034) 79,034 <t< td=""><td>Accrued liabilities</td><td>87,586</td><td>(28,703)</td><td>10,123</td></t<>	Accrued liabilities	87,586	(28,703)	10,123
Nesting Activities	Other long-term liabilities	(45,909)	(33,729)	(31,187)
Cash received from sales of assets and businesses, net of cash disposed 43,028 41,722 45,891 Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (17,067) (79,034) Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash disposed 1,051 Capital expenditures (105,843) (82,187) (87,402 Restricted cash 6,230 44,878 (27,818 Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries (8,038) (1,929) (1,127) (588 Cash flow used in investing activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Heath borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,535 Short-term debt borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,535 Short-term debt payments (440,954) (10,128) 76,341 Long-term debt prowings 984,287 1,337,478 923,370 Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) 913,973 Payment of debt issuance costs (10,28) (17,000 Premium on early retirement of notes (10,28) (10,28) Payment of initial public offering costs<	Cash flow provided by operating activities	45,278	5,125	147,639
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (17,067) (79,034) Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash disposed 1,051 Capital expenditures (105,843) (82,187) (87,402) Restricted cash 6,230 44,878 (27,818) Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries (8,038) (8,038) Other (1,929) (1,127) (588) Cash flow used in investing activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities Short-term debt borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,535 Short-term debt repayments (440,954) (10,128) (76,341) Long-term debt borrowings 984,287 1,337,478 923,370 Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) (913,973) Payment of debt issuance costs (13,007) (17,000) Premium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,004) Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958) <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash disposed 1,051 Capital expenditures (105,843) (82,187) (87,402 Restricted cash 6,230 44,878 (27,818 Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries (8,038) (8,038) Other (1,929) (1,127) (588 Cash flow used in investing activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities Short-term debt borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,535 Short-term debt repayments (440,954) (10,128) (76,341) Long-term debt borrowings 984,287 1,337,478 923,370 Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) (913,973) Payment of debt issuance costs (13,007) (17,000) Premium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,002) Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)		,		45,891
Capital expenditures (105,843) (82,187) (87,402) Restricted cash 6,230 44,878 (27,818) Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries (8,038) (8,038) Other (1,929) (1,127) (588) Cash flow used in investing activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities 75,581 (82,735) (69,917) Short-term debt borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,535 Short-term debt repayments (440,954) (10,128) (76,341) Long-term debt borrowings 984,287 1,337,478 923,370 Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) (913,972) Payment of debt issuance costs (13,007) (17,000) Premium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,004) Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)		(17,067)		
Restricted cash 6,230 44,878 (27,818 Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries (8,038) (1,929) (1,127) (588 Cash flow used in investing activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities Short-term debt borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,535 Short-term debt repayments (440,954) (10,128) (76,341) Long-term debt provings 984,287 1,337,478 923,370 Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) (913,972) Payment of debt issuance costs (10,238) Premium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,004) Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)			·	
Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries				(87,402)
Other (1,929) (1,127) (588) Cash flow used in investing activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities Short-term debt borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,532 Short-term debt repayments (440,954) (10,128) (76,341) Long-term debt borrowings 984,287 1,337,478 923,370 Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) (913,973) Payment of debt issuance costs (10,238) Permium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,004) Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)		6,230	·	(27,818)
Cash flow used in investing activities (75,581) (82,735) (69,917) Financing Activities Short-term debt borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,535 Short-term debt repayments (440,954) (10,128) (76,341) Long-term debt borrowings 984,287 1,337,478 923,370 Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) (913,973) Payment of debt issuance costs (10,238) Permium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,004) Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)				
Financing Activities Short-term debt borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,535 Short-term debt repayments (440,954) (10,128) (76,341) Long-term debt borrowings 984,287 1,337,478 923,370 Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) (913,973) Payment of debt issuance costs (13,007) (17,000) Premium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,509) 312 Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)	Other	(1,929)	(1,127)	(588)
Short-term debt borrowings 474,309 2,887 57,535 Short-term debt repayments (440,954) (10,128) (76,341) Long-term debt borrowings 984,287 1,337,478 923,370 Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) (913,973) Payment of debt issuance costs (13,007) (17,000) Premium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,509) 312 Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)	Cash flow used in investing activities	(75,581)	(82,735)	(69,917)
Short-term debt repayments (440,954) (10,128) (76,34) Long-term debt borrowings 984,287 1,337,478 923,370 Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) (913,973 Payment of debt issuance costs (13,007) (17,000 Premium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,004 Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)				
Long-term debt borrowings 984,287 1,337,478 923,370 Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) (913,973 Payment of debt issuance costs (13,007) (17,000 Premium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,004 Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)	Short-term debt borrowings	474,309	2,887	57,535
Long-term debt repayments (965,261) (1,270,969) (913,973) Payment of debt issuance costs (13,007) (17,000) Premium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,004) Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)	Short-term debt repayments	(440,954)	(10,128)	(76,341)
Payment of debt issuance costs(13,007)(17,000)Premium on early retirement of notes(10,238)Payment of initial public offering costs(1,004)Net proceeds from stock option exercises1,509312Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests(1,712)(2,935)(1,958)	Long-term debt borrowings	984,287	1,337,478	923,370
Premium on early retirement of notes (10,238) Payment of initial public offering costs (1,004) Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)	Long-term debt repayments	(965,261)	(1,270,969)	(913,973)
Payment of initial public offering costs (1,004) Net proceeds from stock option exercises 1,509 312 Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)	Payment of debt issuance costs		(13,007)	(17,000)
Net proceeds from stock option exercises1,509312Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests(1,712)(2,935)(1,958)	Premium on early retirement of notes		(10,238)	
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (1,712) (2,935) (1,958)	Payment of initial public offering costs			(1,004)
	Net proceeds from stock option exercises		312	
Settlement of long-term Japanese yen hedge forwards (52,712) (3,910)	Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests	(1,712)	(2,935)	(1,958)
	Settlement of long-term Japanese yen hedge forwards	(52,712)	(3,910)	
Cash flow provided by (used in) financing activities (534) 29,490 (29,371)	Cash flow provided by (used in) financing activities	(534)	29,490	(29,371)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash 68 321 2,126	Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash	68	321	2,126

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	(30,769)	(47,799)	50,477
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	122,348	170,147	119,670
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 91,579	\$ 122,348	\$ 170,147

66

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

For the Years Ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011

Supplemental cash flow information

At December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, accounts payable included approximately \$11 million and \$12 million, respectively, for capital expenditures.

During the first quarter of 2011, Dole effectively extinguished its cross currency swap liability by entering into a series of Japanese yen forward contracts (long-term Japanese yen hedges) that mature over a four year period. Refer to Note 16 Derivative Financial Instruments for additional information.

Income tax payments, net of refunds, for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 were \$22.1 million, \$50.8 million and \$26.4 million, respectively.

Interest payments on borrowings totaled \$120.8 million, \$139.9 million and \$157.2 million during the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

In connection with the first quarter 2012 sale of a non-core German subsidiary (German subsidiary), Dole has \$21.2 million of notes receivable, of which \$1.3 million is included in receivables, net and \$19.9 million is included in other assets. Related to the sale, Dole has deferred income of \$21.2 million of which approximately \$1.3 million is included in accrued liabilities and approximately \$19.9 million is included in other long-term liabilities. Of the notes receivable for which deferred income was recorded, approximately \$2.5 million has been collected during fiscal 2012, and was recognized as gain on sale of assets. Refer to Note 9 Assets Held-For-Sale and Actively Marketed Land for additional information.

During fiscal 2007, two of Dole s non-wholly-owned subsidiaries sold land parcels located in Central California to subsidiaries of Castle and Cooke, Inc. (Castle) for \$40.3 million, of which \$30.5 million was in cash and \$9.8 million was a note receivable. Castle is owned by David H. Murdock, Dole s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. During the third quarter of 2010, Dole collected \$5.7 million which represented its share of the note receivable. The remaining \$4.1 note receivable balance was ultimately disbursed to our minority partner during the third quarter of 2010 as a non-cash distribution.

The provision for deferred income taxes includes an accrual of \$65 million recorded in discontinued operations for the potential future repatriation of \$185 million resulting from the sale of the Dole Asia non-U.S. operations.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

67

Balance at December 31, 2011

88,952

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011

Equity Attributable to Shareholders of Dole Food Company Inc. **Accumulated Other** Comprehensive Income (Loss) Pension Unrealized **Equity** & Gains Attributable Additional Other Common Retained Cumulative (Losses) to Shares Common Paid-In **Earnings Postretirement Translation** Noncontrolling Total on **Outstanding Stock** Capital (Deficit) Benefits Adjustment Hedges Interests **Equity** (In thousands) Balance at January 2, 2010 88,233 \$ 88 \$ 768,973 \$ 105,207 \$ (52,393) \$ 38,226 \$ (21,126) 27,004 \$ 865,979 Net loss (34,124)3,958 (30,166)Liquidation of noncontrolling interests (314)(314)Transfer of land (and taxes related to the transfer) to affiliate entity 1,337 1,337 Share-based compensation 6,642 6,642 396 Issuance of restricted stock 1 (1) Cancellation of restricted stock (18)(33)(33)Dividends paid (1,958)(1,958)Non-cash distribution (4,078)(4,078)Net foreign currency translation 3,841 3 3,844 adjustment Unrealized hedging gains (losses), net of income tax expense (benefit) of (14,416)\$1,907 (14,416)Reclassification of realized losses to net income, net of income tax expense (benefit) of (\$47) 9,390 9,390 Change in employee benefit plans, net of income tax expense (benefit) of (\$1,019)(19,443)(19,443) Balance at January 1, 2011 88,611 \$ 71,083 \$ (26,152) \$ \$ \$ 776,918 \$ (71,836) \$ 42,067 24,615 \$ 816,784 38,359 3,434 Net income 41,793 Share-based compensation 9,143 9,143 Exercise of stock options 27 312 312 Issuance of restricted stock 357 Cancellation of restricted stock (43)(18)(18)Dividends paid (2,935)(2,935)Change in noncontrolling interests 799 799 Net foreign currency translation (11,721)adjustment 4 (11,717)Unrealized hedging gains (losses), net of income tax expense (benefit) of (\$2,914)(45,619)(45,619)Reclassification of realized losses to net loss, net of income tax expense (benefit) of \$1,281 32,751 32,751 Change in employee benefit plans, net of income tax expense (benefit) of (22,872)(22,872)(\$8,964)

Table of Contents 89

\$ 109,442

\$ 786,355

\$ 30,346

\$ (94,708)

\$ (39,020)

25,917

\$ 818,421

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Net loss				(144,463)				2,896	(141,567)
Share-based compensation			12,653						12,653
Exercise of stock options	381		3,619						3,619
Issuance of restricted stock	33								
Repurchases of stock	(171)		(2,110)						(2,110)
Cancellation of restricted stock	(6)								
Dividends paid								(1,711)	(1,711)
Change in noncontrolling interests								(714)	(714)
Net foreign currency translation									
adjustment						4,025		3	4,028
Unrealized hedging gains (losses), net									
of income tax expense (benefit) of									
\$2,079							25,318		25,318
Reclassification of realized losses to									
net income, net of income tax									
expense (benefit) of \$(1,132)							12,003		12,003
Change in employee benefit plans,									
net of income tax expense (benefit) of									
(\$9,082)					(17,414)				(17,414)
Balance at December 29, 2012	89,189	\$ 89	\$ 800,517	\$ (35,021)	\$ (112,122)	\$ 34,371	\$ (1,699)	\$ 26,391	\$ 712,526

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

68

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

Note 1 Nature of Operations

Dole Food Company, Inc. was incorporated under the laws of Hawaii in 1894 and was reincorporated under the laws of Delaware in July 2001.

Dole Food Company, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (Dole or the Company) are engaged in the worldwide sourcing, processing, distributing and marketing of high quality, branded food products, including fresh fruit and vegetables, as well as packaged foods.

In fiscal year 2012, Dole conducted operations throughout North America, Latin America, Europe (including eastern European countries), Asia (primarily in China, Japan, Korea, the Philippines and Thailand), the Middle East and Africa (primarily in South Africa). As a result of its global operating and financing activities, Dole is exposed to certain risks including changes in commodity pricing, fluctuations in interest rates, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, as well as other environmental and business risks in both sourcing and selling locations.

Dole s principal products are produced on both Company-owned and leased land and are also acquired through associated producer and independent grower arrangements. Dole s products are primarily packed and processed by Dole and sold to wholesale, retail and institutional customers and other food product companies.

In March 2003, Dole completed a going-private merger transaction. As a result of the transaction, Dole became wholly-owned by David H. Murdock, Dole s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. In October 2009, Dole completed a \$446 million initial public offering of its common stock and received proceeds of \$415 million. At December 29, 2012, Mr. Murdock and his affiliates beneficially owned 35,542,968, or approximately 40% of Dole s outstanding common shares.

Note 2 Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Consolidation: Dole s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Dole Food Company, Inc., majority owned subsidiaries over which Dole exercises control, and entities that are not majority owned but require consolidation as a variable interest entity. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Dole s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to December 31. The fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010 ended on December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively. Dole operates under a 52/53 week year. Fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010 were 52-week years.

Revenue Recognition: Revenue is recognized at the point title and risk of loss is transferred to the customer, collection is reasonably assured, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists and the price is fixed or determinable.

Sales Incentives: Dole offers sales incentives and promotions to its customers (resellers) and to its consumers. These incentives include consumer coupons and promotional discounts, volume rebates and product placement fees. Consideration given to customers and consumers related to sales incentives is recorded as a reduction of revenues, rather than as a cost or expense. Estimated sales discounts are recorded in the period in which the related sale is recognized. Volume rebates are recognized as earned by the customer, based upon the contractual terms of the arrangement with the customer and, where applicable, Dole s estimate of sales volume

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

over the term of the arrangement. Adjustments to estimates are made periodically as new information becomes available and actual sales volumes become known. Adjustments to these estimates have historically not been significant to Dole.

Agricultural Costs: Recurring agricultural costs include costs relating to irrigation, fertilizing, disease and insect control and other ongoing crop and land maintenance activities. Recurring agricultural costs are charged to operations as incurred or are recognized when the crops are harvested and sold, depending on the product. Non-recurring agricultural costs, primarily comprising soil and farm improvements and other long-term crop growing costs that benefit multiple harvests, are deferred and amortized over the estimated production period, currently from two to seven years.

Shipping and Handling Costs: Amounts billed to third-party customers for shipping and handling are included as a component of revenues. Shipping and handling costs incurred are included as a component of cost of products sold and represent costs incurred by Dole to ship product from the sourcing locations to the end consumer markets.

Value-Added Taxes: Value-added taxes that are collected from customers and remitted to taxing authorities are excluded from sales and cost of product sold.

Marketing and Advertising Costs: Marketing and advertising costs, which include media, production and other promotional costs, are generally expensed in the period in which the marketing or advertising first takes place. In limited circumstances, Dole capitalizes payments related to the right to stock products in customer outlets or to provide funding for various merchandising programs over a specified contractual period. In such cases, Dole amortizes the costs over the life of the underlying contract. The amortization of these costs, as well as the cost of certain other marketing and advertising arrangements with customers, are classified as a reduction in revenues. Advertising and marketing costs, included in selling, marketing and general and administrative expenses for continuing operations, amounted to \$26.7 million, \$29.2 million and \$33.3 million during the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011. Advertising and marketing costs, included in selling, marketing and general and administrative expenses for discontinued operations, amounted to \$76.3 million, \$71.1 million and \$66.2 million during the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011.

Research and Development Costs: Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs were not material for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011.

Income Taxes: Dole accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred income tax assets for which it is deemed more likely than not that future taxable income will not be sufficient to realize the related income tax benefits from these assets. Dole establishes additional provisions for income taxes when, despite the belief that tax positions are fully supportable, there remain positions that do not meet the minimum probability threshold, which is a tax position that is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing authority. In addition, once the recognition threshold for the tax position is met, only the portion of the tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely to be realized upon settlement with a taxing authority is recorded. The impact of provisions for uncertain tax positions,

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

as well as the related net interest and penalties, are included in income taxes in the consolidated statements of operations. Income taxes, which would be due upon the repatriation of foreign subsidiary earnings, have not been provided where the undistributed earnings are considered indefinitely invested.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments, primarily money market funds and time deposits, with original maturities of three months or less.

Grower Advances: Dole makes advances to third-party growers primarily in Latin America and, prior to the consummation of the sale transaction, Asia, for various farming needs. Some of these advances are secured with property or other collateral owned by the growers. Dole monitors these receivables on a regular basis and records an allowance for these grower receivables based on estimates of the growers—ability to repay advances and the fair value of the collateral. Grower advances are stated at the gross advance amount less allowances for potentially uncollectible balances.

Receivables: Receivables consist primarily of trade, notes, and other receivables. These receivables are recorded at net realizable value. Allowances against receivables are established based on specific account data and factors such as Dole s historical losses, current economic conditions, age of receivables, the value of any collateral, and payment status compared to payment terms. Account balances are written off against the allowance if and when management determines the receivable is uncollectible.

Inventories: Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Costs related to certain packaged foods products are determined using the average cost basis. Costs related to other inventory categories, including fresh fruit and vegetables are determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Specific identification and average cost methods are also used primarily for certain packing materials and operating supplies. Crop growing costs primarily represent the costs associated with growing bananas, pineapples and vegetables on company-owned farms and for third-party farms, represent advances made to the grower for crops in process.

Investments: Investments in affiliates and joint ventures with ownership of 20% to 50% are recorded on the equity method, provided Dole has the ability to exercise significant influence. All other non-consolidated investments are accounted for using the cost method. At December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, substantially all of Dole s investments have been accounted for under the equity method.

Dole s investments are reviewed for impairment when indicators of impairment arise, and investments are impaired when there is an other-than-temporary decline in the investments fair value.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost plus the fair value of asset retirement obligations, if any, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of these assets. Dole reviews long-lived assets to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If an evaluation of recoverability is required, the estimated undiscounted future cash flows directly associated with the asset are compared to the asset s carrying amount. If this comparison indicates that there is an impairment, the amount of the impairment is calculated by comparing the carrying value to discounted expected future cash flows or comparable market values, depending on the nature of the asset. All long-lived assets, for which management has committed itself to a plan of disposal by sale, are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. Long-lived assets to be disposed of other than by sale are classified as held and used until the date of disposal. Routine maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Goodwill and Intangibles: Goodwill represents the excess cost of a business acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if certain impairment indicators arise. Goodwill is allocated to various

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

reporting units, which are either the operating segment or one reporting level below the operating segment. Fair values for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are determined based on discounted cash flows, market multiples or appraised values, as appropriate.

Dole s indefinite-lived intangible asset, consisting of the DOLE brand trade name (Dole trade name), is considered to have an indefinite life because it is expected to generate cash flows indefinitely and as such is not amortized. Dole s intangible assets with a definite life consist primarily of customer relationships. Amortizable intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. The remaining weighted average useful life of Dole s definite lived intangible assets is approximately 8 years.

Concentration of Credit Risk: Financial instruments that potentially subject Dole to a concentration of credit risk principally consist of cash equivalents, derivative contracts, grower advances and trade receivables. Dole maintains its temporary cash investments with high quality financial institutions, which are invested primarily in short-term U.S. government instruments and certificates of deposit. The counterparties to Dole s derivative contracts are major financial institutions. Grower advances are principally with farming enterprises located throughout Latin America and, prior to the consummation of the sale transaction, Asia, and are secured by the underlying crop harvests. Credit risk related to trade receivables is mitigated due to the large number of customers dispersed worldwide. To reduce credit risk, Dole performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers but does not generally require advance payments or collateral. Additionally, Dole maintains allowances for credit losses. No individual customer accounted for greater than 10% of Dole s revenues during the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011. No individual customer accounted for greater than 10% of accounts receivable as of December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: Dole s financial instruments primarily comprise short-term trade and grower receivables, trade payables, notes receivable and notes payable, as well as long-term grower receivables, capital lease obligations, term loans, a revolving loan, and notes and debentures. For short-term instruments, the carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. For the long-term financial instruments, excluding Dole s secured and unsecured notes and debentures, revolving credit facility and term loans, the carrying amount approximates fair value since they bear interest at variable rates or fixed rates which approximate market.

Dole also holds derivative instruments to hedge against foreign currency exchange, fuel pricing and interest rate movements. Dole s derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value. Dole estimates the fair values of its derivatives including any credit valuation adjustments using market based inputs (refer to Notes 16 and 17 for additional information).

Dole also holds retirement plan assets which are measured at fair value. Dole estimates the fair values of its retirement plan assets based on quoted market prices dependent on availability. In instances where quoted market prices are not readily available, the fair value of the investments securities is estimated based on pricing models using observable or unobservable inputs (refer to Note 17 for additional information).

For subsidiaries with transactions that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency, the net foreign currency exchange transaction gains or losses resulting from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities to the functional currency are included in determining net income. Net foreign currency exchange gains or losses resulting from the translation of assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are recorded as a part of cumulative translation adjustment in shareholders equity. Unrealized foreign currency exchange gains and losses on certain intercompany transactions that are of a long-term-investment nature (i.e., settlement is not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future) are also recorded in cumulative translation adjustment in shareholders equity.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Leases: Dole leases fixed assets for use in operations where leasing offers advantages of operating flexibility and is less expensive than alternative types of funding. Dole also leases land in countries where land ownership by foreign entities is restricted. Dole s leases are evaluated at inception or at any subsequent modification and, depending on the lease terms, are classified as either capital leases or operating leases. For operating leases that contain rent escalations, rent holidays or rent concessions, rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. The majority of Dole s leases are classified as operating leases. Dole s principal operating leases are for land and machinery and equipment. Dole s capitalized leases primarily consist of two vessel leases. Dole s decision to exercise renewal options is primarily dependent on the level of business conducted at the location and the profitability thereof. Dole s leasehold improvements were not significant at December 29, 2012 or December 31, 2011.

Share-Based Compensation: Dole recognizes share-based payments in the consolidated statements of operations based on their fair value and the estimated number of shares Dole ultimately expects to vest. The estimated forfeiture rate is based on historical attrition data. Dole uses the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock option grants. The option pricing model requires input of assumptions regarding expected term, expected volatility, dividend yield, and risk free rate. Expected term of the option grants is estimated using the simplified method. Expected volatility of the option grants is estimated using annualized historical volatility of the publicly traded stock prices of Dole s significant competitors as well as Dole s annualized volatility subsequent to the 2009 IPO. Risk free rate is estimated using the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury securities with a maturity equivalent to the stock options expected term. Share-based compensation is expensed on a straight-line basis over the service period of the awards, with the exception of performance based options which are expensed based on the probability of achievement of the underlying targets (refer to Note 22 for further information).

Guarantees: Dole makes guarantees as part of its normal business activities. These guarantees include guarantees of the indebtedness of some of its key fruit suppliers and other entities integral to Dole s operations. Dole also issues bank guarantees as required by certain regulatory authorities, suppliers and other operating agreements as well as to support the borrowings, leases and other obligations of its subsidiaries. The majority of Dole s guarantees relate to guarantees of subsidiary obligations and are excluded from the initial measurement and recognition.

Workers Compensation and Loss Reserves: Dole self-insures certain losses arising out of worker's compensation claims. Dole establishes workers compensation accruals for its self-insured programs based upon reported claims in process and actuarial estimates for losses incurred but not reported. Loss reserves, including incurred but not reported reserves, are estimated using actuarial methods and ultimate settlements may vary significantly from such estimates due to increased claims frequency or the severity of claims.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts and disclosures reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, the areas of customer and grower receivables, inventories, impairment of assets, useful lives of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, marketing programs, share-based compensation, income taxes, self-insurance reserves, retirement benefits, financial instruments and commitments and contingencies. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Held-for-sale and discontinued operations: Dole reports a business as held-for-sale when management has approved or received approval to sell the business and is committed to a formal plan, the business is available for immediate sale, the business is being actively marketed, the sale is anticipated to occur during the ensuing year and certain other specified criteria are met. A business classified as held-for-sale is recorded at the lower of its

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

carrying amount or estimated fair value less cost to sell. If the carrying amount of the business exceeds its estimated fair value, a loss is recognized. Depreciation is not recorded on assets of a business classified as held-for-sale. Assets and liabilities related to a business classified as held-for-sale are segregated in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and major classes are separately disclosed in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements commencing in the period in which the business is classified as held-for-sale. Dole reports the results of operations of a business as discontinued operations if the business is classified as held-for-sale, the operations and cash flows of the business have been or will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of Dole as a result of a disposal transaction and Dole will not have any significant continuing involvement in the operations of the business after the disposal transaction. The results of discontinued operations are reported in Discontinued Operations in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for current and prior periods commencing in the period in which the business meets the criteria of a discontinued operation, and include any gain or loss recognized on closing or adjustment of the carrying amount to fair value less cost to sell.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

During July 2012, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued a standard which amended how entities test for impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets. The new guidance permits a company to assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the annual impairment test. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012, and is effective for Dole beginning the first quarter of 2013. The adoption of the standard is not expected to have an impact on Dole s results of operations or financial position.

In February 2013, the FASB issued a standard that revised the disclosure requirements for items reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income and requires entities to present information about significant items reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by component either (1) on the face of the statement where net income is presented or (2) as a separate disclosure in the notes to the financial statements. This guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2012, and is effective for Dole beginning in the first quarter of 2013. The adoption of the standard is expected to have no impact on Dole s results of operations or financial position.

In March 2013, the FASB issued a standard which requires the release of a Company s cumulative translation adjustment into net income only if the sale or transfer results in the complete or substantially complete liquidation of the foreign entity in which the subsidiary or group of assets had resided. This guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013, and is effective for Dole beginning in the first quarter of 2014. The adoption of the standard is expected to have no impact on Dole s results of operations or financial position.

Note 3 Sale of Packaged Foods and Asia Fresh Produce Business

On September 17, 2012, Dole signed a definitive agreement (the Agreement) with ITOCHU Corporation (ITOCHU) for the sale of Dole s worldwide packaged foods and Asia fresh produce businesses (collectively, Dole Asia) for \$1.685 billion in cash (sale transaction). The operations of Dole Asia consist of Dole s Packaged Foods reportable operating segment, and Dole s Asia fresh produce business, which is a component of Dole s Fresh Fruit reportable operating segment (Asia Fresh). Additional consideration of \$29 million may be received if the acquirer chooses to exercise their option not to assume certain U.S. pension liabilities of Dole Asia. Cash proceeds from the transaction will be used by Dole for debt reduction, deal-related expenses, restructuring and other corporate purposes. In 2012, Dole recorded expenses of \$48.4 million related to the transaction, of which

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

\$32.3 million were for compensation related arrangements, which were unpaid as of December 29, 2012, and \$16.1 million were for transaction related expenses. ITOCHU paid Dole a non-refundable cash deposit of \$200 million to be applied toward the purchase price on February 22, 2013, and the parties agreed that, with limited exceptions, the deposit will be forfeited and retained by Dole if the closing does not occur by the expected close date of April 1, 2013. Dole used the \$200 million in cash to temporarily repay revolver borrowings, certain transaction related expenses, and general corporate purposes.

Note 4 Discontinued Operations

During the fourth quarter of 2012, Dole concluded that Dole Asia met the requirements to be presented as assets and liabilities held-for-sale and discontinued operations. Accordingly, the results of operations for Asia Fresh and Packaged Foods have been reclassified to discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Included in discontinued operations is interest expense and debt related costs associated with Dole s debentures, secured notes, revolving credit facility and its term loans for all historical periods presented. The interest expense and related costs associated with these debt instruments have been reclassified to discontinued operations because the terms of these instruments require immediate repayment of the outstanding debt balance upon consummation of the pending sale of Dole Asia. In addition, for all historical periods presented, had the sale of Dole Asia been previously consummated, the terms of the then outstanding debentures, secured notes, revolving credit facility and the term loans would have been required to be repaid in their entirety. These costs have been included in the Financing Related Items column in the table, below.

During 2006 Dole entered into an interest rate swap to synthetically convert \$320 million of its term loans into JPY denominated debt (cross currency swap). The cross currency swap did not qualify for hedge accounting and was marked to market each accounting period. In addition, during 2006, Dole also entered into an interest rate swap to synthetically convert \$320 million of term loans into fixed-rate debt. During 2011 Dole refinanced its liability under the Cross Currency Swap by entering into long-term Japanese yen hedges, and obtained hedge accounting for these hedges. Due to the fact that the cross currency swap and the interest rate swap were linked to the term loans of Dole, all of the income statement activity associated with these instruments has been presented within discontinued operations for all periods presented. In addition, since the long-term Japanese yen hedges were designated to hedge Dole s Yen-denominated revenue stream generated from the Dole Asia business, the income statement activity associated with the long-term Japanese yen hedges has been presented within discontinued operations for all periods presented. All amounts associated with these instruments have been presented in the Financing Related Items column in the table, below.

During the second quarter of 2008, Dole approved and committed to a formal plan to divest its fresh-cut flowers business. During the first quarter of 2009, the operations and the majority of the related assets of this business were sold. During 2010, Dole sold a building and a farm located in Colombia. During 2011, Dole sold a warehouse in Miami and a farm in Colombia. During 2012, Dole sold a farm in Colombia. The gains associated with these disposals are recorded in gain on disposal of discontinued operations. Refer to Note 9 Assets Held-for-Sale and Actively Marketed Land.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

The operating results of Dole Asia and fresh-cut flowers for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010 are reported in the following table:

	Dole Asia											
	A	sia Fresh	P	ackaged Foods		Financing Related items (In thous		Total Dole Asia)		esh-Cut lowers		Total
2012												
Revenues	\$ 1	1,333,677	\$ 1	,251,846	\$		\$ 2	2,585,523	\$	47	\$ 2	2,585,570
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$	(77,417)	\$	101,290	\$	(98,610)	\$	(74,737)	\$	(436)	\$	(75,173)
Income taxes		(6,179)		(41,384)		(27,307)		(74,870)		40		(74,830)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of												
income taxes	\$	(83,596)	\$	59,906	\$	(125,917)	\$	(149,607)	\$	(396)	\$	(150,003)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	\$		\$		\$		\$		\$	7,231	\$	7,231
										ĺ		,
2011												
Revenues	\$ 1	1,288,609	\$ 1	,197,106	\$		\$ 2	2,485,715	\$	476	\$ 2	2,486,191
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$	30,580	\$	95,945	\$	(178,057)	\$	(51,532)	\$	(129)	\$	(51,661)
Income taxes		(5,148)		(23,659)		20,216		(8,591)		(72)		(8,663)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of												
income taxes	\$	25,432	\$	72,286	\$	(157,841)	\$	(60,123)	\$	(201)	\$	(60,324)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	\$		\$		\$		\$		\$	339	\$	339
of income taxes	Ф		Ф		Ф		Ф		Ф	339	Ф	339
2010												
Revenues	\$ 1	1,115,389	\$ 1	,121,417	\$		\$ 2	2,236,806	\$	1,347	\$ 2	2,238,153
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$	6.038	\$	105,808	\$	(216,243)	\$	(104,397)	\$	790	\$	(103,607)
Income taxes	-	(9,515)	-	(28,784)	-	30,904	-	(7,395)	-	(161)	-	(7,556)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of												
income taxes	\$	(3,477)	\$	77,024	\$	(185,339)	\$	(111,792)	\$	629	\$	(111,163)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	\$		\$		\$		\$		\$	2,957	\$	2,957

Note 5 Charges for Restructuring

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

As a result of challenging market conditions in Dole s fresh fruit operations, Dole committed to a restructuring plan during the third quarter of 2010 in the fresh fruit segment in Europe, Latin America and Asia (2010 plan). These restructuring efforts are designed to reduce costs by realigning fruit supply with expected demand. As part of these initiatives, Dole restructured certain farming operations in Latin America and Asia, reorganized its European operations and rationalized vessel charters.

During the third quarter of 2011, Dole committed to further restructure its fresh fruit operations in Europe and Latin America, as well as restructure the fresh vegetables operations in Asia (2011 plan). As part of this plan, Dole consolidated certain operations in Europe to reduce overhead, restructured farming operations in Latin America, and further rationalized vessel charters. In addition, Dole ended certain unprofitable contractual arrangements in Asia.

76

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

As a result of these various initiatives, Dole expects to realize cash savings in its financial results. These savings are expected to result from lower production costs including lower labor costs on our farms and in our ports, enhanced farm productivity, lower distribution costs resulting from more efficient utilization of our shipping fleet, the termination of unprofitable contractual arrangements, and lower selling and general and administrative costs as a result of streamlining Dole s organization in Europe.

2010 Restructuring Plan

Dole incurred restructuring costs of \$1 million during 2012 related to the 2010 plan. Dole incurred cumulative restructuring costs of \$42.3 million since the third quarter of 2010 for this plan. Of these costs, \$20.9 million were paid or will be paid in cash, with the remaining amounts relating to the non-cash write-down of long-lived assets and deferred crop-growing costs of \$13.4 million and pension-related settlement charges of \$8 million. Severance charges relating to employee terminations involved approximately 3,580 employees. The 2010 plan was completed during the fourth quarter of 2012.

The following table summarizes restructuring charges related to the 2010 plan:

	Charges Charges Incurred in Incurred in Fiscal Fiscal Year 2010 Year 2011 (In thousa		Charges Incurred in Fiscal Year 2012 Isands)	Cumulative Charges Incurred
Severance and other employee-related costs	\$ 6,668	\$ 1,950	\$ 298	\$ 8,916
Contract termination and other costs	4,458	7,459	88	12,005
Pension-related settlement charges	5,449	2,533		7,982
Asset write-downs	4,769	8,036	586	13,391
Total charges incurred	\$ 21,344	\$ 19,978	\$ 972	\$ 42,294
Charges included in continuing operations	\$ 20,055	\$ 10,095	\$ 1,057	\$ 31,207
Charges included in discontinued operations	\$ 1,289	\$ 9,883	\$ (85)	\$ 11,087

A rollforward of Dole s restructuring liabilities related to the 2010 plan, which are classified in accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, is summarized as follows:

	Severance and Other Employee- Related Costs	Contract Termination and Other Costs (In thousands)	Total
Balance as of January 1, 2011	\$ 2,092	\$ 3,555	\$ 5,647
Charges incurred	1,950	7,459	9,409
Cash payments	(3,136)	(7,299)	(10,435)
Non-cash	(821)		(821)
Balance as of December 31, 2011	85	3,715	3,800
Charges incurred	298	88	386

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Cash payments Non-cash	(258) (125)	(1,064)	(1,322) (125)
Balance as of December 29, 2012	\$	\$ 2,739	\$ 2,739

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

2011 Restructuring Plan

Dole incurred restructuring costs of \$3.1 million during 2012 related to the 2011 plan. Dole incurred cumulative restructuring costs of \$13.3 million since the third quarter of 2011 for this plan. Of these costs, \$9.7 million were paid or will be paid in cash, with the remaining amounts relating to the non-cash write-down of long-lived assets of \$3.6 million and pension-related settlement charges of \$0.1 million. Severance charges relating to employee terminations involved approximately 525 employees. The 2011 plan was completed during the fourth quarter of 2012.

The following table summarizes restructuring charges related to the 2011 plan:

	Charges Incurred in Fiscal Year 2011	Charges Incurred in Fiscal Year 2012 (In thousands)	Cumulative Charges Incurred
Severance and other employee-related costs	\$ 442	\$ 389	\$ 831
Contract termination and other costs	6,294	2,537	8,831
Pension-related settlement charges	86		86
Asset write-downs	3,410	191	3,601
Total charges incurred	\$ 10,232	\$ 3,117	\$ 13,349
Charges included in continuing operations	\$ 6,317	\$ 3,071	\$ 9,388
Charges included in discontinued operations	\$ 3,915	\$ 46	\$ 3,961

A rollforward of Dole s restructuring liabilities related to the 2011 plan, which are classified in accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, is summarized as follows:

	Severance and Other Employee- Related Costs	Contract Termination and Other Costs (In thousands)	Total
Balance as of January 1, 2011	\$	\$	\$
Charges incurred	442	6,294	6,736
Cash payments	(248)	(1,913)	(2,161)
Non-cash		(146)	(146)
Balance as of December 31, 2011	194	4,235	4,429
Charges incurred	389	2,537	2,926
Cash payments	(165)	(5,576)	(5,741)
Non-cash		(12)	(12)
Balance as of December 29, 2012	\$ 418	\$ 1,184	\$ 1,602

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Note 6 Long-Term Receivables

At December 29, 2012, Dole s long-term financing receivables consisted of \$2.7 million of grower advances, net of \$4 million of allowances, a \$7 million note receivable related to the sale of the fresh-cut flowers business, \$19.9 million of notes receivable related to the sale of a German subsidiary and net long-term trade receivables of \$2.3 million, all of which are included in other assets, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 29, 2012. In addition, \$3.2 million of net long-term grower advances were included in assets held-for-sale.

78

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Dole monitors the collectability of grower advances through periodic review of financial information received from growers. At December 29, 2012, these advances included in other assets had an allowance for credit losses of \$4 million. Dole s historical losses on its long-term grower advances related to continuing operations have been immaterial and Dole expects this to continue.

At December 29, 2012, Dole had a \$7 million note receivable relating to the fiscal 2009 sale of the fresh-cut flowers business. This receivable is secured by properties that have an estimated fair value in excess of the note, which was due in January 2011. Two of the three Colombian companies that have granted mortgages in such properties to secure their guaranties of such note are currently under reorganization pursuant to Colombian Law 1116. Dole believes that the note will be collected, based on its position in the reorganization. During fiscal 2012, Dole received a cash payment of \$2.9 million, which Dole allocated \$1.3 million to repayment of principal on the note receivable and the remainder to interest. In exchange for the payment, Dole released the mortgage on one of the properties.

During the fourth quarter of 2011, Dole entered into an agreement to sell a German subsidiary. The sale was completed during the first quarter of 2012. Net consideration from the sale totaled approximately \$49.6 million (36 million). During fiscal 2012 Dole received cash proceeds of \$28 million (22 million), net of cash disposed, leaving a note receivable balance of \$21.2 million (14 million) at December 29, 2012 denominated in euros; the notes mature on various dates through March 2022. Of the remaining notes receivable, approximately \$19.9 million were recorded as long-term notes receivable. These notes receivable have annual minimum payment requirements based on the financial performance of the business and are collateralized by the business.

Dole has gross long-term trade receivables of \$19.1 million due from a customer in eastern Europe, for which it is not likely that payment will be received during the next year. During fiscal 2010 and 2009, Dole recorded provisions for bad debt of \$11.4 million and \$4.4 million, respectively. During fiscal 2012, Dole recorded a provision for bad debt of \$1 million, which is included in charges for restructuring and long-term receivables, bringing the total allowance for bad debt to \$16.8 million. The net receivable of \$2.3 million represents management s best estimate of its net realizable value after consideration of collateral securing the receivables.

Note 7 Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations was as follows:

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Current			
Federal, state and local	\$ 313	\$ 1,293	\$ 1,809
Foreign	10,688	13,693	7,533
	11,001	14,986	9,342
Deferred			
Federal, state and local	17,378	(39,985)	4,450
Foreign	(1,912)	(784)	1,797
	15,466	(40,769)	6,247
Non-current income tax expense (benefit)	(15,712)	23,713	(9,589)
• ` ` '	\$ 10,755	\$ (2,070)	\$ 6,000

79

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Pretax income (loss) attributable to foreign operations including earnings from discontinued operations, equity method investments and noncontrolling interests were \$30.6 million, \$106.4 million and (\$18.7) million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively. Dole has not provided for U.S. federal income and foreign withholding taxes on approximately \$2.2 billion of the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of investments that are essentially permanent in duration. Of this amount, \$414 million relates to the Dole Asia non-U.S. operations. Generally, such amounts become subject to U.S. taxation upon the remittance of dividends and under certain other circumstances. It is currently not practicable to estimate the amount of deferred tax liability related to investments in these foreign subsidiaries.

Dole s reported income tax expense (benefit) on continuing operations differed from the expense calculated using the U.S. federal statutory tax rate for the following reasons:

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Expense computed at U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 35%	\$ 2,064	\$ 33,292	\$ 27,115
Foreign income taxed at different rates*	12,799	(24,765)	(11,849)
State and local income tax, net of federal income taxes	1,053	(25,659)	95
Valuation allowances	797	(9,888)	(2,833)
Changes in liabilities for uncertain tax positions, net of tax benefits	(14,474)	24,000	(6,526)
Compensation arrangements and ITOCHU transaction related expenses	7,128		
Permanent items and other	1,388	950	(2)
Income tax expense (benefit)	\$ 10,755	\$ (2,070)	\$ 6,000

^{*} Included in foreign income taxed at different rates in 2011, above, are certain immaterial corrections of prior year items related to foreign locations.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) comprised the following:

	December 29, 2012	December 31, 2011		
	(In the	(In thousands)		
Intangibles	\$ (278,931)	\$ (276,172)		
Property, plant and equipment	(124,852)	(128,312)		
Investment and other asset basis differences	(81,083)	4,156		
Postretirement benefits	72,635	84,104		
Operating accruals	44,035	56,135		
Tax credit carryforwards	7,699	10,491		
Net operating loss and other carryforwards	193,197	210,138		
Valuation allowances	(112,517)	(167,842)		
Other, net	58,314	61,628		
	\$ (221,503)	\$ (145,674)		

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Dole has gross federal, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of \$265.9 million, \$781 million and \$220 million, respectively, at December 29, 2012. Dole has recorded deferred tax assets of \$93.1 million for federal net operating loss carryforwards, which, if unused, will expire between 2025 and 2031. Dole has recorded deferred tax assets of \$38.6 million for state operating loss carryforwards with varying expiration rules, which, if unused, approximately \$14.6 million will expire between 2013 and 2022. Dole has recorded deferred tax assets

80

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

of \$0.4 million for state capital loss carryforwards primarily relating to the sale of its fresh-cut flowers operations, which if unused expires in 2014. Dole has recorded deferred tax assets of \$61.1 million for foreign net operating loss carryforwards which are subject to varying expiration rules. Tax credit carryforwards of \$7.7 million include U.S. general business credit carryforwards of \$0.8 million which will expire between 2023 and 2031, \$0.5 million of alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards which can be carried forward indefinitely, state tax credit carryforwards of \$6.4 million of which \$1.2 million expires in 2026 and \$5.2 million can be carried forward indefinitely. Dole has recorded a U.S. deferred tax asset of \$44.8 million for disallowed interest expense which, although subject to certain limitations, can be carried forward indefinitely.

A valuation allowance has been established to offset certain state net operating loss carryforwards, state capital loss carryforwards, certain state tax credits and certain other state deferred tax assets, certain foreign net operating loss carryforwards, and certain other deferred tax assets in foreign jurisdictions. Dole has deemed it more likely than not that future taxable income in the relevant taxing jurisdictions will be insufficient to realize all of the related income tax benefits for these assets. The decrease in valuation allowances in 2012 for equity related items was \$0.1 million.

Total deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were as follows:

	December 29, 2012	December 31, 2011
D.f d 4	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ousands)
Deferred tax assets	\$ 378,427	\$ 618,126
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance	(112,517)	(167,842)
	265,910	450,284
Deferred tax liabilities	(487,413)	(595,958)
Net deferred tax liabilities	\$ (221,503)	\$ (145,674)
Total net current deferred tax assets consist of:		
Net current deferred tax assets	\$ 5,959	\$ 26,184
Net current deferred tax liabilities*	(103,836)	(21,539)
Total net current deferred tax assets	(97,877)	4,645
Total net non-current deferred tax liabilities consist of:		
Net non-current deferred tax assets*	5,301	31,358
Net non-current deferred tax liabilities	(128,927)	(181,677)
Total net non-current deferred tax liabilities	(123,626)	(150,319)
Total net deferred tax liabilities	\$ (221,503)	\$ (145,674)

^{*} Net current deferred tax liabilities are included in accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet and the net non-current deferred tax assets are classified in other assets, net in the consolidated balance sheet.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits was as follows:

	December 29, 2012	December 31, 2011 (In thousands)	January 1, 2011
Unrecognized tax benefits opening balance	\$ 97,427	\$ 106,420	\$ 109,308
Gross increases tax positions in prior period	11,597	29,275	4,807
Gross decreases tax positions in prior period	(12,058)	(6,184)	(1,746)
Gross increases tax positions in current period	5,441	9,660	1,774
Settlements*		(41,155)	
Lapse of statute of limitations	(17,610)	(589)	(7,723)
Unrecognized tax benefits ending balance	\$ 84,797	\$ 97,427	\$ 106,420

^{* 2011} activity represents a \$41 million reduction in gross unrecognized tax benefits due to the settlement of the federal income tax audit for the years 2002 2005 of which \$20 million represents a cash payment.

The total for unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and penalties, was \$92 million and \$108 million at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. If recognized, approximately \$90 million, net of federal and state tax benefits, would be recorded as a component of income tax expense and accordingly impact the effective tax rate. At this time, Dole believes that it is reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits could decrease in 2013 by cash payments of approximately \$20 million relating to non-U.S. audit settlements.

Dole recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to its unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income taxes in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Accrued interest and penalties before tax benefits were \$7.4 million and \$10.6 million at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. Of the total \$7.4 million, \$2.8 million is included in accrued liabilities. The remaining balance is included as a component of other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Interest and penalties recorded in Dole s consolidated statements of operations for 2012, 2011 and 2010 were (\$2.8) million, (\$3.9) million, and (\$3) million, respectively.

Dole Food Company, Inc. or one or more of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various states and foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, Dole is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years prior to 2006.

Income Tax Audits: Dole believes its tax positions comply with the applicable tax laws and that it has adequately provided for all tax related matters. Matters raised upon audit may involve substantial amounts and could result in material cash payments if resolved unfavorably. Management considers it unlikely that the resolution of these matters will have a material adverse effect on Dole s results of operations.

Internal Revenue Service Audit: On September 4, 2012, the IRS completed its examination of Dole s U.S. federal income tax returns for the years 2006-2008 and issued a Revenue Agent s report (RAR) that includes various proposed adjustments, including with respect to whether certain transactions with foreign affiliates or certain third party borrowings by Dole or its foreign affiliates created or are deemed to have created investments in U.S. property. The net tax deficiency associated with the RAR is \$132 million, after net operating loss utilization, plus interest. On November 9, 2012, Dole filed a protest letter challenging the proposed adjustments contained in the RAR and will pursue resolution of these issues with the Appeals Division of the IRS. Dole

82

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

believes, based in part upon the advice of its tax advisors, that its tax treatment of such transactions was appropriate. Although the timing and ultimate resolution of any issues arising from the IRS examination are highly uncertain, at this time Dole does not anticipate that the total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change within the next twelve months nor does Dole believe that any material tax payments will be made related to these matters within the next twelve months.

Note 8 Details of Certain Assets and Liabilities

Details of receivables and inventories were as follows:

	December 29, 2012 (In thou	December 31, 2011 sands)
Receivables:		
Trade	\$ 365,627	\$ 537,706
Notes and other	101,076	132,678
Grower advances	46,961	39,752
Unrealized hedging gains	663	7,195
	514,327	717,331
Allowance for doubtful accounts	(22,687)	(32,237)
	\$ 491,640	\$ 685,094
Inventories:		
Finished products	\$ 71,728	\$ 414,640
Raw materials and work in progress	50,724	131,287
Crop-growing costs	99,145	224,149
Operating supplies and other	20,144	59,441
	0.241.511	ф. 0 2 0.517
	\$ 241,741	\$ 829,517

Accounts payable consists primarily of trade payables.

Accrued liabilities included the following:

	December 29, 2012	December 31, 2011
	(In tho	usands)
Employee-related costs and benefits	\$ 129,605	\$ 138,189
Deferred income taxes current portion	103,836	21,539
Amounts due to growers	69,367	79,175
Unrealized losses on derivatives	36,107	70,730
Marketing and advertising	35,959	56,268
Shipping related costs	23,775	42,286
Materials and supplies	19,640	25,578

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

	\$ 535,364	\$ 541,730
Other	94,862	84,553
Interest	22,213	23,412

83

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Other long-term liabilities were as follows:

	December 29, 2012	,		
Accrued postretirement and other employee benefits	\$ 245,418	\$	285,067	
Unrealized losses on derivatives	35,145		123,304	
Liability for unrecognized tax benefits	39,936		64,526	
Other	75,973		75,594	
	\$ 396,472	\$	548,491	

Note 9 Assets Held-for-Sale and Actively Marketed Land

Dole continuously reviews its assets in order to identify those assets that do not meet Dole s future strategic direction or internal economic return criteria. As a result of this review, Dole has identified and is in the process of selling certain businesses and long-lived assets. Accordingly, Dole reclassified these assets as either held-for-sale or actively marketed land.

Total assets held-for-sale by segment were as follows:

		Discontinued Operations							
		F	resh	Packaged		Fr	esh-Cut	Tot	tal Assets
	Fresh Fruit	Veg	etables	Foods	Asia Fresh	F	lowers	Hel	d-for-Sale
				(In th	ousands)				
Balance as of December 31, 2011	\$ 66,805	\$	599	\$ 3,214	\$	\$	5,023	\$	75,641
Additions	1,034			1,038,023	819,823			1	,858,880
Sales	(52,839)						(1,811)		(54,650)
Reclassifications	(2,348)								(2,348)
Balance as of December 29, 2012	\$ 12,652	\$	599	\$ 1,041,237	\$ 819,823	\$	3,212	\$ 1	,877,523

Total liabilities related to assets held-for-sale by segment were as follows:

		Discontinued Operations							
	Fresh Fruit	Fresh Vegetables	Packaged Foods	Asia Fresh	Fresh-Cut Flowers		l Liabilities ld-for-Sale		
			(In t	housands)					
Balance as of December 31, 2011	\$ 49,117	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	49,117		
Additions			245,972	202,952			448,924		
Sales	(49,117)						(49,117)		
Balance as of December 29, 2012	\$	\$	\$ 245,972	\$ 202,952	\$	\$	448,924		

84

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

The major classes of assets held-for-sale included in Dole s consolidated balance sheet at December 29, 2012 were as follows:

		Discontinued Operations				
	Fresh Fruit	Fresh Vegetables	Packaged Foods (In th	Asia Fresh	Fresh-Cut Flowers	Total Assets Held-for-Sale
Assets held-for-sale:						
Receivables	\$	\$	\$ 131,634	\$ 106,214	\$	\$ 237,848
Inventories			414,228	197,770		611,998
Prepaid expenses and other assets			8,029	24,264		32,293
Deferred tax assets			1,541	4,299		5,840
Investments			1,058	16,375		17,433
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated						
depreciation	12,652	599	161,308	74,245	3,212	252,016
Goodwill			67,464	72,596		140,060
Intangibles, net			245,891	225,943		471,834
Other assets, net			10,084	98,117		108,201
Total assets held-for-sale	\$ 12,652	\$ 599	\$ 1,041,237	\$ 819,823	\$ 3,212	\$ 1,877,523

The major classes of liabilities held-for-sale included in Dole s consolidated balance sheet at December 29, 2012 were as follows:

	Discontinued Operations						
	Fresh Fr	Fresh uit Vegetables	Packaged Foods	Asia Fresh (In thousands)	Fresh-Cut Flowers		l Liabilities d-for-Sale
Liabilities related to assets held-for-sale:							
Accounts payable	\$	\$	\$ 119,473	\$ 86,100	\$	\$	205,573
Accrued liabilities			52,129	72,818			124,947
Current portion of long-term debt			329	590			919
Notes payable			33,925	9,000			42,925
Long-term debt			296	3,262			3,558
Deferred income tax liabilities				26			26
Other long-term liabilities			39,820	31,156			70,976
Total liabilities related to assets held-for-sale	\$	\$	\$ 245,972	\$ 202,952	\$	\$	448,924

Gains on asset sales by segment were as follows:

December	December	January
29,	31,	1,
2012	2011	2011
	(In thousands)	
\$ 12,913	\$ 4,541	\$ 3,017

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Fresh Vegetables

Total from Continuing Operations Fresh-Cut Flowers Discontinued Operations	12,913 7,231	4,541 339	3,017 4,143
Tiesh Cat Flowers Discontinued Operations	7,231	337	1,173
	\$ 20,144	\$ 4,880	\$ 7,160

85

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Proceeds from asset sales by segment were as follows:

	December 29, 2012	December 31, 2011 (In thousands)		nuary 1, 2011
Fresh Fruit	\$ 36,475	\$	32,683	\$ 26,053
Fresh Vegetables				
Total from Continuing Operations	36,475		32,683	26,053
Fresh-Cut Flowers Discontinued Operations	5,279		2,912	13,748
	\$ 41,754	\$	35,595	\$ 39,801

Asia Fresh and Packaged Foods Discontinued Operations

Dole Asia met the requirements to be presented as assets and liabilities held-for-sale during the fourth quarter of 2012. Under the terms of the Agreement, ITOCHU will receive a perpetual, non-transferable, royalty-free license to use the Dole trade name in Dole Asia s operations. As a result, Dole Asia was allocated a proportionate share of the Dole trade name of approximately \$460 million. The allocation has been determined based on the relative fair value of the Asia Fresh and Packaged Foods operations to that of Dole, as of December 29, 2012. Refer to Note 3 Sale of Worldwide Packaged Foods and Asia Fresh Produce Business.

In addition, since Asia Fresh represents a component of the Fresh Fruit reportable operating segment, Dole has allocated \$72.6 million of fresh fruit goodwill to the Asia Fresh component. The goodwill allocated to the Asia Fresh component has been based on the estimated relative fair value of Asia Fresh compared to the total estimated fair value of the Fresh Fruit reportable operating segment as of December 29, 2012.

Fresh Fruit

During the fourth quarter of 2011, Dole entered into an agreement to sell a German subsidiary which was part of the European ripening and distribution business within the fresh fruit segment. The sale was completed during the first quarter of 2012. Net consideration from the sale totaled approximately \$49.6 million (36 million). During fiscal 2012 Dole received cash proceeds of \$28 million (22 million), net of cash disposed, leaving a note receivable balance of \$21.2 million (14 million) at December 29, 2012 denominated in euros; the notes mature on various dates through March 2022. Dole has a corresponding deferred gain of \$21.2 million (14 million), which will be recognized as the notes receivable are collected. In addition, Dole may receive an earn-out of up to 10 million based on future operating performance of the business.

During 2012, Dole sold 230 acres of land in Hawaii for net cash proceeds of \$1.8 million and recorded a gain of \$1 million. At December 29, 2012, the assets held-for-sale balance in the fresh fruit reporting segment included approximately 2,050 acres of land in Hawaii. During 2012, Dole also completed the sale of farm land in Honduras for which Dole received cash proceeds of \$1.7 million and recorded a gain of \$1.7 million. Additionally, Dole sold farm land in Costa Rica for which Dole received cash proceeds of \$5.6 million and recorded a gain of \$4.5 million.

Fresh-Cut Flowers Discontinued Operations

At December 29, 2012, the assets held-for-sale balance in the fresh-cut flowers discontinued operations consisted of a portion of the real estate of the former flowers division. During the second quarter of 2012, Dole collected \$1.3 million on a \$8.3 million note receivable from the sale of the fresh-cut flowers business in fiscal 2009, refer to Note 6 Long-Term Receivables for additional information.

86

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

During the fourth quarter of 2012, Dole completed the sale of farm land in Colombia for \$9 million and recorded a gain of \$7.2 million. Dole received cash proceeds of \$4 million during fiscal 2012 and \$5 million during the first quarter of 2013.

Actively Marketed Land

Included in actively marketed land is land that does not meet Dole s future strategic direction or internal economic return criteria. The land that has been identified is available for sale in its present condition and an active program is underway to sell the properties. Dole is actively marketing these properties at a price that is in excess of book value but the timing of sale is uncertain. At December 29, 2012, actively marketed land consisted of approximately 14,200 acres of Hawaii land in the fresh fruit segment, with a net book value of \$74.8 million.

Note 10 Property, Plant and Equipment

Major classes of property, plant and equipment were as follows:

	December 29, 2012	December 31, 2011
	(In tho	usands)
Land and land improvements	\$ 411,245	\$ 484,805
Buildings and leasehold improvements	307,655	417,619
Machinery and equipment	511,070	853,127
Vessels and containers	149,173	156,356
Vessels and equipment under capital leases	84,322	85,987
Construction in progress	44,643	63,139
	1,508,108	2,061,033
Accumulated depreciation	(819,218)	(1,150,304)
•	, ,	
	\$ 688,890	\$ 910,729

Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

	Years
Land improvements	3 to 40
Buildings and leasehold improvements	2 to 50
Machinery and equipment	3 to 20
Vessels and containers	5 to 20
Vessels and equipment under capital leases	Shorter of useful life
	or life of lease

Depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment for continuing operations totaled \$61.9 million, \$63.1 million and \$75.8 million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 respectively. Depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment for discontinued operations totaled \$34.1 million, \$36.4 million and \$34.6 million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

87

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Note 11 Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill has been allocated to Dole s reporting segments as follows:

	Fresh Fruit	Fresh Vegetables (In thou	Packaged Foods isands)	Total
Balance as of January 1, 2011	\$ 275,430	\$ 71,206	\$ 60,611	\$ 407,247
Additions	1,313	13,553		14,866
Disposals	(4,000)			(4,000)
Balance as of December 31, 2011	\$ 272,743	\$ 84,759	\$ 60,611	\$ 418,113
Additions			6,853	6,853
Disposals	(11,000)			(11,000)
Transfer to assets held-for-sale	(72,596)		(67,464)	(140,060)
Balance as of December 29, 2012	\$ 189,147	\$ 84,759	\$	\$ 273,906

On October 11, 2011, Dole completed the acquisition of 100% of the capital stock of SunnyRidge Farms in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 11, 2011. The acquisition resulted in goodwill of \$13.6 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2011, Dole Spain was sold to a subsidiary of Compagnie Financière de Participations. As a result of the sale, \$4 million of goodwill associated with Dole Spain was written-off.

During the fourth quarter of 2011, Dole completed the acquisition of FaFi Fresh Cuts Oy (FAFI), a manufacturer of ready-for-use produce. FAFI is part of the European business within the fresh fruit segment. The acquisition resulted in goodwill of \$1.3 million.

During the first quarter of 2012, Dole completed the sale of a German subsidiary in the fresh fruit segment. As a result of the sale, \$11 million of goodwill attributable to this subsidiary was written-off. Refer to Note 9 Assets-Held-For-Sale and Actively Marketed Land for further information.

During the first quarter of 2012, Dole completed the acquisition of Mrs. May s Naturals, Inc. (Mrs. May s), a company committed to providing consumers with wholesome snacks for a healthier lifestyle. Mrs. May s is part of the packaged foods segment. Pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement, Dole purchased Mrs. May s for total consideration of approximately \$15 million, plus an annual earn-out up to \$0.5 million payable in 2013, 2014 and 2015. The acquisition resulted in goodwill of \$6.9 million. In addition, Dole recorded \$9.3 million of intangible assets consisting of \$7.1 million for customer relationships and \$2.2 million for trade names.

Dole Asia met the requirements to be presented as assets and liabilities held-for-sale during the fourth quarter of 2012. As a result, \$72.6 million of goodwill allocated to Asia Fresh and the entire goodwill balance associated with Packaged Foods were reclassified to assets-held-for-sale. In addition, approximately \$460 million of the Dole trade name that is related to Dole Asia has been reclassified to assets-held-for-sale. Refer to Note 9 Assets Held-for-Sale and Actively Marketed Land for additional information.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Details of Dole s intangible assets were as follows:

	December 29, 2012 (In the	December 31, 2011 ousands)
Amortizable intangible assets:		
Customer relationships	\$ 21,000	\$ 59,501
Other amortizable intangible assets	15,589	15,231
-		
	36,589	74,732
Accumulated amortization customer relationships	(2,585)	(31,755)
Other accumulated amortization	(2,331)	(579)
		, ,
Accumulated amortization intangible assets	(4,916)	(32,334)
		, , ,
Amortizable intangible assets, net	31,673	42,398
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:	7,112	,
Trademark and trade names	229,642	689,615
Total identifiable intangible assets, net	\$ 261,315	\$ 732,013

Amortization expense of intangibles included in continuing operations totaled \$3.9 million, \$0.8 million and \$0.1 million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively. Amortization expense of intangibles included in discontinued operations totaled \$4.8 million, \$3.7 million and \$3.7 million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

As of December 29, 2012, the estimated amortization expense for continuing operations associated with Dole s intangible assets in each of the next five fiscal years was as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year	Amount
2013	\$ 4,036
2014	\$ 4,036
2015	\$ 4,013
2016	\$ 3,993
2017	\$ 3,884

Dole performed its annual impairment test of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets during the second quarter of fiscal 2012. This test indicated no impairment to goodwill or any of Dole s indefinite-lived intangible assets. As market conditions change, Dole continues to monitor and perform updates of its impairment testing of recoverability of goodwill and long-lived assets.

In connection with the fourth quarter 2012 allocation of a portion of the Fresh Fruit segment goodwill and the portion of the Dole trade name related to Asia Fresh, the goodwill remaining in the Fresh Fruit segment and the Dole trade name remaining with Dole were tested for impairment during the fourth quarter of 2012. The test was based on the adjusted carrying amount of goodwill remaining and the adjusted carrying amount of trade name remaining. These tests indicated there was no impairment to the remaining fresh fruit goodwill and the remaining Dole trade name balances.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Note 12 Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt

Notes payable and long-term debt consisted of the following:

	December 29, 2012	December 31, 2011
	(In tho	usands)
Unsecured debt:		
8.75% debentures due 2013	\$ 155,000	\$ 155,000
Secured debt:		
13.875% notes due 2014	174,904	174,904
8% notes due 2016	315,000	315,000
Revolving credit facility	119,200	69,300
Term loan facilities	867,702	895,500
Contracts and notes, at a weighted average interest rate of 3.3% in 2012 (3.8% in		
2011) through 2018	4,052	7,294
Capital lease obligations, at a weighted average interest rate of 2.7% in 2012 (3.0% in 2011)	55,015	57,000
Notes payable, at a weighted average interest rate of 1.3% in 2012 (3.1% in 2011)	19,762	27,969
Unamortized debt discounts	(16,477)	(22,130)
	1,694,158	1,679,837
Current maturities, net of unamortized debt discounts	(181,512)	(38,725)
	\$ 1,512,646	\$ 1,641,112

During 2012, Dole reclassified the interest expense and the related costs associated with Dole s debentures, secured notes, revolving credit facility and its term loan facilities for all periods presented into discontinued operations. Concurrent with the consummation of the sale transaction, the unsecured debt and secured debt listed above will be repaid, defeased or discharged in full. Refer to Note 4 Discontinued Operations for additional information.

Notes Payable

Dole borrows funds primarily on a short-term basis to finance current operations. The terms of these borrowings range from one month to three months. Dole s notes payable at December 29, 2012 consist primarily of foreign borrowings in Latin America.

2011 Refinancing

Dole s senior secured term loan and the asset-based lending senior secured revolving credit facility (ABL revolver) were amended and restated on July 8, 2011 (2011 Refinancing). The amendments reduced borrowing rates on the ABL revolver, with an opportunity to also reduce future borrowing rates on the term loans and eliminated the financial maintenance covenants of total leverage ratio and minimum interest coverage ratio (such covenants had been in the previous term loan facilities, but not the revolving credit facility). The amended credit facilities included \$872.1 million of term debt due 2018 and provided a \$350 million revolving credit facility due 2016.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Notes and Debentures

In July 1993, Dole issued and sold debentures due 2013 (2013 Debentures). The 2013 Debentures are not redeemable prior to maturity and were issued at 99.37% of par. The 2013 Debentures will be repaid, defeased or discharged in full concurrent with the consummation of the sale transaction.

On March 18, 2009, Dole completed the sale and issuance of \$350 million aggregate principal amount of 13.875% Notes due 2014 (2014 Notes) at a discount of \$25 million. The 2014 Notes will be repaid, defeased or discharged in full concurrent with the consummation of the sale transaction. The 2014 Notes were sold to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act and to persons outside the United States in compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act. The sale was exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Interest on the 2014 Notes is paid semi-annually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year. The 2014 Notes have the benefit of a lien on certain U.S. assets of Dole that is junior to the liens of Dole s senior secured credit facilities (revolving credit and term loan facilities) and pari passu with the liens of the 2016 Notes, and are senior obligations of Dole ranking equally with Dole s existing senior debt. On November 30, 2009, Dole redeemed \$122.5 million of the 2014 Notes with proceeds from Dole s IPO.

During the third quarter of 2011, Dole repurchased and retired \$52.5 million of the 2014 Notes. As a result of the repurchase, Dole recorded a charge of \$13.5 million to discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations. The charge related to premiums paid in connection with the early debt retirement as well as the write-off of deferred debt issuance costs and debt discounts.

On September 25, 2009, Dole completed the sale and issuance of \$315 million aggregate principal amount of 8% Senior Secured Notes due 2016 (2016 Notes) at a discount of \$6.2 million. The 2016 Notes will be repaid, defeased or discharged in full concurrent with the consummation of the sale transaction. The 2016 Notes were sold to qualified institutional investors pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933 (Securities Act) and to persons outside the United States in compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act. The sale was exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Interest on the 2016 Notes is paid semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year. The 2016 Notes will mature on October 1, 2016. The 2016 Notes have the benefit of a lien on certain U.S. assets of Dole that is junior to the liens of Dole s senior secured credit facilities (revolving credit and term loan facilities) and pari passu with the liens of the 2014 Notes, and are senior obligations ranking equally with Dole s existing senior debt.

Interest on the notes and debentures is paid semi-annually. None of Dole s notes or debentures are subject to any sinking fund requirements. The notes and debentures are guaranteed by Dole s 100% owned domestic subsidiaries. Refer to Note 24 Guarantor Financial Information.

Term Loans and Revolving Credit Facility

As of December 29, 2012, the term loan facilities, which will be repaid in full concurrent with the consummation of the sale transaction, consisted of \$311.1 million of Term Loan B and \$556.6 million of Term Loan C. The term loan facilities bear interest, at Dole s option, at a rate per annum equal to either (i) the London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR) plus 3.75%, with a LIBOR floor of 1.25%; or (ii) a base rate plus 2.75%. Interest on the term loan facilities is payable quarterly in arrears or at maturity of LIBOR contracts. The weighted average variable interest rate at December 29, 2012 for Term Loan B and Term Loan C was 5.03%. The term loan facilities require quarterly principal payments, plus a balloon payment due in 2018.

As of December 29, 2012, there was \$119.2 million outstanding under the ABL revolver. Amounts outstanding under the ABL revolver, which will be repaid in full concurrent with the consummation of the sale transaction, bear interest, at Dole s option, at a rate per annum equal to either (i) LIBOR plus 1.75% to 2.25%, or

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

(ii) a base rate plus 0.75% to 1.25%, in each case, based upon Dole s historical borrowing availability under this facility. The weighted average variable interest rate at December 29, 2012 was 3.22%. As of December 29, 2012, the borrowing base for the ABL revolver was \$331.3 million. After taking into account approximately \$95.0 million of outstanding letters of credit issued under the ABL revolver and the outstanding ABL balance, Dole had approximately \$117.1 million available for borrowings as of December 29, 2012. The ABL revolver matures in 2016.

Capital Lease Obligations

At December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, included in capital lease obligations were \$54 million and \$54.3 million, respectively, of vessel financing related to two vessel leases denominated in British pound sterling. The capital lease obligation decreased primarily due to lease payments. The interest rates on these leases are based on LIBOR plus a spread. The remaining \$1.0 million of capital lease obligations relate primarily to machinery and equipment. Interest rates under these leases are fixed. The capital lease obligations are collateralized by the underlying leased assets. Total payments, including principal and interest, through the remaining life of the lease total approximately \$65.1 million. These leases expire in 2026.

Covenants

Provisions under the senior secured credit facilities and the indentures governing Dole s senior secured notes and debentures, all of which will be repaid, defeased or discharged in full concurrent with the consummation of the sale transaction, require Dole to comply with certain covenants. These covenants include limitations on, among other things, indebtedness, investments, liens, loans to subsidiaries, employees and third parties, the issuance of guarantees and the payment of dividends. The ABL revolver also contains a springing covenant, which would not be effective unless the availability under the ABL revolver were to fall below the greater of (i) \$35 million and (ii) 12.5% of the lesser of the Total Commitment (as defined) and the borrowing base. To date, the springing covenant has never been effective and Dole does not currently anticipate that the springing covenant will become effective. At December 29, 2012, Dole was in compliance with all applicable covenants.

A breach of a covenant or other provision in any debt instrument governing Dole s indebtedness could result in a default under that instrument and, due to customary cross-default and cross-acceleration provisions, could result in a default under Dole s other debt instruments. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under the senior secured credit facilities or other debt instrument, the lenders or holders of such debt could elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit. If Dole were unable to repay those amounts, the lenders could proceed against the collateral granted to them, if any, to secure the indebtedness. If the lenders under Dole s indebtedness were to accelerate the payment of the indebtedness, Dole cannot give assurance that its assets would be sufficiently liquid to repay in full its outstanding indebtedness on an accelerated basis.

Debt Issuance Costs

In connection with the 2011 Refinancing, Dole incurred debt issuance costs of \$13 million. During 2010, Dole incurred debt issuance costs of \$17 million related to the amendments of the senior secured credit facilities. During 2009, Dole incurred debt issuance costs of \$25.5 million in connection with the issuance of the 2016 Notes, as well as the issuance of the 2014 Notes and the amendment of Dole s senior secured credit facilities. Debt issuance costs are capitalized and amortized into interest expense over the term of the underlying debt. During the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, Dole amortized deferred debt issuance costs of \$5.4 million, \$5.8 million and \$6.6 million, respectively, which have been reflected in discontinued operations.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

As a result of the 2011 Refinancing, Dole recorded a charge of \$12.7 million which has been reflected in discontinued operations. The charge relates to fees incurred in connection with the refinancing as well as the write-off of debt issuance costs and debt discounts.

During 2010, Dole wrote off \$4.6 million of deferred debt issuance costs resulting from the amendment of the senior secured credit facilities, as well as the refinancing of the term loan facilities in connection with the amendments. The refinancing of the term loans and a portion of the ABL revolver, as a result of the amendments, was accounted for as extinguishment of debt. The charge was reflected in discontinued operations, net for the year ended January 1, 2011.

Debt discounts on term loan facilities in connection with the 2011 Refinancing were \$6.8 million. Debt discounts on term loan facilities in connection with 2010 amendments of the senior secured credit facilities totaled \$8.5 million. Debt discounts are amortized over the term of the underlying debt and have been reflected in discontinued operations. During the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, Dole amortized debt discounts of \$5.4 million, \$5.0 million and \$4.7 million, respectively.

Fair Value of Debt

Dole estimates the fair value of its unsecured notes and debentures based on current quoted market prices. The term loans are traded between institutional investors on the secondary loan market, and the fair values of the term loans are based on the last available trading price.

The carrying values and estimated fair values of Dole s debt based on level 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy are summarized below:

	Decembe	er 29, 2012	Decembe	er 31, 2011		
	Carrying Values			Estimated Fair Values		
		(In thousands)				
Secured and unsecured notes and debentures	\$ 637,637	\$ 681,731	\$ 633,970	\$ 694,314		
Term loans	858,492	867,702	884,304	888,784		

Carrying values are net of debt discounts.

Maturities of Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt

Stated maturities with respect to notes payable and long-term debt as of December 29, 2012 were as follows (in thousands), although all of the senior notes, debentures, term loan facilities and the ABL will be repaid, defeased or discharged in full concurrent with the consummation of the sale transaction,:

Fiscal Year	Amount
2013	\$ 181,512
2014	185,799
2015	9,604
2016	444,086
2017	11,012
Thereafter	862,145
Total	\$ 1,694,158

93

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Uncommitted Lines of Credit

In addition to amounts available under the revolving credit facility, Dole s continuing operation subsidiaries have uncommitted lines of credit of approximately \$26 million at various local banks, of which \$6.3 million was available at December 29, 2012. Dole s discontinued operation subsidiaries have uncommitted lines of credit of approximately \$141.2 million at various local banks, of which \$94.4 million was available at December 29, 2012. These lines of credit are used primarily for short-term borrowings, foreign currency exchange settlement and the issuance of letters of credit or bank guarantees. Several of Dole s uncommitted lines of credit expire in 2013, while others do not have a commitment expiration date. These arrangements may be cancelled at any time by Dole or the banks. Dole s ability to utilize these lines of credit may be impacted by the terms of its senior secured credit facilities and bond indentures.

Note 13 Employee Benefit Plans

Dole sponsors a number of defined benefit pension plans covering certain employees worldwide. Benefits under these plans are generally based on each employee s eligible compensation and years of service, except for certain plans covering union employees, which are based on negotiated benefits. In addition to pension plans, Dole has other postretirement benefit (OPRB) plans that provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees. Covered employees may become eligible for such benefits if they fulfill established requirements upon reaching retirement age.

In connection with the sale of Dole Asia, certain international pension plans and certain OPRB plans will be assumed by ITOCHU. In addition, ITOCHU has the option to pay Dole \$29 million and not assume a portion of the U.S. Pension Plan obligations that specifically relate to Dole Asia employees. Since Dole has determined that it is not probable as of December 29, 2012 that ITOCHU will assume the U.S. Pension Plan obligations that relate to Dole Asia employees, Dole has not included those balances in liabilities related to assets-held-for-sale.

Dole sponsors one qualified pension plan for U.S. employees, which is funded. All but one of Dole s international pension plans and all of its OPRB plans are unfunded.

Substantially all pension benefits for U.S. employees were frozen in 2002. There were approximately 125 employees who continue to earn benefits under the terms of collective bargaining agreements at December 29, 2012.

Dole uses a December 31 measurement date for all of its plans.

Pension Protection Act of 2006 and Worker, Retiree, and Employer Recovery Act of 2008

In August 2006, the Pension Protection Act of 2006 was signed into law. This legislation changed the method of valuing the U.S. qualified pension plan assets and liabilities for funding purposes, as well as the minimum funding requirements. The Worker, Retiree, and Employer Recovery Act of 2008 was signed into law in December 2008. The combined effect of these laws have been larger contributions since 2009, with the goal of being fully funded in the next several years. The amount of unfunded liability in future years will be affected by future contributions, demographic changes, investment returns on plan assets, and interest rates, so full funding may be achieved sooner or later. Dole anticipates funding pension contributions with cash from operations.

As a result of the Pension Protection Act of 2006, Dole anticipates making contributions to its U.S. qualified plan averaging approximately \$10.5 million per year over the next eight years.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Obligations and Funded Status The status of Dole s defined benefit pension and OPRB plans was as follows:

	U.S. Pension Plans Year		International Pension Plans Year				OPRB Plans Year			
	Ended December 29, 2012		ear Ended cember 31, 2011	Dec	Ended cember 29, 2012 (In tho	De	ear Ended cember 31, 2011 ds)	Ended December 29, 2012		ar Ended ember 31, 2011
Change in projected benefit obligation:					`					
Benefit obligation at beginning of period	\$ 305,721	\$	308,051	\$	118,325	\$	104,036	\$ 42,583	\$	42,037
Service cost	181		186		8,313		6,804	69		75
Interest cost	13,889		14,818		7,260		7,051	2,083		2,122
Plan amendments and other	847						1,294			1,778
Foreign currency exchange rate changes					3,823		(973)	60		
Actuarial loss	30,771		4,846		7,199		15,627	2,087		791
Curtailments, settlements and terminations, net					(4,440)		(7,111)			
Benefits paid	(22,260)		(22,180)		(9,787)		(8,403)	(3,975)		(4,220)
•										
Benefit obligation at end of period	\$ 329,149	\$	305,721	\$	130,693	\$	118,325	\$ 42,907	\$	42,583
Change in plan assets:										
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period	\$ 185,836	\$	194,655	\$	5,735	\$	5,270	\$	\$	
Actual return on plan assets	20,879		(3,173)		470		474			
Company contributions	18,364		16,534		14,233		16,304	3,975		4,220
Foreign currency exchange rate changes	- ,		- ,		392		(9)	- ,		, -
Benefits paid	(22,260)		(22,180)		(9,787)		(8,403)	(3,975)		(4,220)
Settlements					(4,440)		(7,901)			
Fair value of plan assets at end of period	\$ 202,819	\$	185,836	\$	6,603	\$	5,735	\$	\$	
Funded status	\$ (126,330)	\$	(119,885)	\$	(124,090)	\$	(112,590)	\$ (42,907)	\$	(42,583)
	+ (===,===)	-	(,)	-	(1,020)	-	(,,-)	+ (1=,201)	-	(12,000)
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:										
Current liabilities	\$ (2,963)	\$	(2,786)	\$	(6,100)	\$	(8,762)	\$ (3,836)	\$	(3,918)
Long-term liabilities	(123,367)		(117,099)		(62,404)		(103,828)	(38,081)		(38,665)
Liabilities held-for-sale					(55,586)			(990)		
	\$ (126,330)	\$	(119,885)	\$	(124,090)	\$	(112,590)	\$ (42,907)	\$	(42,583)

Of the projected benefit obligation, \$62.2 million and \$1.0 million related to Dole Asia for the international and OPRB plans, respectively. In addition, Dole Asia s share of the U.S. Pension plans projected benefit obligation was \$85.8 million as of December 29, 2012.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss were as follows:

	U.S. Pen Year	sion Plans	Internatio Year	nal Pension Plans	OP Year	OPRB Plans Year			
	Ended December 29, 2012	Year End December 2011	Ended 31, December 29 2012	2011	Ended	Year Ended December 31, 2011			
			(In	thousands)					
Net actuarial loss (gain)	\$ 138,880	\$ 121,8	368 \$ 27,542	\$ 23,262	\$ (22)	\$ (2,051)			
Prior service cost (benefit)			3,148	3,495	(12,183)	(15,707)			
Net transition obligation			3	5					
Income taxes	(48,884)	(42,7	795) (3,150)	(2,076	6,788	8,707			
Total	\$ 89,996	\$ 79,0	973 \$ 27,543	\$ 24,686	\$ (5,417)	\$ (9,051)			

Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the international pension plans includes \$6.6 million and \$4.1 million related to Dole Asia for the year ended December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. In addition, the accumulated other comprehensive loss for the OPRB plans includes \$0.4 million and \$5 million related to Dole Asia for the year ended December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.

All of Dole s pension plans were underfunded at December 29, 2012, having accumulated benefit obligations exceeding the fair value of plan assets. The aggregate projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were as follows:

	December 29, 2012	December 3 2011		
	(In thou	(In thousands)		
Projected benefit obligation	\$ 459,842	\$	424,046	
Accumulated benefit obligation	\$ 424,451	\$	391,993	
Fair value of plan assets	\$ 209,422	\$	191,571	

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost and Other Changes Recognized in Other Comprehensive Loss

The components of net periodic benefit cost and other changes recognized in other comprehensive loss for Dole s U.S. and international pension plans and OPRB plans were as follows:

	U.S. Pension Plans			International Pension Plans			
	Year Ended December 29, 2012	Year Ended December 31, 2011	Year Ended January 1, 2011 (In tho	Year Ended December 29, 2012 usands)	Year Ended December 31, 2011	Year Ended January 1, 2011	
Components of net periodic benefit cost:			`	ĺ			
Service cost	\$ 181	\$ 186	\$ 197	\$ 8,313	\$ 6,804	\$ 5,988	
Interest cost	13,889	14,818	15,677	7,260	7,051	7,015	
Expected return on plan assets	(15,293	3) (16,377)	(16,356)	(432)	(453)	(454)	
Amortization of:							
Net loss	8,168	6,617	3,853	1,672	906	463	
Prior service cost				397	422	697	
Net transition obligation				2	2	25	
Curtailments, settlements and terminations, net				1,223	1,705	2,099	
Restructuring related settlements and other					3,575	5,449	
Total net periodic benefit costs.	\$ 6,945	5 \$ 5,244	\$ 3,371	\$ 18,435	\$ 20,012	\$ 21,282	
Discontinued operations included in net periodic benefit cost	\$	\$	\$	\$ 7,039	\$ 7,656	\$ 6,083	
Other changes recognized in other comprehensive loss:							
Net loss (gain)	\$ 25,185	\$ 24,395	\$ 13,911	\$ 6,936	\$ 14,640	\$ 13,597	
Prior service cost			. ,			1,217	
Amortization of:						,	
Net loss (gain)	(8,168	3) (6,617)	(3,853)	(2,895)	(4,205)	(8,415)	
Prior service cost				(397)	(496)	(1,028)	
Transition obligation				(2)	(2)	(25)	
Foreign currency adjustment				290	(150)	209	
Income taxes	(6,089	(7,086)		(1,074)	(380)	(1,019)	
Total recognized in other comprehensive loss	\$ 10,928	\$ 10,692	\$ 10,058	\$ 2,858	\$ 9,407	\$ 4,536	
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive loss, net of income taxes	\$ 17,873	3 \$ 15,936	\$ 13,429	\$ 21,293	\$ 29,419	\$ 25,818	
•							

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

	Year Ended December 29, 2012	OPRB Plans Year Ended December 31, 2011 (In thousands)	Year Ended January 1, 2011
Components of net periodic benefit cost:	Φ (0	Φ 75	Φ 00
Service cost	\$ 69	\$ 75	\$ 82
Interest cost	2,083	2,122	2,343
Amortization of:			
Net loss (gain)	77	67	(117)
Prior service benefit	(3,524)	(3,524)	(3,524)
Restructuring related settlements and other		1,778	
Total net periodic benefit costs.	\$ (1,295)	\$ 518	\$ (1,216)
Discontinued operation included in net periodic benefit cost	\$ 56	\$ 58	\$ 57
Other changes recognized in other comprehensive loss: Net loss (gain) Prior service benefit	\$ 2,087	\$ 813	\$ 1,208
Amortization of:			
Net loss (gain)	(76)	(66)	117
Prior service benefit	3,524	3,524	3,524
Foreign currency adjustment	12		
Income taxes	(1,919)	(1,498)	
Total recognized in other comprehensive loss	\$ 3,628	\$ 2,773	\$ 4,849
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive loss, net of income taxes	\$ 2,333	\$ 3,291	\$ 3,633

The estimated actuarial net gain or loss, prior service benefit and transition obligation for the defined benefit pension plans that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year is \$14.8 million of expense. The estimated actuarial net gain and prior service benefit for the OPRB plans that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year is \$3.3 million of income.

Assumptions

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations were as follows:

	U.S. Pe Plai		Interna Pension		OPRB	Plans
	2012	2011	2012	2011	2012	2011
Discount rate	3.75%	4.72%	6.09%	6.51%	4.23%	5.13%
Rate of compensation increase			4.69%	5.01%		

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost were as follows:

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

	U.S.	U.S. Pension Plans		International Pension Plans			OPRB Plans		
	2012	2011	2010	2012	2011	2010	2012	2011	2010
Discount rate	4.72%	5.00%	5.50%	6.51%	7.06%	7.70%	5.13%	5.22%	5.85%
Compensation increase				5.01%	4.73%	5.37%			
Rate of return on plan assets	7.50%	8.00%	8.00%	7.25%	8.50%	10.00%			

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

International plan discount rates, assumed rates of increase in future compensation and expected long-term return on assets differ from the assumptions used for U.S. plans due to differences in the local economic conditions in the countries in which the international plans are based. No rate of compensation increase is shown for U.S. Plans because benefits under the U.S. plans are frozen except for a group of approximately 125 employees whose benefits are negotiated under collective bargaining agreements. The assumption for the rate of compensation increase for these employees reflects the rate negotiated in those bargaining agreements.

The accumulated pension benefit obligation for Dole s U.S. OPRB plan were determined using the following assumed annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits:

	2013	2012
Health care costs trend rate assumed for next year	7.5%	7.5%
Rate of increase to which the cost of benefits is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate)	5.0%	5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate	2018	2017

The health care plan offered to retirees in the U.S. who are age 65 or older was changed effective January 1, 2009 to provide the reimbursement of health care expenses up to a certain fixed amount. There is no commitment to increase the fixed dollar amount and no increase was assumed in determining the accumulated pension benefit obligation. Therefore, the trend rate applies only to benefits for U.S. retirees prior to age 65 and to foreign retirees.

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following impact on Dole s OPRB plans:

		One-Percentage-Point	One-Per	centage-Point
		Increase	De	ecrease
		(In	n thousands)	
	Increase (decrease) in service and interest cost	\$ 120	\$	(104)
	Increase (decrease) in postretirement benefit obligation	\$ 2,626	\$	(2,267)
n.	4 .			

Plan Assets

The following is the target asset mix for Dole s U.S. pension plan, which management believes provides the optimal tradeoff of diversification and long-term asset growth:

	Target
	Allocation
Fixed income securities	50%
Equity securities	49%
Private equity	1%

Dole s U.S. pension plan weighted average asset allocations by asset category were as follows:

	December 29, 2012	December 31, 2011
Fixed income securities	50%	50%
Equity securities	49%	49%

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Private equity	1%	1%
Total	100%	100%

99

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

The plan s asset allocation includes a mix of fixed income investments designed to reduce volatility and equity investments designed to maintain funding ratios and long-term financial health of the plan. The equity investments are diversified across U.S. and international stocks as well as growth, value, and small and large capitalizations.

Dole employs a total return investment approach whereby a mix of fixed income and equity investments is used to maximize the long-term return of plan assets with a prudent level of risk. The objectives of this strategy are to achieve full funding of the accumulated benefit obligation, and to achieve investment experience over time that will minimize pension expense volatility and minimize Dole s contributions required to maintain full funding status. Risk tolerance is established through careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded status and corporate financial condition. Investment risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through annual liability measurements, periodic asset/liability studies and quarterly investment portfolio reviews.

The pension plan did not hold any of Dole s common stock at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

Dole determines the expected return on pension plan assets based on an expectation of average annual returns over an extended period of years. Dole also considers the weighted-average historical rate of returns on securities with similar characteristics to those in which Dole s pension assets are invested.

Dole applies the 10% corridor approach to amortize unrecognized actuarial gains (losses) on both its U.S. and international pension and OPRB plans. Under this approach, only actuarial gains (losses) that exceed 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-related value of the plan assets are amortized. The amortization period is based on the average remaining service period of active employees expected to receive benefits under each plan or over the life expectancy of inactive participants where all, or nearly all, participants are inactive. For the year ended December 29, 2012, the average remaining service period used to amortize unrecognized actuarial gains (losses) for its domestic plans was approximately 8.5 years.

Plan Contributions and Estimated Future Benefit Payments

During 2012, Dole contributed \$16.5 million to its qualified U.S. pension plan. These contributions were made to comply with minimum funding requirements under the Internal Revenue Code. Dole expects to contribute approximately \$13.3 million to its U.S. qualified plan in 2013. Dole intends to make future contributions to the U.S. pension plan that will satisfy the minimum funding requirements. Future contributions to the U.S. pension plan in excess of the minimum funding requirement are voluntary and may change depending on Dole s operating performance or at management s discretion. Dole expects to make \$18.3 million of contributions related to its other U.S. and foreign pension and OPRB plans in 2013.

The following table presents estimated future benefit payments:

		Intern	ational		
	U.S. Pension Plans	Pen: Pla	sion ans	OPRB	Plans
Fiscal Year	Continuing Operations	Continuing Operations	Dole Asia	Continuing Operations	Dole Asia
2013	\$ 23,544	\$ 6,100	\$ 5,363	\$ 3,836	\$ 61
2014	22,570	5,368	7,424	3,736	62
2015	22,230	5,367	6,416	3,647	64
2016	22,012	5,344	6,502	3,548	66
2017	21,488	6,459	6,417	3,427	67
2018-2021	103,046	36,458	26,151	15,098	354

Edgar	Filina:	II-VI IN	C - Form	DFF	14A
Luuai	i iiiiiiu.	11 V 1 11 V		ν L	IT/

Total \$ 214,890 \$ 65,096 \$ 58,273 \$ 33,292 \$ 674

100

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Defined Contribution Plans

Dole offers defined contribution plans to eligible employees. Such employees may defer a percentage of their annual compensation in accordance with plan guidelines. Some of these plans provide for a Company match that is subject to a maximum contribution as defined by the plan. Company contributions to its defined contribution plans totaled \$11.2 million, \$10.1 million and \$6.5 million in the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2011, respectively.

Multi-Employer Plans

Dole is also party to various industry-wide collective bargaining agreements that provide pension benefits. Total contributions to multi-employer foreign benefit plans for eligible participants were approximately \$1.3 million, \$1.1 million and \$1.3 million in the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

The following table presents details for Dole s U.S. multi-employer defined benefit plan:

Pension Plan	EIN/Pension Plan Number Fiscal 2012 Fis	December 29December 31, January 1 iscal 2011 2012 2011 2011 (In thousands)	, Expiration Collective Bargaining Agreement
Western Conference of Teamsters Pension Plan	01 (145047 001 N / 17 1 N		9/15/2014
of Teamsters	91-6145047-001 Not critical No	Not critical \$ 779 \$ 779 \$ 685	

Note 14 Business Segments

Due to the reporting of the packaged foods reportable operating segment as discontinued operations, Dole has two reportable operating segments from continuing operations: fresh fruit and fresh vegetables. These reportable segments are managed separately due to differences in geography, products, production processes, distribution channels and customer bases.

The fresh fruit reportable operating segment (fresh fruit) primarily sells bananas, fresh pineapple and deciduous fruit, which are sourced from local growers or Dole-owned or leased farms located in Latin America, with significant selling locations in North America and Western Europe. Dole Asia s fresh produce business formerly was included in the fresh fruit reportable operating segment, but is reported as discontinued operations in this report as a result of the sale transaction.

The fresh vegetables reportable operating segment (fresh vegetables) sells packaged salads and has a line of fresh-packed products that includes iceberg and romaine lettuce, celery and fresh berries including strawberries and blueberries. Substantially all of the sales for fresh vegetables are generated in North America.

Dole s management evaluates and monitors segment performance primarily through earnings before interest expense and income taxes before discontinued operations (EBIT). EBIT is calculated by adding interest expense and income taxes to income (loss) from continuing operations, net of income taxes. Management believes that segment EBIT provides useful information for analyzing the underlying business results as well as allowing investors a means to evaluate the financial results of each segment in relation to Dole as a whole. EBIT is not defined under U.S. GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net income or cash flow measures prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP or as a measure of Dole s profitability. Additionally, Dole s computation of EBIT may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures computed by other companies because not all companies calculate EBIT in the same manner.

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

101

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Revenues for continuing operations were as follows:

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Revenues:			
Fresh fruit	\$ 3,141,192	\$ 3,757,048	\$ 3,694,487
Fresh vegetables	1,103,999	1,019,673	990,807
Corporate	1,517	1,703	1,564
	\$ 4,246,708	\$ 4,778,424	\$ 4,686,858

The table above includes intersegment revenues from the Dole Asia business of \$53 million, \$40 million and \$31 million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

EBIT for continuing operations was as follows:

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Fresh fruit EBIT	\$ 103,457	\$ 138,846	\$ 109,931
Fresh vegetables EBIT	24,839	31,355	34,328
Total operating segments EBIT	128,296	170,201	144,259
Corporate:			
Net unrealized loss on foreign denominated instruments	(474)	(1,724)	(3,173)
Share-based compensation	(7,539)	(5,808)	(4,533)
ITOCHU transaction costs	(48,395)		
Operating expenses, net	(47,709)	(53,333)	(44,257)
Corporate	(104,117)	(60,865)	(51,963)
Interest expense	(12,219)	(9,628)	(8,256)
Income taxes	(10,755)	2,070	(6,000)
Income from continuing operations	1,205	101,778	78,040
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes	(150,003)	(60,324)	(111,163)
Gain from disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	7,231	339	2,957
Net income (loss)	\$ (141,567)	\$ 41,793	\$ (30,166)

Corporate EBIT includes general and administrative costs not allocated to operating segments.

Substantially all of Dole s earnings from equity method investments, which have been included in EBIT in the table above, relate to the fresh fruit operating segment.

Financial Position:

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

	December 29, 2012 (In the	December 31, 2011 ousands)
Total assets:		
Fresh fruit	\$ 1,472,551	\$ 2,129,910
Fresh vegetables	509,233	489,091
Packaged foods		743,447
Total operating segments	1,981,784	3,362,448
Corporate	357,253	903,851
Discontinued operations	1,890,734	5,023
	\$ 4,229,771	\$ 4,271,322

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Depreciation and amortization by segment were as follows:

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Depreciation and amortization:			
Fresh fruit	\$ 37,367	\$ 40,869	\$ 53,039
Fresh vegetables	26,868	21,337	20,762
Total operating segments	64,235	62,206	73,801
Corporate	1,621	1,693	2,102
Discontinued operations	38,844	40,022	38,336
	\$ 104,700	\$ 103,921	\$ 114,239

Capital additions by segment were as follows:

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Capital additions:			
Fresh fruit	\$ 40,207	\$ 26,269	\$ 24,335
Fresh vegetables	19,900	10,080	22,387
Total operating segments	60,107	36,349	46,722
Corporate	240	332	643
Discontinued operations	48,567	40,624	52,493
	\$ 108,914	\$ 77,305	\$ 99,858

Dole s continuing operations revenues from external customers by country/region were as follows:

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Revenues from external customers:			
United States	\$ 2,206,980	\$ 2,199,630	\$ 2,045,428
Sweden	465,860	501,995	469,087
Canada	269,900	237,928	240,394
Germany	179,905	478,536	478,683
Italy	148,492	174,307	187,557
Spain	29,774	137,584	129,436
Other Euro zone countries	302,241	366,271	390,100
Other international	643,556	682,173	746,173
	Φ. 4. 2.4.C. 7.00	Φ 4 550 404	Φ.4.606.050
	\$ 4,246,708	\$ 4,778,424	\$ 4,686,858

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

No individual country in the Other international category above had revenues from external customers that were in excess of 5% of consolidated revenues.

103

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Dole s tangible long-lived assets by country/region were as follows:

	December 29, 2012	2012		
m '11 1 1' 1	(In the	(In thousands)		
Tangible long-lived assets:				
United States	\$ 476,588	\$	598,843	
Oceangoing assets	72,840		80,959	
Philippines			176,944	
Costa Rica	67,578		73,060	
Honduras	72,166		72,023	
Chile	26,629		25,969	
Ecuador	61,411		47,284	
Other international	83,766		136,300	
	\$ 860.978	\$	1.211.382	

Dole Asia s long-lived assets of approximately \$343 million at December 29, 2012 were included in assets-held-for-sale.

Note 15 Operating Leases and Other Commitments

In addition to obligations recorded on Dole s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 29, 2012, Dole has commitments under cancelable and non-cancelable operating leases, primarily for land, machinery and equipment, vessels and containers and office and warehouse facilities. A significant portion of Dole s lease payments are fixed.

Total rental expense, including rent related to cancelable and non-cancelable leases were as follows:

	December 29, 2012	December 31, 2011 (In thousands)		Ja	nuary 1, 2011
Continuing Operations:					
Rental expense, gross	\$ 118,536	\$	133,158	\$	156,908
Sublease income	(23,306)		(17,336)		(16,154)
	\$ 95,230	\$	115,822	\$	140,754
Discontinued Operations:					
Rental expense, gross	51,125		50,392		45,297
Sublease income	(152)		(83)		(157)
	\$ 50,973	\$	50,309	\$	45,140

Dole and Castle and Cooke, Inc. are parties to a corporate aircraft lease agreement in which the parties are responsible for 68% and 32%, respectively, of all obligations. The corporate aircraft lease agreement includes a residual value guarantee of up to \$7 million of which Dole s share is \$4.8 million at the termination of the lease in 2018. Dole does not currently anticipate any future payments related to this residual value

guarantee.

104

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

As of December 29, 2012, Dole s non-cancelable minimum lease commitments, including the residual value guarantee, before sublease income, were as follows:

Fiscal Year	Discontinued Operations	Continuing Operations (In thousands)	Total
2013	\$ 13,674	\$ 75,817	\$ 89,491
2014	10,722	53,460	64,182
2015	10,132	29,744	39,876
2016	9,251	17,499	26,750
2017	8,592	13,477	22,069
Thereafter	42,838	32,343	75,181
Total	\$ 95,209	\$ 222,340	\$ 317,549

Total expected future sublease income expected to be earned over 7 years is \$0.1 million for Dole Asia and \$20.9 million for Dole following the completion of the sale transaction.

In order to secure sufficient product to meet demand and to supplement Dole s own production, Dole historically has entered into non-cancelable agreements with independent growers, primarily in Latin America and North America, to purchase substantially all of their production subject to market demand and product quality. Prices under these agreements are generally tied to prevailing market rates and contract terms generally range from one to ten years. Total purchases under these agreements for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011were \$708.1 million, \$667.6 million and \$637.3 million, respectively. Of these total purchases, \$132.8 million, \$117.2 million and \$91.4 million were related to discontinued operations for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

At December 29, 2012, aggregate future payments under such purchase commitments (based on December 29, 2012 pricing and volumes) were as follows:

Fiscal Year	Discontinued Operations	Continuing Operations (In thousands)	Total
2013	\$ 42,007	\$ 559,123	\$ 601,130
2014	12,887	254,147	267,034
2015	12,022	85,563	97,585
2016	11,412	14,972	26,384
2017	10,870	13,803	24,673
Thereafter	12,869	13,803	26,672
Total	\$ 102,067	\$ 941,411	\$ 1,043,478

In order to ensure a steady supply of packing supplies and to maximize volume incentive rebates, Dole historically has entered into contracts for the purchase of packing supplies; some of these contracts run through 2014. Prices under these agreements are generally tied to prevailing market rates. Purchases under these contracts for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 were approximately \$209 million, \$199 million and \$190.4 million, respectively. Of these total contracts, \$44.9 million, \$46.7 million and \$32.9 million were related to discontinued operations for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

105

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Under these contracts, Dole was committed at December 29, 2012 to purchase packing supplies, assuming current price levels, as follows:

Fiscal Year	Discontinued Operations	Continuing Operations (In thousands)	Total
2013	\$ 19,715	\$ 199,884	\$ 219,599
2014	7,539	90,000	97,539
Total	\$ 27,254	\$ 289,884	\$ 317,138

Dole has numerous collective bargaining agreements with various unions covering approximately 45% of Dole s continuing operations hourly full-time and seasonal employees. Of these unionized employees, 57% are covered under a collective bargaining agreement that will expire within one year and the remaining 43% are covered under collective bargaining agreements expiring beyond the upcoming year. Dole Asia has collective bargaining agreements with various unions that cover approximately 29% of employees, of which 92% are covered under collective bargaining agreements that expire within one year, and 8% that expire beyond the upcoming year. These agreements are subject to periodic negotiation and renewal. Failure to renew any of these collective bargaining agreements may result in a strike or work stoppage; however, management does not expect that the outcome of these negotiations and renewals will have a material adverse impact on Dole s financial condition or results of operations.

Note 16 Derivative Financial Instruments

Dole is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, bunker fuel price fluctuations and interest rate changes in the normal course of its business. As part of its risk management strategy, Dole uses derivative instruments to hedge some of these exposures. Dole s objective is to offset gains and losses resulting from these exposures with losses and gains on the derivative contracts used to hedge them, thereby reducing volatility of earnings. Dole does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Cash Flow Hedges

Certain of Dole s foreign currency derivative instruments are designated as cash flow hedges. Specifically, Dole designated certain of its foreign currency exchange forward contracts and participating forward contracts as cash flow hedges of its forecasted revenue and operating expense transactions. As a result, changes in fair value of the foreign currency derivative instruments since hedge designation, to the extent effective, are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (AOCI) in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and are reclassified into earnings in the same period the underlying transactions affect earnings. Changes in the fair value of any portion of a cash flow hedge deemed ineffective are recognized into current period earnings.

Interest Rate Swap, Cross Currency Swap and Related Restricted Deposits, and Long-term Japanese Yen Hedges

Dole entered into an interest rate swap in 2006 to hedge future changes in interest rates. This agreement effectively converted \$320 million of borrowings under Term Loan C, which was variable-rate debt, to a fixed-rate basis that matured June 16, 2011.

In connection with the March 2010 refinancing transaction, some of the terms of Dole s senior secured credit facilities were amended. Dole evaluated the impact of these amendments on its hedge designation for its

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

interest rate swap and determined not to re-designate the interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge of its interest rate risk associated with Term Loan C. As a result, changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap after de-designation on March 2, 2010 were recorded in interest expense. The unrealized loss in AOCI was recognized into interest expense through the June 2011 maturity as the underlying Term Loan C interest payments were made. As a result of the reclassification of Dole Asia s results of operations into discontinued operations, interest expense related to the interest rate swap for all periods presented has been reclassified to discontinued operations for all periods presented.

During 2006 (subsequently amended in 2009), Dole executed a cross currency swap to synthetically convert \$320 million of Term Loan C into Japanese yen denominated debt in order to effectively lower the U.S. dollar fixed interest rate. The cross currency swap was scheduled to mature in June 2011. During 2009, Dole entered into a collateral arrangement that required Dole to provide collateral to its counterparties when the fair market value of the cross currency and interest rate swaps exceeded a combined liability of \$35 million.

During the first quarter of 2011, Dole entered into a transaction to effectively unwind the cross currency swap by refinancing its obligation under the cross currency swap and entering into a series of long-term Japanese yen hedges that mature through December 2014. As a result of the unwind of the cross currency swap, the collateral arrangement with the counterparties was no longer required. The long-term Japanese yen hedges require Dole to buy U.S. Dollars and sell Japanese yen at an exchange rate of ¥101.3. At inception, these contracts were in a liability position and the total notional amount outstanding of the long-term Japanese yen hedges was \$596.3 million. At December 29, 2012 the liability was approximately \$70.1 million, and the total notional amount outstanding of the long-term Japanese yen hedges was \$387.4 million. The value of these contracts will fluctuate based on changes in the exchange rate over the life of the individual forward contracts.

Upon entering into the long-term Japanese yen hedges, Dole designated the long-term Japanese yen forward contracts as cash flow hedges of its forecasted Japanese yen revenue stream. Due to the fact that there is a significant financing element present at the inception of the long-term Japanese yen hedges, the cash inflows or outflows associated with settlement of these contracts are included within the financing activities in Dole s consolidated statement of cash flows. While the long-term Japanese yen hedges were designated as cash flow hedges, a portion of the long-term Japanese yen hedges were deemed ineffective. With respect to this portion, changes in the fair value of the hedges were recorded directly to income because the ineffectiveness was considered to be caused by the financing element of this instrument. As a result of the reclassification of Dole Asia s results of operations into discontinued operations, amounts recorded to other income (expense), net for the cross currency swap and the long-term Japanese yen hedges for all periods have been presented in discontinued operations.

As a result of Dole executing a definitive agreement with ITOCHU on September 17, 2012 to sell Dole Asia, it was no longer considered to be probable that the forecasted Japanese yen revenue streams in 2013 and 2014 would occur. Accordingly, Dole de-designated these contracts as cash flow hedges on that date. Changes in the fair value of these hedges subsequent to September 17, 2012, were recorded to other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations. During the fourth quarter of 2012, management determined that it was no longer reasonably possible that the forecasted Japanese yen revenue streams would occur; the amounts remaining in AOCI for the long-term Japanese yen forward contracts were reclassified to discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations. On March 8, 2013, Dole entered into an agreement to settle the long-term Japanese yen hedges, for \$25.1 million payable after the close of the sale transaction.

107

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

At December 29, 2012, the gross notional amounts of Dole s derivative instruments are as follows:

	Average Strike Price (In thousands, except a	Notional Amount iverage strike pric	
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedging instruments:			
Foreign currency hedges (buy/sell):			
U.S. dollar/Euro	EUR 1.28/\$	\$ 141,16	57
Chilean peso/U.S. dollar	CLP 490.47/\$	26,61	15
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:			
Foreign currency hedges (buy/sell):			
U.S. dollar/Japanese yen	JPY 101.30/\$	387,39	93
South African rand/Euro	ZAR 11.63/	2,73	35
South African rand/U.S. dollar	ZAR 8.95/\$	1,26	50
South African rand/ British pound sterling	ZAR 14.16/£	£ 40	00
Bunker fuel hedges	USD 565/mt	18,833r	nt

The following table presents the derivative assets (liabilities) at fair value for derivatives designated as cash flow hedging investments:

	Balance Sheet Classification	December 29, 2012 (In the	December 31, 2011 ousands)
Assets:			
Foreign currency exchange contracts	Receivables, net	\$ 137	\$ 5,427
		137	5,427
Liabilities:			
Foreign currency exchange contracts	Accrued liabilities	$(1,688)^{(1)}$	(70,730)
	Other long-term liabilities		(123,304)
		(1,688)	(194,034)
Total derivatives designated as cash flow hedging instruments		\$ (1,551)	\$ (188,607)

⁽¹⁾ This balance is a net amount comprised of participating forward hedges with assets of \$1.6 million and liabilities of \$3.3 million. The following table presents the derivative assets (liabilities) at fair value for derivatives not designated as cash flow hedging investments:

	Balance Sheet Classification	December 29, 2012	December 31, 2011
		(In the	ousands)
Assets:			

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Foreign currency exchange contracts	Receivables, net	\$	72	\$ 205
Bunker fuel hedges	Receivables, net		454	1,563
			526	1,768
Liabilities:				
Foreign currency exchange contracts	Accrued liabilities	(34	4,419)	
	Other long-term liabilities	(3:	5,145)	
		(69	9,564)	
		,	,	
Total derivatives not designated as cash flow hedging instruments		\$ (69	9,038)	\$ 1,768

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Settlement of the foreign currency hedges will occur during 2013 through 2014 and settlement of bunker fuel hedges will occur during 2013.

The effect of the interest rate swap and foreign currency hedges designated as cash flow hedging instruments on accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and on the consolidated statements of operations were as follows:

	December 29, 2012	Gains (Losses) Recognized in AOCI During Year Ended December 31, 2011	January 1, 2011
		(In thousands)	
Interest rate swap	\$	\$	\$ 680
Foreign currency hedges ⁽¹⁾	27,397	(48,533)	(13,416)

				Gains (Losses)			
				Recognized in Income			
				due to Hedge			
					Ineffectiveness		
		Gains (Losses	s)	or amounts Excluded			
		Reclassified from Effectiveness			ess		
Into Income During Testing During			<u> </u>				
		Year Ended			year Ended		
Classification in	December 29,	December 31	, January 1,	December 29	, December 31,	January 1,	
Statement of Operations	2012	2011	2011	2012	2011	2011	
			(In thou	sands)			
Discontinued operations	\$	\$ (6,644)	\$ (13,802)	\$	\$	\$	
Cost of products sold	9,135	(2,459)	10,352	370	(278)	28	
Discontinued							
operations ⁽²⁾	(22,270)	(22,367)	(5,987)	3,568	6,686	3,479	
	Statement of Operations Discontinued operations Cost of products sold Discontinued	Classification in Statement of Operations Discontinued operations Cost of products sold Discontinued Pecember 29, 2012 \$ 9,135	Classification in Statement of Operations Discontinued operations Discontinued operations Statement of Operations Output Discontinued operations Statement of Operations Output Discontinued Reclassified Into Income Dur Year Ended December 31 2011 Statement of Operations Statement of Operations Statement of Operations Output Discontinued	Classification in Statement of Operations Statement of Operations	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Classification in Statement of Operations Statement of Operations	

- (1) Amounts related to the long-term Japanese yen hedges have been included in this line item.
- (2) Included in this balance is the remaining AOCI balance associated with the long-term Japanese yen forward contract of \$13.7 million that was reclassified to discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations once management found it no longer reasonably possible that the forecasted transaction would occur.

Unrealized gains and losses on the interest rate swap were recorded through AOCI through the de-designation date. Amounts included in AOCI as of the de-designation date were being amortized into interest expense as the quarterly payments were made through maturity of the interest rate swap in June 2011. As a result of the reclassification of Dole Asia s results of operations into discontinued operations, interest expense related to the interest rate swap for all periods presented is recorded in discontinued operations. All unrecognized losses of \$0.7 million related to the foreign currency hedges are expected to be realized into earnings in the next twelve months.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Net gains (losses) on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments, prior to being designated or post de-designation as derivative instruments were as follows:

Classification in							
	Statement of Operations	December 29, 2012		, , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		January 2011	
Foreign currency exchange contracts	Cost of products sold	\$	150	\$	(1,146)	\$	829
Bunker fuel contracts	Cost of products sold		627		4,648		1,356
Foreign currency exchange contracts	Other income (expense), net		44		2		
Cross currency swap	Discontinued operations				(1,902)	((58,776)
Long-term Japanese yen hedges	Discontinued operations	43	3,572		(26,723)		
Interest rate swap	Discontinued operations				(16)		(174)
Total		\$ 44	1,393	\$	(25,137)	\$ ((56,765)

Note 17 Fair Value Measurements

Dole s financial instruments primarily consist of short-term trade and grower receivables, trade payables, notes receivable and notes payable, as well as long-term grower receivables, derivatives, capital lease obligations, term loans, a revolving loan, and notes and debentures. For short-term instruments, the carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. For long-term financial instruments, excluding Dole s secured and unsecured notes and debentures, and term loans, the carrying amount approximates fair value since they bear interest at variable rates or fixed rates which approximate market.

The inputs used to measure fair value are based on a hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used in valuation techniques. These levels, in order of highest to lowest priority are described below:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but corroborated by market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.

The following table provides a summary of the assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Fair Value
Measurements
Using Significant
Other Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)
December 29, December 31,
2012 2011
(In thousands)

Assets:

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Foreign currency exchange contracts	\$	209	\$ 5,632
Bunker fuel contracts		454	1,563
	\$	663	\$ 7,195
Liabilities:			
Foreign currency exchange contracts	\$ (7	71,252)	\$ (194,034)
	\$ (7	(0,589)	\$ (186,839)

110

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

For Dole, the assets and liabilities that are required to be recorded at fair value on a recurring basis are the derivative instruments. The fair values of Dole s derivative instruments are determined using Level 2 inputs, which are defined as significant other observable inputs. The fair values of the foreign currency exchange contracts and bunker fuel contracts were estimated using internal discounted cash flow calculations based upon forward foreign currency exchange rates, bunker fuel futures, interest-rate yield curves or quotes obtained from brokers for contracts with similar terms less any credit valuation adjustments. Dole recorded a credit valuation adjustment at December 29, 2012 which reduced the derivative liability balances. The credit valuation adjustment was \$0.5 million at December 29, 2012 and \$10.5 million at December 31, 2011.

The following table shows the change in the credit valuation adjustment in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and the portion that is reflected in OCI:

	December 29, 2012		ember 31, 2011
Unrealized gain (loss) recorded in other income (expense), net	\$	(8,045)	\$ 8,126
Unrealized gain (loss) recorded in OCI		(1,946)	1,946
	\$	(9,991)	\$ 10,072

During the second quarter of 2012, \$1 million of long-term trade receivables were written down to their estimated fair values based on Level 3 inputs.

In addition to assets and liabilities that are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis, Dole is required to record assets and liabilities at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. Nonfinancial assets such as goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and long-lived assets are measured at fair value when there is an indicator of impairment and recorded at fair value only when an impairment is recognized.

The goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment analysis were performed by Dole during 2012 using a combination of discounted cash flow models and market multiples. The discounted cash flow models used estimates and assumptions including pricing and volume data, anticipated growth rates, profitability levels, tax rates and discount rates. The fair value of the goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset are highly sensitive to differences between estimates and actual cash flows and changes in the related discount rate used to evaluate the fair value of these assets.

Credit Risk

The counterparties to the foreign currency and bunker fuel forward contracts and the interest rate and cross currency swaps consist of a number of major international financial institutions. Dole has established counterparty guidelines and regularly monitors its positions and the financial strength of these institutions. While counterparties to hedging contracts expose Dole to credit-related losses in the event of a counterparty s non-performance, the risk would be limited to the unrealized gains on such affected contracts. Dole does not anticipate any such losses.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fair Value of Retirement Plan Assets

Dole estimates the fair value of its retirement plan assets based on current quoted market prices. In instances where quoted market prices are not readily available, the fair value of the investments is estimated by the trustee. The carrying value and estimated fair values of Dole s retirement plan assets are summarized below:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using				
	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3) thousands)	December 29, 2012
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 533	\$	\$	\$ 533
U.S. government securities	13,405	1,682		15,087
Foreign government/state/municipal securities	362	1,098		1,460
Corporate debt instruments		26,828		26,828
Common stock	1,301			1,301
Interest in registered investment companies	10,151			10,151
Common collective trusts		92,403	1,005	93,408
Interests in limited partnerships			174	174
Interest in 103-12 investment companies		38,777	8,897	47,674
Unallocated annuity contracts			11,302	11,302
Preferred stock and other		1,077		1,077
Due from broker for investments	427			427
Total	\$ 26,179	\$ 161,865	\$ 21,378	\$ 209,422

	Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using							
	Active M Ide	Prices in larkets for ntical ssets vel 1)	O	ficant Other bservable outs (Level 2) (In th	Unob	nificant servable (Level 3)	Dec	cember 31, 2011
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	508	\$	`	\$		\$	508
Corporate debt instruments				3,462				3,462
Common stock		973						973
Interest in registered investment companies	2	7,106						27,106
Common collective trusts				87,678		1,439		89,117
Interests in limited partnerships						365		365
Interest in 103-12 investment companies				50,740		7,351		58,091
Unallocated annuity contracts						11,149		11,149
Preferred stock and other				800				800
Total	\$ 28	3,587	\$	142,680	\$	20,304	\$	191,571

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

The table below sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the plan s Level 3 assets for the years ended December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

	Fair Value Measurements Using significant					
	Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)					
	Common Collective Trusts	Interest in Limited Trusts	Unallocated Annuity Contracts (In thousands)	Interest in 103-12 Investment Companies	Total	
Beginning balance January 1, 2011	\$ 1,652	\$ 4	\$ 10,762	\$ 14,534	\$ 26,952	
Net realized and unrealized gains/(losses)	171			(1,866)	(1,695)	
Net purchases, issuances and settlements	(384)		387	(5,317)	(5,314)	
Net transfer in or (out) of Level 3		361			361	
Beginning balance December 31, 2011	1,439	365	11,149	7,351	20,304	
Net realized and unrealized gains/(losses)	74	(15)		1,620	1,679	
Net purchases, issuances and settlements	(508)	(176)	153	(74)	(605)	
Net transfer in or (out) of Level 3						
Ending balance December 29, 2012	\$ 1,005	\$ 174	\$ 11,302	\$ 8,897	\$ 21,378	

Note 18 Contingencies

Dole is a guarantor of indebtedness of some of its key fruit suppliers and other entities integral to Dole s operations. At December 29, 2012, guarantees of \$6.5 million consisted primarily of amounts advanced under third-party bank agreements to independent growers that supply Dole with product, all related to Dole s discontinued operations. Dole has not historically experienced any significant losses associated with these guarantees.

Dole issues letters of credit and bank guarantees through its ABL revolver and, in addition, separately through major banking institutions. Dole also provides bonds issued by insurance companies. These letters of credit, bank guarantees and insurance company bonds are required by certain regulatory authorities, suppliers and other operating agreements. As of December 29, 2012, total letters of credit, bank guarantees and bonds outstanding under these arrangements were \$195 million, of which \$12.8 million related to discontinued operations.

Dole also provides various guarantees, mostly to foreign banks, in the course of its normal business operations to support the borrowings, leases and other obligations of its subsidiaries. Dole guaranteed \$133.2 million of its subsidiaries obligations to their suppliers and other third parties as of December 29, 2012, \$24.8 million of these guarantees related to discontinued operations.

Dole has change of control agreements with certain key executives, under which severance payments and benefits would become payable in the event of specified terminations of employment in connection with a change of control (as defined) of Dole. The consummation of the sale transaction is considered a change of control under the change of control agreements. Related to these agreements, Dole accrued \$24.4 million at December 29, 2012.

Dole is involved from time to time in claims and legal actions incidental to its operations, both as plaintiff and defendant. Dole has established what management currently believes to be adequate reserves for pending legal matters. These reserves are established as part of an ongoing worldwide assessment of claims and legal

113

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

actions that takes into consideration such items as changes in the pending case load (including resolved and new matters), opinions of legal counsel, individual developments in court proceedings, changes in the law, changes in business focus, changes in the litigation environment, changes in opponent strategy and tactics, new developments as a result of ongoing discovery, and past experience in defending and settling similar claims. In the opinion of management, after consultation with outside counsel, the claims or actions to which Dole is a party are not expected to have a material adverse effect, individually or in the aggregate, on Dole s financial position or results of operations.

DBCP Cases: A significant portion of Dole s legal exposure relates to lawsuits pending in the United States and in several foreign countries, alleging injury as a result of exposure to the agricultural chemical DBCP (1,2-dibromo-3-chloropropane). DBCP was manufactured by several chemical companies including entities of The Dow Chemical Company and Royal Dutch Shell plc and registered by the U.S. government for use on food crops. Dole and other growers applied DBCP on banana farms in Latin America and the Philippines and on pineapple farms in Hawaii. Specific periods of use varied among the different locations. Dole halted all purchases of DBCP, including for use in foreign countries, when the U.S. EPA cancelled the registration of DBCP for use in the United States in 1979. That cancellation was based in part on a 1977 study by a manufacturer which indicated an apparent link between male sterility and exposure to DBCP among factory workers producing the product, as well as early product testing done by the manufacturers showing testicular effects on animals exposed to DBCP. To date, there is no reliable evidence demonstrating that field application of DBCP led to sterility among farm workers, although that claim is made in the pending lawsuits. Nor is there any reliable scientific evidence that DBCP causes any other injuries in humans, although plaintiffs in the various actions assert claims based on cancer, birth defects and other general illnesses.

Currently there are 194 lawsuits, in various stages of proceedings, alleging injury as a result of exposure to DBCP or seeking enforcement of Nicaragua judgments. In addition, there are 77 labor cases pending in Costa Rica under that country s national insurance program.

Of the 194 lawsuits, 16 are currently pending in various jurisdictions in the United States. One case in Los Angeles Superior Court, the last remaining lawsuit brought in the United States by Nicaraguan plaintiffs, was dismissed after the Court found that the plaintiffs and their representatives engaged in blatant fraud, witness tampering and active manipulation. On March 11, 2011, the Court issued a final Statement of Decision, followed on March 31, 2011 by a Judgment, that vacates the prior judgment and dismisses all plaintiffs—claims with prejudice. Plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal of that judgment on May 6, 2011, and briefing is expected to be completed in the second quarter of 2013. The remaining lawsuits are pending in Latin America and the Philippines. Claimed damages in DBCP cases worldwide total approximately \$36 billion, with lawsuits in Nicaragua representing approximately 85% of this amount. Typically in these cases, Dole is a joint defendant with the major DBCP manufacturers. Except as described below, none of these lawsuits has resulted in a verdict or judgment against Dole.

In Nicaragua, 163 cases are currently filed (of which 13 are active) in various courts throughout the country, all but three of which were brought pursuant to Law 364 (including one new case that was served on November 21, 2011), an October 2000 Nicaraguan statute that contains substantive and procedural provisions that Nicaragua s Attorney General formally opined are unconstitutional. In October 2003, the Supreme Court of Nicaragua issued an advisory opinion, not connected with any litigation, that Law 364 is constitutional. Twenty-five cases have resulted in judgments in Nicaragua: \$489.4 million (nine cases consolidated with 465 claimants) on December 11, 2002; \$82.9 million (one case with 58 claimants) on February 25, 2004; \$15.7 million (one case with 20 claimants) on May 25, 2004; \$4 million (one case with four claimants) on May 25, 2004; \$56.5 million (one case with 72 claimants) on June 14, 2004; \$64.8 million (one case with 85 claimants) on June 15, 2004; \$27.7 million (one case with 36 claimants) on March 17, 2005; \$46.4 million (one case with 62 claimants) on

114

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

August 20, 2005; \$38.4 million (one case with 192 claimants) on November 14, 2007; and \$357.7 million (eight cases with 417 claimants) on January 12, 2009, which Dole learned of unofficially. Except for the latest one, Dole has appealed all judgments. Dole will appeal the \$357.7 million judgment once it has been served.

In all but one of the active cases where the proceeding has reached the appropriate stage, Dole has sought to have the cases returned to the United States. In all of the cases where Dole s request to return the case to the United States has been ruled upon, the courts have denied Dole s request and Dole has appealed those decisions.

Dole believes that none of the Nicaraguan judgments will be enforceable against any Dole entity in the U.S. or in any other country, because Nicaragua s Law 364 is unconstitutional and violates international principles of due process. Among other things, Law 364 is an improper special law directed at particular parties; it requires defendants to pay large, non-refundable deposits in order to even participate in the litigation; it provides a severely truncated procedural process; it establishes an irrebuttable presumption of causation that is contrary to the evidence and scientific data; and it sets unreasonable minimum damages that must be awarded in every case.

On October 23, 2006, Dole announced that its subsidiary, Standard Fruit de Honduras, S.A., reached an agreement with the Government of Honduras and representatives of Honduran banana workers. This agreement establishes a Worker Program that is intended by the parties to resolve in a fair and equitable manner the claims of male banana workers alleging sterility as a result of exposure to DBCP. The Honduran Worker Program will not have a material effect on Dole s financial position or results of operations. The official start of the Honduran Worker Program was announced on January 8, 2007. On August 15, 2007, Shell Oil Company was included in the Worker Program.

As to all the DBCP matters, Dole has denied liability and asserted substantial defenses. Dole believes there is no reliable scientific basis for alleged injuries from the agricultural field application of DBCP. Nevertheless, Dole is looking to resolve all DBCP litigation and claims once and for all. Although no assurance can be given concerning the outcome of the DBCP cases, in the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel and based on past experience defending and settling DBCP claims, neither the pending lawsuits and claims nor their resolution are expected to have a material adverse effect on Dole s financial position or results of operations.

European Union Antitrust Inquiry: On October 15, 2008, the European Commission (EC) adopted a Decision against Dole Food Company, Inc. and Dole Fresh Fruit Europe OHG and against other unrelated banana companies, finding violations of the European competition (antitrust) laws. The Decision imposes 45.6 million in fines on Dole.

The Decision follows a Statement of Objections, issued by the EC on July 25, 2007, and searches carried out by the EC in June 2005 at certain banana importers and distributors, including two of Dole s offices.

Dole received the Decision on October 21, 2008 and appealed the Decision to the European General Court in Luxembourg on December 24, 2008. Oral argument on the appeal was held on January 25, 2012. The General Court has given notice that its decision will be issued on March 14, 2013, which Dole believes could result in a possible resolution of this matter.

Dole made an initial \$10 million (7.6 million) provisional payment towards the 45.6 million fine on January 22, 2009. As agreed with the European Commission (DG Budget), Dole provided the required bank guaranty for the remaining balance of the fine plus interest to the EC by the deadline of April 30, 2009. The bank guaranty renews annually during the appeals process (which may take several years) and carries interest of 6.15%

115

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

(accrued from January 23, 2009). If the European General Court fully agrees with Dole s arguments presented in its appeal, Dole will be entitled to the return of all monies paid, plus interest.

Although no assurances can be given, and although there could be a material adverse effect on Dole s financial position or results of operations, Dole believes that it has not violated the European competition laws.

Honduran Tax Case: In 2005, Dole received a tax assessment from Honduras of approximately \$137 million (including the claimed tax, penalty, and interest through the date of assessment) relating to the disposition of all of Dole s interest in Cervecería Hondureña, S.A in 2001. Dole believes the assessment is without merit and filed an appeal with the Honduran tax authorities, which was denied. As a result of the denial in the administrative process, in order to negate the tax assessment, on August 5, 2005, Dole proceeded to the next stage of the appellate process by filing a lawsuit against the Honduran government in the Honduran Administrative Tax Trial Court. The Honduran government sought dismissal of the lawsuit and attachment of assets, which Dole challenged. The Honduran Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the Honduran intermediate appellate court that a statutory prerequisite to challenging the tax assessment on the merits is the payment of the tax assessment or the filing of a payment plan with the Honduran courts; Dole has challenged the constitutionality of the statute requiring such payment or payment plan. Dole and the Honduran government are discussing the terms and conditions of a final resolution of the pending lawsuits and tax-related matters. Although no assurance can be given concerning the outcome of this case, in the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, the pending lawsuits and tax-related matters are not expected to have a material adverse effect on Dole s financial position or results of operations.

Former Shell Site: Shell Oil Company and Dole were sued in several cases filed in Los Angeles Superior Court, beginning in 2009, alleging property damage and personal injury by persons claiming to be current or former residents in the area of a housing development built in the 1960s by a predecessor of what is now a Dole subsidiary, on land that had been owned and used by Shell as a crude oil storage facility for 40 years prior to the housing development. On April 20, 2011, the Court dismissed the case with prejudice, including all claims against Dole. On August 11, 2011, the Court overturned its dismissal in response to plaintiffs motion for reconsideration and permitted the filing of a second amended complaint by plaintiffs. The defendants filed motions to dismiss plaintiffs second amended complaint, which have been denied, except that Shell s motions were granted to dismiss certain property damage claims and certain claims based on the allegation that Shell had engaged in ultra-hazardous activity. The California Regional Water Quality Control Board is supervising the cleanup on the former Shell site. On March 11, 2011, the Water Board issued a Cleanup and Abatement Order naming Shell as the Discharger and a Responsible Party, and ordering Shell to assess, monitor, and cleanup and abate the effects of contaminants discharged to soil and groundwater at the site. On April 22, 2011, the Water Board sent Dole a letter requiring Dole to supply information concerning ownership, development and activities of the former Shell site, which Dole did on September 15, 2011.

Note 19 Related Party Transactions

David H. Murdock, Dole s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, owns, *inter alia*, Castle and Cooke, Inc. (Castle), a transportation equipment leasing company and a hotel. During the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, Dole paid Mr. Murdock s companies an aggregate of approximately \$6.6 million, \$8.7 million and \$9 million, respectively, primarily for the rental of truck chassis, generator sets and warehousing services. Castle purchased approximately \$0.5 million, \$0.5 million and \$0.6 million of products from Dole during the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

116

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

During the fourth quarter of 2008, Dole and North Carolina State University executed a twenty-year sublease agreement pursuant to which Dole s research center occupies eleven thousand gross square feet of office and laboratory in Kannapolis, North Carolina. Castle is the owner of the property. The rent expense paid to North Carolina State University was \$0.7 million, \$0.7 million and \$0.6 million for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

Dole and Castle are responsible for 68% and 32%, respectively, of all obligations under an aircraft lease arrangement. Prior to fiscal 2009, each party was responsible for the direct costs associated with its use of this aircraft, and all other indirect costs were shared proportionately. Effective at the beginning of fiscal 2009, the indirect costs are shared based upon each party s actual percentage of usage for the year. During the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, Dole s share of the direct and indirect costs for this aircraft was \$2.0 million, \$2.1 million and \$2.3 million, respectively.

Dole had a number of other transactions with Castle and other entities owned by Mr. Murdock, on an arms-length basis, none of which, individually or in the aggregate, were material. At December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, Dole had due from Castle outstanding net accounts receivable of \$0.7 million and \$0.4 million, respectively. At January 2, 2010, Dole had due from Castle outstanding net accounts receivable of less than \$0.1 million and a note receivable of \$9.8 million. During 2010, Dole collected \$5.7 million which, represented its share of the note receivable. The remaining \$4.1 million note receivable was ultimately disbursed during 2010 as a non-cash distribution.

Note 20 Shareholders Equity

Dole s authorized share capital as of December 29, 2012 consisted of 310 million shares, of which 300 million were designated as \$0.001 par value common stock, and 10 million were designated as \$0.001 par value preferred stock. Of the 300 million common shares authorized, 89 million shares were issued and outstanding (included in this balance are 710,001 restricted stock awards which are outstanding but pending vesting) at December 29, 2012. Of the 10 million preferred shares authorized, there were no shares issued and outstanding at December 29, 2012.

Dividends

Dole did not declare or pay a dividend during the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011. Dole s ability to declare and pay future dividends is subject to limitations contained in its senior secured credit facilities and bond indentures. At present, under such limitations, Dole could not declare or pay dividends exceeding \$25 million in the aggregate.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of changes to shareholders—equity, other than contributions from or distributions to shareholders, and net income (loss). Dole—s other comprehensive income (loss) principally consists of unrealized foreign currency translation gains and losses, unrealized gains and losses on cash flow hedging instruments, and minimum pension liability. The components of, and changes in, accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are presented in Dole—s Consolidated Statements of Shareholders—Equity.

117

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Note 21 Earnings Per Share

	December 29, 2012 (In thous	Dec	Year Ended tember 31, 2011 cept per share		nuary 1, 2011 ts)
Income (loss) from continuing operations excluding net income attributable					
to noncontrolling interests, net of income taxes	\$ (96)	\$	100,491	\$	76,742
Loss from discontinued operations excluding net income attributable to					
noncontrolling interests, net of income taxes	(151,598)		(62,471)	(113,823)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	7,231		339		2,957
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ (144,463)	\$	38,359	\$	(34,124)
			,		`
Weighted average common shares outstanding Basic	87,840		87,619		87,451
Dilutive effects of stock incentive plan	07,010		462		215
District creets of stock incentive plan			102		213
Weighted average common shares outstanding Diluted	87,840		88,081		87,666
weighted average common shares outstanding Diruted	07,040		00,001		67,000
Faminas Day Chaus Dayin					
Earnings Per Share Basic: Income from continuing operations excluding net income attributable to					
- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	\$ 0.00	\$	1.15	\$	0.88
noncontrolling interest, net of income taxes Loss from discontinued operations excluding net income attributable to	\$ 0.00	Þ	1.13	Ф	0.00
	(1.72)		(0.71)		(1.20)
noncontrolling interests, net of income taxes	(1.72)		(0.71)		(1.30)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	0.08				0.03
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ (1.64)	\$	0.44	\$	(0.39)
Earnings Per Share Diluted:					
Income from continuing operations excluding net income attributable to					
noncontrolling interests, net of income taxes	\$ 0.00	\$	1.14	\$	0.88
Loss from discontinued operations excluding net income attributable to					
noncontrolling interests, net of income taxes	(1.72)		(0.70)		(1.30)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	0.08				0.03
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ (1.64)	\$	0.44	\$	(0.39)
~ ·					

Anti dilutive shares of 823 thousand have been excluded from the calculation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding for the year ended December 29, 2012.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Note 22 Share-Based Compensation

Under our 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (2009 Plan), we have registered 13,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance. The 2009 Plan provides for issuance of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, performance units, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and deferred stock units, any of which may be performance-based, and for incentive bonuses, which may be paid in cash or stock or a combination of both, to eligible employees, officers, non-employee directors and persons who have been retained to provide consulting, advisory or other services to Dole or any of its subsidiaries. The non-qualified stock options were time-based and expire 10 years from the grant date, three months after employee termination, one year after the date of an employees retirement or death, if earlier, or March 31, 2014, in the case of: (1) a category of employees who have a change of control agreement and whose employment with Dole will be terminating as a result of the sale transaction; and (2) a category of employees whose employment is continuing with ITOCHU or one of the acquired entities in the sale transaction, and who have accepted such continuing employment in writing with a release to Dole pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement. In addition, the stock options vest over a three year period, with shares becoming exercisable in equal annual installments of 33.3 percent. The restricted stock awards and restricted stock units are time-based and either vest at the end of a one-year period, vest over a three-year period in equal annual installments of 33.3 percent, or vest at the end of the three-year period. As of December 29, 2012, Dole had 7,340,046 shares of common stock available for future issuance of awards under the 2009 Plan. The shares of common stock to be issued under the 2009 Plan are made available from authorized and unissued Dole common stock.

Under the terms of Dole s 2009 Plan, the sale of Dole Asia will result in a change of control as defined under the Plan, and as a result, the employees of Dole will immediately vest in their entire award, with no further service required beyond the date of the consummation of the sale of Dole Asia. As such, the requisite service period for all of the outstanding awards was originally based on the contractual vesting period of the awards, but now is based on the estimated closing date of the sale of Dole Asia given that Dole concluded in the fourth quarter of 2012 that the sale of Dole Asia was probable of occurring. Since the estimated requisite service period has been shortened to the estimated close date of the pending sale of Dole Asia, the recognition of the remaining unrecognized compensation cost will be accelerated on a prospective basis and will be recognized through the estimated close date of the sale of Dole Asia. As a result, we estimate that substantially all of the remaining unrecognized compensation associated with the outstanding awards granted under the 2009 Plan will be recognized during the first quarter of 2013.

Total share-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations was as follows:

	2012	2011 (In thousands)	2010
Cost of products sold	\$ 88	\$ 111	\$ 35
Selling, marketing and general administrative expenses	10,693	7,814	5,961
Total share-based compensation for continuing operations	10,781	7,925	5,996
Estimated income tax benefit included in provision for income taxes	(3,121)	(2,757)	
Total share-based compensation for continuing operations, net of estimated income tax			
benefits	\$ 7,660	\$ 5,168	\$ 5,996
Total share-based compensation for discontinued operations, net of estimated income tax			
benefits of (\$291), (\$197), \$0	1,581	1,021	646
Total share-based compensation, net of estimated income tax benefits	\$ 9,241	\$ 6,189	\$ 6,642

Table of Contents 166

119

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Stock Options

A summary of stock option activity for fiscal 2012 was as follows:

	Shares Under Option (In thousands)	A	eighted- verage cise Price	Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual Life	In	gregate trinsic Value nousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 Granted	3,719	\$	10.41	8.9 years	\$	
Exercised	(381)	\$	9.50		\$	934
Cancelled						
Outstanding at December 29, 2012	3,338	\$	10.52	7.9 years	\$	4,073
Expected to vest in the future at December 29, 2012	1,220	\$	9.24	8.6 years	\$	2,488
Exercisable at December 29, 2012	2,062	\$	11.31	7.4 years	\$	1,471

The unrecognized compensation expense calculated under the fair value method for shares expected to vest (unvested shares net of expected forfeitures) as of December 29, 2012 was approximately \$4.8 million.

Dole estimates the fair value of share-based payments using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model, which was developed for use in determining the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Option valuation models, including the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model, require the input of assumptions, including expected term, expected volatility, dividend yield, and risk free rate. Changes in the input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimates and ultimately how much Dole recognizes as share-based compensation expense. No stock options were granted during 2012. The weighted average fair value per share of stock options granted during 2011 and 2010 were \$4.02 and \$4.33, respectively, as estimated at the date of grant. The weighted average input assumptions used and resulting fair values were as follows:

	2011	2010
Expected life (in years)	6	6
Risk-free interest rate	1.2%	1.9%
Expected volatility	45.7%	44.2%
Dividend yield		

Restricted Stock Awards

A summary of restricted stock activity for fiscal 2012 was as follows:

Shares	Weighted	Weighted
(In thousands)	Average	Average
	Grant Date	Remaining

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

		Fai	ir value	Contractual Life
Unvested at December 31, 2011	1,193	\$	10.66	1.8 years
Granted				
Vested	(477)	\$	12.50	
Cancelled	(6)	\$	11.12	
Unvested at December 31, 2011	710	\$	9.42	1.4 years
Expected to vest in the future at December 29, 2012	674	\$	9.42	1.4 years

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

The fair value of Dole s restricted stock awards were estimated at the date of the grant. The grant date fair value is the stock price on the date of grant. The weighted average fair value per share of restricted stock awards granted during 2011 and 2010 were \$9.11 and \$9.74, respectively. The unrecognized compensation expense calculated under the fair value method for shares expected to vest (unvested shares net of expected forfeitures) as of December 29, 2012 was approximately \$2.9 million. The total fair value of the restricted stock awards vested during 2012, 2011 and 2010 was \$6 million, \$0.9 million and \$0.9 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

A summary of restricted stock unit activity for fiscal 2012 was as follows:

	Shares (In thousands)	Weighted Average Grant Date Fair value	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life	
Unvested at December 31, 2011	180	\$ 9.96	2.2 years	
Granted				
Vested	(33)	\$ 12.50		
Cancelled				
Unvested at December 29, 2012	147	\$ 9.39	1.5 years	
Expected to vest in the future at December 29, 2012	140	\$ 9.39	1.5 years	

The fair value of Dole s restricted stock units were estimated at the date of the grant. The grant date fair value is the stock price on the date of grant. The weighted average fair value per share of restricted stock units granted during 2011 and 2010 were \$9.14 and \$9.74, respectively. The unrecognized compensation expense calculated under the fair value method for shares expected to vest (unvested shares net of expected forfeitures) as of December 29, 2012 was approximately \$0.6 million. The total fair value of the restricted stock units vested during 2012 was \$0.4 million.

Performance Shares

A summary of performance shares activity for fiscal 2012 was as follows:

	Shares (In thousands)	Weighted Average Grant Date Fair value	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life
Unvested at December 31, 2011	183	\$ 14.45	2 years
Granted	229	\$ 10.11	•
Vested			
Cancelled			
Unvested at December 29, 2012	412	\$ 12.04	1.6 year

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Expected to vest in the future at December 29, 2012

392 \$ 12.04

1.6 year

The fair value of Dole s performance shares were estimated at the date of the grant. The grant date fair value is the stock price on the date of grant. The weighted average fair value per share of performance shares granted during 2011 was \$14.45, no shares were granted in fiscal 2010. Each quarter Dole assesses the probability of vesting for the performance shares which is used to derive the compensation expense, and makes changes as

121

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

needed. The unrecognized compensation expense calculated under the fair value method for shares expected to vest (unvested shares net of expected forfeitures) as of December 29, 2012 was approximately \$2.4 million.

The performance shares granted during 2012 represent performance shares given to employees during 2011 for which the performance metric was finalized during February 2012. During February 2012, the Corporate Compensation and Benefits Committee of the Board of Directors finalized the performance metric (net debt reduction, as defined), thereby establishing a grant date for accounting purposes. Under the terms of the performance share agreement, award recipients can receive up to 200% of the shares granted dependent upon achievement of the performance metric.

Note 23 Equity Method Investments

Dole s consolidated net income (loss) includes the proportionate share of the net income or loss of Dole s equity method investments in affiliates. When Dole records the proportionate share of net income, it increases earnings from equity method investments in Dole s consolidated statements of operations and the carrying value in that investment. Conversely, when Dole records the proportionate share of a net loss, it decreases earnings from equity method investments in Dole s consolidated statements of operations and the carrying value in that investment. Dole eliminates from its consolidated financial results all significant intercompany transactions, including the intercompany portion of transactions with equity method investees.

The summarized financial information presented below represents the combined accounts (at 100 percent) of Dole s equity method investees:

Summarized Statement of Operations information for fiscal year	2012	2011	2010
		(In thousands)	
Revenues, net	\$ 1,509,927	\$ 1,650,199	\$ 1,183,877
Gross margin	185,597	241,997	424,397
Operating income	26,724	36,594	35,095
Net income	12,696	12,431	19,444

Summarized Balance Sheet information	December 29, 2012 (In tho	December 31, 2011 usands)
Current assets	\$ 473,821	\$ 535,212
Noncurrent assets	363,222	342,714
Total assets	837,043	877,926
Current liabilities	313,955	407,384
Noncurrent liabilities	243,547	218,176
Total liabilities	557,502	625,560
Shareholders equity	263,398	237,879
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interests	16,143	14,487
Total equity	279,541	252,366
Dole s total equity method investments	102,960	96,867

During the year ended December 29, 2012, purchases from Dole s equity method investees were approximately \$222 million, and sales to Dole s equity method investees were approximately \$109 million. In addition, Dole incurred approximately \$9 million in costs during 2012 related to operating service agreements with certain equity method investees.

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

Dole has one principal equity method investment, Compagnie Financière de Participations ($\,$ CF $\,$), a company in which Dole holds a non-controlling 40% ownership interest. CF accounts for approximately 74% of the December 29, 2012 investment balance.

122

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

Note 24 Guarantor Financial Information

Dole s 100% owned domestic subsidiaries (Guarantors) have fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a joint and several basis, Dole s obligations under the indentures related to the 2013 Debentures, the 2014 Notes and the 2016 Notes, all of which will be repaid, defeased or discharged in full concurrent with the consummation of the sale transaction. Each Guarantee is subordinated in right of payment to the Guarantors existing and future senior debt, including obligations under the senior secured credit facilities, and will rank pari passu with all senior subordinated indebtedness of the applicable Guarantor.

The accompanying Guarantor consolidating financial information is presented on the equity method of accounting for all periods presented. Under this method, investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost and adjusted for Dole s share in the subsidiaries cumulative results of operations, capital contributions and distributions and other changes in equity. Elimination entries relate to the elimination of investments in subsidiaries and associated intercompany balances and transactions as well as cash overdraft and income tax reclassifications.

123

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following are consolidating statements of operations of Dole for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011; consolidating statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011; consolidating balance sheets as of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and consolidating statements of cash flows for the years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011.

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 29, 2012

	Dole Food Company, Inc.	Guarantors	Non Guarantors (In thousands)	Eliminations	Total
Revenues, net	\$ 35,515	\$ 2,203,666	\$ 3,431,578	\$ (1,424,051)	\$ 4,246,708
Cost of products sold	(31,059)	(2,002,674)	(3,257,074)	1,411,865	(3,878,942)
Gross margin	4,456	200,992	174,504	(12,186)	367,766
Selling, marketing and general and administrative					
expenses	(55,761)	(133,322)	(133,637)	12,186	(310,534)
Charges for restructuring and long-term receivables			(5,158)		(5,158)
ITOCHU transaction related costs	(48,395)				(48,395)
Gain on asset sales	962		11,951		12,913
Operating income (loss)	(98,738)	67,670	47,660		16,592
Equity in subsidiary income	(1,983)	(97,936)		99,919	
Other income (expense), net	8	33	(3,171)		(3,130)
Interest income	653	473	3,528		4,654
Interest expense	(4,798)	459	(7,880)		(12,219)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before					
income taxes and equity earnings	(104,858)	(29,301)	40,137	99,919	5,897
Income taxes	49,855	(39,938)	(20,672)		(10,755)
Earnings (loss) from equity method investments	745	125	5,193		6,063
Income (loss) from continuing operations, net of income taxes	(54,258)	(69,114)	24,658	99,919	1,205
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net	(34,230)	(0),114)	24,030	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	1,203
of income taxes	(97,436)	65,410	(117,977)		(150,003)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net	(57,100)	00,110	(117,577)		(100,000)
of income taxes	7,231				7,231
	., -				-, -
Net income (loss)	(144,463)	(3,704)	(93,319)	99,919	(141,567)
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling			(2.004)		(2.00()
interests			(2,896)		(2,896)
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of		A (2 = 0 ::	h (0.6.24=)		
Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ (144,463)	\$ (3,704)	\$ (96,215)	\$ 99,919	\$ (144,463)

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

	Dole Food Company, Inc.	Guarantors	Non Guarantors (In thousands)	Eliminations	Total
Revenues, net	\$ 90,711	\$ 2,199,128	\$ 3,373,957	\$ (885,372)	\$ 4,778,424
Cost of products sold	(74,522)	(2,030,607)	(3,148,573)	877,942	(4,375,760)
Gross margin	16,189	168,521	225,384	(7,430)	402,664
Selling, marketing and general and administrative					
expenses	(60,056)	(125,650)	(111,482)	7,430	(289,758)
Charges for restructuring and long-term receivables			(16,412)		(16,412)
Gain on asset sales	4,541				4,541
Operating income (loss)	(39,326)	42,871	97,490		101,035
Equity in subsidiary income	135,584	53,928		(189,512)	
Other income (expense), net		(14)	(366)		(380)
Interest income	804	518	2,771		4,093
Interest expense	(5,450)	(81)	(4,097)		(9,628)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and equity earnings	91,612	97,222	95,798	(189,512)	95,120
Income taxes	56,441	(46,595)	(7,776)		2,070
Earnings (loss) from equity method investments	(154)	96	4,646		4,588
Income from continuing operations, net of income					
taxes	147,899	50,723	92,668	(189,512)	101,778
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes	(109,540)	84,518	(35,302)		(60,324)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes			339		339
Net income	38,359	135,241	57,705	(189,512)	41,793
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests			(3,434)		(3,434)
Net income attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ 38,359	\$ 135,241	\$ 54,271	\$ (189,512)	\$ 38,359

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended January 1, 2011

	Dole Food Company, Inc.	Guarantors	Non Guarantors (In thousands)	Eliminations	Total
Revenues, net	\$ 88,283	\$ 2,158,302	\$ 3,325,597	\$ (885,324)	\$ 4,686,858
Cost of products sold	(74,744)	(1,986,704)	(3,148,450)	878,562	(4,331,336)
Gross margin	13,539	171,598	177,147	(6,762)	355,522
Selling, marketing and general and administrative					
expenses	(50,459)	(122,567)	(113,207)	6,762	(279,471)
Charges for restructuring and long-term receivables			(31,459)		(31,459)
Gain on arbitration settlement, net		5,250	27,271		32,521
Gain on asset sales	676		2,341		3,017
Operating income (loss)	(36,244)	54,281	62,093		80,130
Equity in subsidiary income	57,166	(48,220)		(8,946)	
Other income (expense), net	(466)	(33)	223	, i	(276)
Interest income	1,236	250	4,385		5,871
Interest expense	(2,074)	23	(6,205)		(8,256)
•			, ,		
Income from continuing operations before income					
taxes and equity earnings	19,618	6,301	60,496	(8,946)	77,469
Income taxes	46,311	(42,025)	(10,286)	, , ,	(6,000)
Earnings from equity method investments	,	79	6,492		6,571
			,		,
Income (loss) from continuing operations, net of					
income taxes	65,929	(35,645)	56,702	(8,946)	78,040
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of	03,727	(55,615)	30,702	(0,510)	70,010
income taxes	(100,053)	91,163	(102,273)		(111,163)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of	(===,===)	, -,	(==,=,=)		(===,===)
income taxes			2,957		2,957
			,		,
Net income (loss)	(34,124)	55,518	(42,614)	(8,946)	(30,166)
ret meome (1033)	(31,121)	33,310	(12,011)	(0,510)	(30,100)
Lass: Not income attributable to noncontrolling					
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling			(2.059)		(2.059)
interests			(3,958)		(3,958)
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of	¢ (24.124)	Φ 55.510	¢ (46.570)	Φ (0.046)	¢ (24.124)
Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ (34,124)	\$ 55,518	\$ (46,572)	\$ (8,946)	\$ (34,124)

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

${\bf CONSOLIDATING\ STATEMENT\ OF\ COMPREHENSIVE\ INCOME\ (LOSS)}$

For the Year Ended December 29, 2012

	Dole Food Company, Inc.	Gu	arantors	Non Guarantors (In thousands)	Eli	minations	Total
Net income (loss)	\$ (144,463)	\$	(3,704)	\$ (93,319)	\$	99,919	\$ (141,567)
Net foreign currency translation adjustment	2,158		10	2,158		(298)	4,028
Unrealized hedging gains (losses), net of income taxes				25,318			25,318
Reclassification of realized (gains) losses to net income,							
net of income taxes				12,003			12,003
Change in employee benefit plans, net of income taxes	(13,363)			(4,051)			(17,414)
Comprehensive income (loss)	(155,668)		(3,694)	(57,891)		99,621	(117,632)
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests				(2,899)			(2,899)
Communicative income (loss) attails table to shough alders							
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ (155,668)	\$	(3,694)	\$ (60,790)	\$	99,621	\$ (120,531)

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

	Dole Food		Non		
	Company, Inc.	Guarantors	Guarantors (In thousands)	Eliminations	Total
Net income (loss)	\$ 38,359	\$ 135,241	\$ 57,705	\$ (189,512)	\$ 41,793
Net foreign currency translation adjustment	(1,579)	(11)	(10,127)		(11,717)
Unrealized hedging gains (losses), net of income taxes			(45,619)		(45,619)
Reclassification of realized (gains) losses to net					
income, net of income taxes			32,751		32,751
Change in employee benefit plans, net of income taxes	(12,608)		(10,264)		(22,872)
Comprehensive income (loss)	24,172	135,230	24,446	(189,512)	(5,664)
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling					
interests			(3,438)		(3,438)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ 24,172	\$ 135.230	\$ 21,008	\$ (189,512)	\$ (9,102)
	,		,	. (->))	. (2,7-2-)

127

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

${\bf CONSOLIDATING\ STATEMENT\ OF\ COMPREHENSIVE\ INCOME\ (LOSS)}$

For the Year Ended January 1, 2011

	Dole Food Company, Inc.	Gua	arantors	Non Guarantors (In thousands)	Eliı	ninations	Total
Net income (loss)	\$ (34,124)	\$	55,518	\$ (42,614)	\$	(8,946)	\$ (30,166)
Net foreign currency translation adjustment			(39)	3,883			3,844
Unrealized hedging gains (losses), net of income taxes				(14,416)			(14,416)
Reclassification of realized (gains) losses to net income,							
net of income taxes				9,390			9,390
Change in employee benefit plans, net of income taxes	(13,746)			(5,697)			(19,443)
Comprehensive income (loss)	(47,870)		55,479	(49,454)		(8,946)	(50,791)
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests				(3,961)			(3,961)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	\$ (47,870)	\$	55.479	\$ (53.415)	\$	(8.946)	\$ (54,752)
shareholders of Bole 1 ood Company, me.	Ψ(17,070)	Ψ	55,17	Ψ (55,115)	Ψ	(0,710)	$\psi (31,732)$

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

As of December 29, 2012

	Dole Food Company, Inc.	Guarantors	Non Guarantors (In thousands)	Eliminations	Total
ASSETS					
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 13,230	\$ 3,587	\$ 74,762	\$	\$ 91,579
Restricted cash and deposits					
Receivables, net of allowances	94,401	81,427	315,812		491,640
Inventories	2,260	116,383	123,098		241,741
Prepaid expenses and other assets	6,011	9,377	20,861		36,249
Deferred income tax assets	10,133		928	(5,102)	5,959
Assets held-for-sale	490,300	449,105	938,118		1,877,523
Total current assets	616,335	659,879	1,473,579	(5,102)	2,744,691
Investments	2,522,676	1,774,659	89,172	(4,297,626)	88,881
Actively marketed land	74,814			, , , , ,	74,814
Property, plant and equipment, net	134,897	189,263	364,730		688,890
Goodwill		77,129	196,777		273,906
Intangible assets, net	229,642	(8,721)	40,394		261,315
Other assets, net	41,121	13,003	36,570	6,580	97,274
Total assets	\$ 3,619,485	\$ 2,705,212	\$ 2,201,222	\$ (4,296,148)	\$ 4,229,771
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY					
Accounts payable	\$ 6,151	\$ 144,103	\$ 159,444	\$ 3,702	\$ 313,400
Liabilities related to assets held-for-sale	20,291	65,403	372,439	(9,209)	448,924
Accrued liabilities	265,030	96,995	173,114	225	535,364
Current portion of long-term debt, net	153,827		7,923		161,750
Notes payable			19,762		19,762
Total current liabilities	445,299	306,501	732,682	(5,282)	1,479,200
Intercompany payables (receivables)	1,281,183	(221,373)	(1,084,002)	24,192	
Long-term debt, net	911,003	2,013	599,630		1,512,646
Deferred income tax liabilities	22,001	60,551	46,375		128,927
Other long-term liabilities	273,864	23,494	99,114		396,472
Equity attributable to shareholders of Dole Food					
Company, Inc.	686,135	2,534,026	1,781,032	(4,315,058)	686,135
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interests			26,391		26,391
Total equity	686,135	2,534,026	1,807,423	(4,315,058)	712,526
Total liabilities and equity	\$ 3,619,485	\$ 2,705,212	\$ 2,201,222	\$ (4,296,148)	\$ 4,229,771

129

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

As of December 31, 2011

AGGPEG		ole Food npany, Inc.	Gı	uarantors		Non narantors thousands)	Eliminations		Total
ASSETS		10 770		4.040		4040==		_	100 0 10
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	13,558	\$	1,813	\$	106,977	\$	\$	122,348
Restricted cash and deposits		106.055		100 450		6,230			6,230
Receivables, net of allowances		106,855		122,450		455,789			685,094
Inventories		8,970		309,391		511,156			829,517
Prepaid expenses and other assets		6,647		8,934		49,750	(4.515)		65,331
Deferred income tax assets		12.250		21,442		9,257	(4,515)		26,184
Assets held-for-sale		13,370		3,813		58,458			75,641
Total current assets		149,400		467,843		1,197,617	(4,515)]	1,810,345
Investments	2	,485,133	1	1,834,271		100,629	(4,320,564)		99,469
Actively marketed land		74,814							74,814
Property, plant and equipment, net		135,050		268,548		507,131			910,729
Goodwill				131,818		286,295			418,113
Intangible assets, net		689,615		7,331		35,067			732,013
Other assets, net		67,299		12,982		149,658	(4,100)		225,839
Total assets	\$ 3	,601,311	\$ 2	2,722,793	\$	2,276,397	\$ (4,329,179)	\$ 4	1,271,322
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY									
Accounts payable	\$	10,428	\$	140,638	\$	300,983	\$	\$	452,049
Liabilities related to assets held-for-sale						49,117			49,117
Accrued liabilities		68,906		166,166		306,658			541,730
Current portion of long-term debt, net		(1,060)		711		11,105			10,756
Notes payable						27,969			27,969
Total current liabilities		78,274		307,515		695,832			1,081,621
Intercompany payables (receivables)	1	,260,604		(88,549)	(1,167,540)	(4,515)		, , -
Long-term debt, net		,014,113		2,608		624,391	() /		1,641,112
Deferred income tax liabilities		154,011		,		31,766	(4,100)		181,677
Other long-term liabilities		301,805		22,885		223,801	(, ,		548,491
Equity attributable to shareholders of Dole Food		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		,		- ,			, -
Company, Inc.		792,504	2	2,478,334		1,842,230	(4,320,564)		792,504
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interests		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		, ,		25,917	()= = ;		25,917
						,			,
Total equity		792,504	2	2,478,334		1,868,147	(4,320,564)		818,421
Total liabilities and equity	\$ 3	,601,311	\$ 2	2,722,793	\$	2,276,397	\$ (4,329,179)	\$ 4	4,271,322

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

130

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 29, 2012

	Dole Food Company, Inc.	Guarantors	Non Guarantors (In thousands)	Eliminations	Total
OPERATING ACTIVITIES			,		
Intercompany dividend income	\$ 3,000	\$	\$	\$ (3,000)	\$
Operating activities	(62,429)	52,174	55,533		45,278
Cash flow provided by (used in) operating					
activities	(59,429)	51,274	55,533	(3,000)	45,278
INVESTING ACTIVITIES					
Cash received from sales of assets and businesses,	10.740	5 64	20.521		42.020
net of cash disposed	12,743	764	29,521		43,028
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired	(4.00 .	(17,067)	(=0.04.6)		(17,067)
Capital expenditures	(1,035)	(31,792)	(73,016)		(105,843)
Restricted cash			6,230		6,230
Other	(1,929)				(1,929)
Cash flow provided by (used in) investing					
activities	9,779	(48,095)	(37,265)		(75,581)
activities	9,119	(40,093)	(37,203)		(73,361)
EINIANICING A CIDIVIDUE					
FINANCING ACTIVITIES	07.6		474 022		474 200
Short-term debt borrowings	276	(000)	474,033		474,309
Short-term debt repayments	0=0.000	(888)	(440,066)		(440,954)
Long-term debt borrowings	979,800	270	4,217		984,287
Long-term debt repayments	(932,263)	(1,687)	(31,311)		(965,261)
Net proceeds from stock option exercises	1,509				1,509
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests			(1,712)		(1,712)
Intercompany dividends			(3,000)	3,000	
Settlement on long-term Japanese yen hedge					
forwards			(52,712)		(52,712)
Cash flow provided by (used in) financing					
activities	40.222	(2.205)	(50.551)	2 000	(524)
activities	49,322	(2,305)	(50,551)	3,000	(534)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes					
on cash			68		68
Increase (decrease) in each and each activity	(228)	1 774	(22.215)		(20.760)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	(328)	1,774	(32,215)		(30,769)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	13,558	1,813	106,977		122,348
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 13,230	\$ 3,587	\$ 74,762	\$	\$ 91,579

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

	Dole Food Company, Inc.	Guarantors	Non Guarantors (In thousands)	Eliminations	Total
OPERATING ACTIVITIES			(
Intercompany dividend income	\$ 35,000	\$ 35,000	\$	\$ (70,000)	\$
Operating activities	(137,309)	107,108	35,326		5,125
•					
Cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities	(102,309)	142,108	35,326	(70,000)	5,125
INVESTING ACTIVITIES					
Cash received from sales of assets and businesses, net of					
cash disposed	10,469	915	30,338		41,722
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired		(77,887)	(1,147)		(79,034)
Cash received from sales of investments, net of cash					
disposed			1,051		1,051
Capital expenditures	(513)	(33,068)	(48,606)		(82,187)
Restricted cash			44,878		44,878
Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries	(6,000)		(2,038)		(8,038)
Other	(1,127)				(1,127)
Cash flow provided by (used in) investing activities	2,829	(110,040)	24,476		(82,735)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES					
Short-term debt borrowings	535	2,321	31		2,887
Short-term debt repayments			(10,128)		(10,128)
Long-term debt borrowings	756,138		581,340		1,337,478
Long-term debt repayments	(666,508)	(290)	(604,171)		(1,270,969)
Payment of debt issuance costs	(6,281)		(6,726)		(13,007)
Premium on early retirement of notes	(10,238)				(10,238)
Net proceeds from stock option exercises	312				312
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests			(2,935)		(2,935)
Intercompany dividends		(35,000)	(35,000)	70,000	
Settlement on long-term Japanese yen hedge forwards			(3,910)		(3,910)
Cash flow provided by (used in) financing activities	73,958	(32,969)	(81,499)	70,000	29,490
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash			321		321
on customery external go rate entanges on customers			321		321
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(25,522)	(901)	(21,376)		(47,799)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	39,080	2,714	128,353		170,147
The second secon	27,000	-,,	120,000		1,0,11,
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 13,558	\$ 1,813	\$ 106,977	\$	\$ 122,348
Cash and cash equivalents at the or period	Ψ 13,336	Ψ 1,013	Ψ 100,977	Ψ	Ψ 122,340

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS (Continued)

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended January 1, 2011

	Dole Food Company, Inc.	Guarantors	Non Guarantors (In thousands)	Eliminations	Total
OPERATING ACTIVITIES			,		
Cash flow provided by operating activities	\$ 37,446	\$ 42,098	\$ 68,095	\$	\$ 147,639
INVESTING ACTIVITIES					
Cash received from sales of assets and businesses,					
net of cash disposed	1,960	112	43,819		45,891
Capital expenditures	(923)	(33,899)	(52,580)		(87,402)
Restricted cash and deposits			(27,818)		(27,818)
Other	(135)		(453)		(588)
Cash flow provided by (used in) investing activities	902	(33,787)	(37,032)		(69,917)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES					
Short-term debt borrowings			57,535		57,535
Short-term debt repayments	(871)	(7,433)	(68,037)		(76,341)
Long-term debt borrowings	329,100		594,270		923,370
Long-term debt repayments	(337,306)	(282)	(576,385)		(913,973)
Payment of debt issuance costs	(10,100)		(6,900)		(17,000)
Payment of initial public offering costs	(1,004)				(1,004)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests			(1,958)		(1,958)
Cash flow used in financing activities	(20,181)	(7,715)	(1,475)		(29,371)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash			2,126		2,126
	10.165	50 6	21.51.4		50.455
Increase in cash and cash equivalents	18,167	596	31,714		50,477
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	20,913	2,118	96,639		119,670
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 39,080	\$ 2,714	\$ 128,353	\$	\$ 170,147

II. Supplementary Data Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following table presents summarized quarterly results:

	Quarter Ended						
	March	24,	June 16,	C	October 6,	De	cember 29,
2012	2012		2012		2012		2012
		(In	thousands, e	xcept p	er share dat	a)	
Revenues, net	\$ 1,086,	379	\$ 1,079,981	\$	1,192,718	\$	887,630
Gross margin	93,	675	120,510		89,328		64,253
Income (loss) from continuing operations, net of income taxes	28,	455	53,089		7,245		(87,584)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes		311)	12,450		(21,109)		(130,033)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes							7,231
Net income (loss)	17,	144	65,539		(13,864)		(210,386)
Less: Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(777)	(1,410)	(1,456)		747
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	16,	367	64,129		(15,320)		(209,639)
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to shareholders of Dole Food							
Company, Inc.	\$ (.19	\$ 0.73	\$	(0.17)	\$	(2.38)

		Quarte	er Ended		
	March 26,	June 18,	October 8,	Dec	cember 31,
2011	2011	2011	2011		2011
	((In thousands, exc	ept per share da	ta)	
Revenues, net	\$ 1,172,068	\$ 1,316,855	\$ 1,327,455	\$	962,046
Gross margin	130,221	138,569	69,330		64,544
Income (loss) from continuing operations, net of income taxes	56,029	52,580	(12,328)		5,497
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes	(53,984)	30,114	(34,676)		(1,778)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes		339			
Net income (loss)	2,045	83,033	(47,004)		3,719
Less: Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(1,005)	(1,267)	(1,634)		472
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of Dole Food Company, Inc.	1,040	81,766	(48,638)		4,191
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to shareholders of Dole Food					
Company, Inc.	\$ 0.01	\$ 0.93	\$ (0.56)	\$	0.05

134

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act) that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 29, 2012 (the end of our fiscal year) and concluded, based on this evaluation, that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 29, 2012.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred in the last fiscal year that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Annual Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) for Dole. Management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2012 (the end of our fiscal year), based on the framework and criteria established in *Internal Control Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 29, 2012.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2012 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.

Item 9B. *Other Information*None.

135

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information concerning Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance will be included in the Proxy Statement relating to the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed within 120 days of the end of Dole s fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.

Dole has adopted a code of ethics (as defined in Item 406 of the SEC s Regulation S-K) applicable to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. A copy of the code of ethics, which we call our Code of Conduct, and which applies to all directors and employees of Dole, is available on Dole s web site at **www.dole.com**. We intend to post on our web site any amendments to, or waivers (with respect to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer) from, this Code of Conduct within four business days of any such amendment or waiver.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information concerning Executive Compensation, including Corporate Compensation and Benefits Committee Report, will be included in the Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed within 120 days after the end of Dole s fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information concerning Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters will be included in the Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed within 120 days after the end of Dole s fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information concerning Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence will be included in the Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed within 120 days after the end of Dole s fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information as to Principal Accountant Fees and Services will be included in the Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed within 120 days after the end of Dole s fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.

136

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

1. Financial Statements: The following consolidated financial statements are included herein in Item 8 above.

Form 10-K
Page

Audited Financial Statements for the Years Ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and
January 2, 2010

2. Financial Statement Schedule

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

149

3. Exhibits:

Exhibits

Exhibit

Number	Title
2.1	Acquisition Agreement, dated as of September 17, 2012, between Dole Food Company, Inc. and ITOCHU Corporation, concerning the sale of Dole s worldwide packaged foods and Asia fresh produce businesses (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on September 21, 2012.
3.1(a)	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Dole Food Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 29, 2009)
3.1(b)	Articles of Incorporation of Oceanic Properties Arizona, Inc., dated as of January 12, 1988. Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Oceanic Properties Arizona, Inc., dated as of November 16, 1990, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Arizona, Inc. Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Arizona, Inc., dated as of December 21, 1995, changed the company s name to Calazo Corporation.
3.1(c)	Articles of Incorporation of AG 1970, Inc., dated as of September 25, 1987. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of AG 1970, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(d)	Articles of Incorporation of AG 1971, Inc., dated as of September 25, 1987. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of AG 1971, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(e)	Articles of Incorporation of AG 1972, Inc., dated as of September 25, 1987. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of AG 1972, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(f)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Homes, Inc., dated as of February 10, 1992. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Homes, Inc., dated as of March 18, 1996, changed the company s name to Alyssum Corporation
3.1(g)	Articles of Incorporation of Barclay Hollander Curci, Inc., dated as of February 28, 1969. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of February 1975, changed the company s name to Barclay Hollander Corporation. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Barclay Hollander Corporation, dated as of November 26, 1980. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Barclay Hollander Corporation, dated as of June 11, 1990

Exhibit

Number 3.1(h)	Title Articles of Incorporation of Grandma Mac s Orchard, dated as of August 27, 1976. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Grandma Mac s Orchard, dated as of January 6, 1988, changed the company s name to Sun Giant, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Sun Giant, Inc., dated as of March 4, 1988, changed the company s name to Dole Bakersfield, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole Bakersfield, Inc., dated as of June 11, 1990. Agreement of Merger of Bud Antle, Inc. and Dole Bakersfield, Inc., dated as of December 18, 2000, changed the company s name to Bud Antle, Inc.
3.1(i)	Articles of Incorporation of Lake Anderson Corporation, dated as of June 26, 1964. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of November 12, 1971. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of August 28, 1972, changed the company s name to Oceanic California Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of July 14, 1977. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Oceanic California Inc., dated as of June 17, 1981. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Oceanic California Inc., dated as of November 16, 1990, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke California, Inc., dated as of December 21, 1995, changed the company s name to Calicahomes, Inc.
3.1(j)	Articles of Incorporation of California Polaris, Inc., dated as of April 6, 1979
3.1(k)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole ABPIK, Inc., dated as of November 15, 1988. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole ABPIK, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(1)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Sierra Vista, Inc., dated as of June 8, 1992. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Sierra Vista, Inc., dated as of March 18, 1996, changed the company s name to Dole Arizona Dried Fruit and Nut Company
3.1(m)*	Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Sunnyridge Farm, Inc., dated as of October 1, 2001. Certificate of Merger of Dole Berry Company, LLC with and into Sunnyridge Farm, Inc., effective December 29, 2012, changed the company s name to Dole Berry Company
3.1(n)	Articles of Incorporation of Miracle Fruit Company, dated as of September 12, 1979. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Miracle Fruit Company, dated as of October 1, 1979, changed the company s name to Blue Goose Growers, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Blue Goose Growers, Inc., dated as of June 11, 1990. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Blue Goose Growers, Inc., dated as of February 15, 1991, changed the company s name to Dole Citrus
3.1(o)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole DF&N, Inc., dated as of November 15, 1988. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole DF&N, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(p)	General Partnership Agreement of Dole Dried Fruit and Nut Company, a California general partnership, dated as of October 15, 1995
3.1(q)	Articles of Incorporation of Canfield Farming Company, dated as of July 17, 1963. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Canfield Farming Company, dated as of March 15, 1971, changed the company s name to Tenneco Farming Company. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Tenneco Farming Company, dated as of January 6, 1988, changed the company s name to Sun Giant Farming, Inc., Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Sun Giant Farming, Inc., dated as of April 25, 1988, changed the company s name to Dole Farming, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole Farming, Inc., dated as of June 11, 1990

138

Exhibit

Number	Title
3.1(r)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Fresh Vegetables, Inc., dated as of July 14, 1983. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Fresh Vegetables, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Fresh Vegetables, Inc., dated as of January 2, 1990, changed the company s name to Dole Fresh Vegetables, Inc.
3.1(s)	Restated Articles of Incorporation of T.M. Duche Nut Co., Inc., dated as of October 15, 1986. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of T.M. Duche Nut Co., Inc., dated as of November 14, 1986. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of April 20, 1988, changed the company s name to Dole Nut Company. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole Nut Company, dated as of December 13, 1989. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole Nut Company, dated as of January 28, 1998, changed the company s name to Dole Orland, Inc.
3.1(t)	Articles of Incorporation of S & J Ranch, Inc., dated as of December 15, 1952. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of S & J Ranch, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of S & J Ranch, Inc., dated as of September 27, 2000, changed the company s name to Dole Visage, Inc.
3.1(u)	Articles of Incorporation of E.T. Wall, Grower-Shipper, Inc., dated as of November 25, 1975. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of E.T. Wall, Grower-Shipper, Inc., dated as of July 25, 1984, changed the company s name to E.T. Wall Company. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of E.T. Wall Company, dated as of June 11, 1990
3.1(v)	Articles of Incorporation of Earlibest Orange Association, Inc., dated as of November 7, 1963. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Earlibest Orange Association, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(w)	Articles of Incorporation of The Citrus Company, dated as of February 1, 1984. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of The Citrus Company, dated as of February 16, 1984, changed the company s name to Fallbrook Citrus Company, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of March 15, 1994. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Fallbrook Citrus Company, Inc., dated as of June 11, 1990
3.1(x)	Articles of Incorporation of Lindero Headquarters Company, Inc., dated as of February 12, 1998
3.1(y)	Articles of Incorporation of Lindero Property, Inc., dated as of October 10, 1991
3.1(z)*	Articles of Organization and Conversion of Oceanview Produce LLC, dated as of December 28, 2012.
3.1(aa)	Articles of Incorporation of Prairie Vista, Inc., dated as of November 23, 1953
3.1(ab)*	Articles of Organization and Conversion of Royal Packing LLC, dated as of December 28, 2012.
3.1(ac)	Articles of Incorporation of Trojan Transport Co., dated as of August 31, 1955. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Trojan Transport Co., dated as of July 31, 1956, changed the company s name to Trojan Transportation and Warehouse Co. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Trojan Transportation Co., dated as of January 24, 1961, changed the company s name to Veltman Terminal Co.
3.1(ad)	Certificate of Incorporation of Bananera Antillana (Columbia), Inc., dated as of November 16, 1977
3.1(ae)	Certificate of Incorporation of Clovis Citrus Association, dated as of January 24, 1990. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Clovis Citrus Association, dated as of January 24, 1990

139

Exhibit

Number 3.1(af)	Title Certificate of Incorporation of Tenneco Sudan, Inc., dated as of June 8, 1977. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Tenneco Sudan, Inc., dated as of December 10, 1986, changed the company s name to Tenneco Realty Development Holding Corporation. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Tenneco Realty Development Holding Corporation, dated as of April 21, 1988, changed the company s name to Oceanic California Realty Development Holding Corporation. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Oceanic California Realty Development Holding Corporation, dated as of November 16, 1990, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Bakersfield Holdings, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Bakersfield Holdings, Inc., dated as of March 18, 1996, changed the company s name to Delphinium Corporation
3.1(ag)	Certificate of Incorporation of Standard Banana Company, dated as of March 21, 1955. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Standard Banana Company, dated as of January 8, 1971, changed the company s name to Standard Fruit Sales Company. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Standard Fruit Sales Company, dated as of June 6, 1973, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Food Sales Company. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Food Sales Company, dated as of September 25, 1984, changed the company s name to Dole Europe Company. Certificate of Change of Location of Registered Office and of Registered Agent, dated as of April 18, 1988
3.1(ah)	Certificate of Incorporation of Castle Aviation, Inc., dated as of June 25, 1987. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Castle Aviation, Inc., dated as of April 10, 1992, changed the company s name to Dole Foods Flight Operations, Inc.
3.1(aj)	Certificate of Incorporation of Wenatchee-Beebe Orchard Company, dated as of November 7, 1927. Certificate of Ownership and Merger in Wenatchee-Beebe Orchard Company, dated as of June 23, 1943. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Wenatchee-Beebe Orchard Company, dated as of April 20, 1983, changed the company s name to Beebe Orchard Company. Certificate of Merger of Wells and Wade Fruit Company and Beebe Orchard Company, dated as of March 23, 2001, changed the company s name to Dole Northwest, Inc.
3.1(ak)	Certificate of Incorporation of Dole Sunburst Express, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Dole Sunburst Express, Inc., dated as of July 21, 1996, changed the company s name to Dole Sunfresh Express, Inc.
3.1(al)	Certificate of Incorporation of Standard Fruit and Steamship Company, dated as of January 2, 1968
3.1(am)	Certificate of Incorporation of Standard Fruit Company, dated as of March 14, 1955. Certificate of Change of Location of Registered Office and of Registered Agent, dated as of April 18, 1988
3.1(ao)	Certificate of Incorporation of West Foods, Inc., dated as of March 9, 1973
3.1(ap)	Certificate of Incorporation of Cool Advantage, Inc., dated as of December 14, 1998
3.1(aq)	Articles of Incorporation of Cool Care Consulting, Inc., dated as of September 16, 1986. Articles of Amendment of Cool Care Consulting, Inc., dated as of April 4, 1996, changed the company s name to Cool Care, Inc.
3.1(at)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Development Corporation, dated as of June 8, 1992. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of March 1, 1993, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Communities, Inc. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of March 18, 1996, changed the company s name to Blue Anthurium, Inc.
3.1(au)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Acquisition Corporation, dated as of October 13, 1994. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of January 10, 1995, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Homes, Inc. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of March 18, 1996, changed the company s name to Cerulean, Inc.

140

Exhibit

Number	Title
3.1(av)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Land Company, Inc., dated as of March 8, 1990. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of May 7, 1997, changed the company s name to Dole Diversified, Inc.
3.1(aw)	Articles of Association of Kohala Sugar Company, dated as of February 3, 1863. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of May 1, 1989, changed the company s name to Dole Land Company, Inc.
3.1(ax)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Packaged Foods Corporation, dated as of April 4, 1990
3.1(ay)	Articles of Association of Oceanic Properties, Inc., dated as of May 19, 1961. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of October 23, 1990, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Properties, Inc. Articles of Amendment, dated as of November 26, 1990. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of December 4, 1995, changed the company s name to La Petite d Agen, Inc.
3.1(az)	Articles of Incorporation of Lanai Holdings, Inc., dated as of May 4, 1990. Articles of Amendment, dated as of November 26, 1990. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of January 22, 1996, changed the company s name to Malaga Company, Inc.
3.1(ba)	Articles of Incorporation of M K Development, Inc., dated as of February 26, 1988. Articles of Amendment, dated as of November 26, 1990
3.1(bb)	Articles of Incorporation of Mililani Town, Inc., dated as of December 29, 1966. Articles of Amendment, dated as of November 26, 1990. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, December 24, 1990, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Residential, Inc. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of October 21, 1993, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Homes Hawaii, Inc. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of December 4, 1995, changed the company s name to Muscat, Inc.
3.1(bc)	Articles of Incorporation of Oahu Transport Company, Limited, dated as of April 15, 1947. Articles of Amendment, dated as of July 24, 1987. Articles of Amendment, dated as of May 1997
3.1(bd)	Articles of Incorporation of Wahiawa Water Company, Inc., dated as of June 24, 1975
3.1(bf)	Certificate of Incorporation of Lanai Company, Inc., dated as of June 15, 1970. Articles of Amendment, dated as of November 26, 1990. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of December 4, 1995, changed the company s name to Zante Currant, Inc.
3.1(bg)	Articles of Incorporation of Diversified Imports Co., dated as of December 1, 1987
3.1(bh)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Assets, Inc., dated as of September 9, 1997
3.1(bi)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Fresh Fruit Company, dated as of September 12, 1985
3.1(bj)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Fresh Fruit, Inc., dated as of October 27, 1983. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Fresh Fruit Company, dated as of May 9, 1997, changed the company s name to Dole Holdings Inc.
3.1(bk)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Logistics Services, Inc., dated as of February 4, 1993
3.1(bl)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Ocean Cargo Express, Inc., dated as of July 8, 1999
3.1(bm)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Ocean Liner Express, Inc., dated as of June 3, 1993
3.1(bn)	Articles of Incorporation of Renaissance Capital Corporation, dated as of July 28, 1995
3.1(bo)	Certificate of Incorporation of Sun Giant, Inc., dated as of December 8, 1987

141

Exhibit

Number	Title Continue of the Continue
3.1(bp)	Certificate of Incorporation of Miradero Fishing Company, Inc., dated as of August 9, 1971
3.1(bq)	Articles of Incorporation of DNW Services Company, dated as of June 4, 1998
3.1(br)	Articles of Incorporation of Pacific Coast Truck Company, dated as of June 27, 1995
3.1(bs)	Articles of Incorporation of Pan-Alaska Fisheries, Inc., dated as of July 28, 1959. Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of Pan-Alaska Fisheries, Inc., dated as of May 26, 1972. Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of Pan-Alaska Fisheries, Inc., dated as of August 30, 1973. Amendment to Articles of Incorporation, dated as of June 25, 1976
3.1(bt)	Articles of Organization-Conversion of Dole Packaged Foods, LLC, dated as of December 30, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(bt) to Dole s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 30, 2006)
3.2(a)	Amended and Restated Bylaws of Dole Food Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 29, 2009)
3.2(b)	Form of By-Laws of the Additional Registrants
3.2(c)	Limited Liability Agreement of Dole Packaged Foods, LLC, dated as of December 30, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2(c) to Dole s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 30, 2006)
4.1	Indenture, dated as of July 15, 1993, between Dole and Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company (formerly Chemical Trust Company of California) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.2	Form of First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 30, 2002, between Dole and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, to the Indenture dated as of July 15, 1993, pursuant to which \$400 million of Dole s senior notes due 2009 were issued (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.3	Officers Certificate, dated August 3, 1993, pursuant to which \$175 million of Dole s debentures due 2013 were issued (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.4	Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 28, 2003, between Dole and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (successor trustee to J.P. Morgan Trust Company), to the Indenture dated as of July 15, 1993 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.5	Agreement of Removal, Appointment and Acceptance, dated as of March 28, 2003, by and among Dole, J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, successor in interest to Chemical Trust Company of California, as Prior Trustee, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed with the Commission on June 25, 2004 (File No. 333-106493))
4.6	Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 25, 2003, by and among Dole, Miradero Fishing Company, Inc., the guarantors signatory thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed with the Commission on June 25, 2004 (File No. 333-106493))

142

Exhibit

Number	Title
4.7	First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 25, 2003, by and among Dole, Miradero Fishing Company, Inc., the guarantors signatory thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed with the Commission on June 25, 2004 (File No. 333-106493))
4.8	Form of Dole Food Company, Inc. Master Retirement Savings Trust Agreement, dated as of February 1, 1999, between Dole and The Northern Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.13 to Amendment No. 1 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on September 18, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.9	Indenture, dated as of March 18, 2009, among Dole Food Company, Inc., the guarantors signatory thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, pursuant to which \$349,903,000 of Dole s 13.875% senior secured notes due 2014 were issued (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.15 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 24, 2009)
4.10	Form of Global Note for Dole s 13.875% senior secured notes due 2014 (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit Number 4.9 hereto)
4.11	Form of Guarantee for Dole s 13.875% senior secured notes due 2014 (included as Exhibit D to Exhibit 4.9 hereto)
4.12	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 18, 2009, among Dole Food Company, Inc. and the guarantors named therein, as issuers, and Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc., Banc of America Securities LLC, Scotia Capital (USA) Inc., Rabo Securities USA, Inc. and Goldman, Sachs & Co., as initial purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 24, 2009)
4.13	Form of Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18 to Amendment No. 6 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on October 22, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.14	Indenture, dated as of September 25, 2009, among Dole Food Company, Inc., the guarantors signatory thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee, pursuant to which \$315,000,000 of Dole s 8% senior secured notes due 2016 were issued (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on September 30, 2009)
4.15	Form of Global Note for Dole s 8% senior secured notes due 2016 (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 14.14 hereto)
4.16	Form of Guarantee for Dole s 8% senior secured notes due 2016 (included as Exhibit D to Exhibit 14.14 hereto)
4.17	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2009, among Dole Food Company, Inc. and the guarantors named therein, as issuers, and Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc., Banc of Americas Securities LLC, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, Scotia Capital (USA) Inc. and Goldman, Sachs & Co., as initial purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on September 30, 2009)

143

Exhibit

Number 10.1	Title Credit Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003, amended and restated as of April 18, 2005, further amended and restated as of April 12, 2006, as amended March 18, 2009, as further amended on October 26, 2009, as further amended on March 2, 2010 and as further amended on July 8, 2011, among Dole Food Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Solvest, Ltd., a company organized under the laws of Bermuda, the Lenders from time to time party thereto, Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as Administrative Agent, Banc of America Securities, N.A. and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agents, JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., The Bank of Nova Scotia and Coöperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen Boerenleenbank B.A., Rabobank Nederland, New York Branch, as Co-Documentation Agents, and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as Lead Arrangers and Joint Book Runners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dole s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarterly period ended October 8, 2011 filed with the Commission on February 24, 2012) Credit Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2006, as amended on March 18, 2009, as further amended on October 26, 2009, as further amended on March 2, 2010 and as further amended on July 8, 2011, among Dole Food Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation, the Lenders party thereto from time to time, Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as Administrative Agent, Bank of America, N.A. and Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC, as Co-Syndication Agents, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, and Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated as Joint Book Running Managers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Dole s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarterly period ended October 8, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Dole s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarterly period ended October 8,
10.3 #	2011 filed with the Commission on February 24, 2012) Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan, Fifth Restatement, effective February 24, 2011
10.4 #	Excess Savings Plan, Restated, effective February 24, 2011
10.5 #	Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement, dated January 27, 2003, by and between Dole Food Company, Inc. and Mellon Bank, N.A.
10.6 #	Excess Savings Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement, dated December 4, 2002, by and between Dole Food Company, Inc. and Mellon Bank, N.A.
10.7 #	Amendment 2009-1, effective October 8, 2009, to Dole Food Company, Inc. Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement
10.8 #	Amendment 2009-1, effective October 8, 2009, to Dole Food Company, Inc. Excess Savings Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement
10.9 #	Amendment 2011-1, effective February 24, 2011, to Dole Food Company, Inc. Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement
10.10 #	Amendment 2011-1, effective February 24, 2011, to Dole Food Company, Inc. Excess Savings Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement
10.11	Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 4 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on October 9, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
10.12#	Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on February 25, 2011)

144

Exhibit

Number 10.13 #	Title Dole s Non-Employee Directors Deferred Cash Compensation Plan, as amended and restated, effective February 24, 2011
10.14#	Dole Food Company, Inc. Sustained Profit Growth Plan, effective January 1, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Amendment No. 4 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on October 9, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
10.15#	Amendment to the Forms of Change of Control Agreement that are filed as Exhibits 10.16 and 10.17 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on September 13, 2012)
10.16#	Form of Change of Control Agreement with Messrs. C. Michael Carter and Joseph S. Tesoriero (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
10.17#	Form of Change of Control Agreement with Messrs. David H. Murdock and David A. DeLorenzo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Dole s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2010)
10.18 #	Form of Tier I Change of Control Agreement to be used for new agreements entered into after February 24, 2011
10.19 #	Form of Tier II Change of Control Agreement to be used for new agreements entered into after February 24, 2011
10.20#	Form of Amendment No. 1 to the Form of Change of Control Agreement that is filed as Exhibit 10.16 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 11, 2010)
10.21 #	Form of Amendment No. 2 to the Forms of Change of Control Agreement that are filed as Exhibits 10.16 and 10.17 to this Annual Report Form 10-K
10.22 #	Form of Amendment No. 3 to the Forms of Change of Control Agreement that are filed as Exhibits 10.16 and 10.17 to this Annual Report Form 10-K
10.23	Form of Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment No. 2 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on September 24, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
10.24#	Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Dole s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Commission on April 13, 2012)
10.25#	Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Dole s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 10, 2009)
10.26#	2009 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Amendment No. 6 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on October 22, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
10.27#	2009 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Dole s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 10, 2009)

145

Exhibit

Number	Title
10.28#	2009 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Amendment No. 6 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on October 22, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
10.29#	Alternative Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Dole s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2010)
10.30#	Dole s 2010 Management One-Year Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 3, 2010)
10.31#	2010 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 3, 2010)
10.32#	2010 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 3, 2010)
10.33 #	2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan
10.34#	Dole Food Company, Inc. 2011 Self-Funded Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on November 18, 2011)
10.35#	Form of Performance Shares Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on November 18, 2011)
12*	Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
21*	Subsidiaries of Dole Food Company, Inc.
23*	Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP
31.1* 31.2*	Certification by the President and Chief Operating Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Certification by the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
32.1**	Certification by the President and Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
32.2**	Certification by the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
101**	The following financial information from Dole Food Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2012, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Operations, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (loss), (iii) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (v) Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

146

Incorporated by reference to the correspondingly numbered exhibits to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed with the Commission on June 25, 2004 (File No. 333-106493).

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding numbered exhibits to Dole s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Commission on March 14, 2011 (File No. 333-106493)

- * Filed herewith.
- ** Furnished herewith.
- # Management compensatory plan or arrangement.

147

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

Registrant

By:

/s/ C. Michael Carter C. Michael Carter President and Chief Operating Officer

March 12, 2013

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints C. Michael Carter as his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the foregoing, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ David H. Murdock	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Director	March 12, 2013
David H. Murdock		
/s/ C. Michael Carter	President and Chief Operating Officer and Director	March 12, 2013
C. Michael Carter		
/s/ Keith C. Mitchell	Vice President and	March 12, 2013
Keith C. Mitchell	Chief Financial Officer	
/s/ Yoon J. Hugh	Senior Vice President, Controller and	March 12, 2013
Yoon J. Hugh	Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)	
/s/ Elaine L. Chao	Director	March 12, 2013
Elaine L. Chao		
/s/ Andrew J. Conrad	Director	March 12, 2013
Andrew J. Conrad		

Edgar Filing: II-VI INC - Form DEF 14A

/s/ David A. DeLorenzo	Director	March 12, 2013
David A. DeLorenzo		
/s/ E. Rolland Dickson	Director	March 12, 2013
E. Rolland Dickson		
/s/ Sherry Lansing	Director	March 12, 2013
Sherry Lansing		
/s/ Justin Murdock	Director	March 12, 2013
Justin Murdock		
/s/ Dennis M. Weinberg	Director	March 12, 2013
Dennis M. Weinberg		

148

DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

	Balance at Beginning of Period	Additions	Deductions(A)		Charged to Other Accounts(B) (In thousands)		Reclasses to Assets held-for-Sale		Balance at End of Period
Year Ended December 29, 2012									
Allowance for doubtful accounts									
Trade receivables	\$ 18,313	\$ 32,746	\$	(27,328)	\$	(53)	\$	(11,535)	\$ 12,143
Notes and other current receivables	13,924	6,267		(4,697)		(89)		(4,861)	10,544
Long-term notes and other receivables	40,168	6,687		(1,237)		47		(15,891)	29,774
Year Ended December 31, 2011									
Allowance for doubtful accounts									
Trade receivables	\$ 20,184	\$ 22,040	\$	(23,921)	\$	10	\$		\$ 18,313
Notes and other current receivables	16,349	5,369		(6,361)		(1,433)			13,924
Long-term notes and other receivables	39,608	2,381		(3,184)		1,363			40,168
Year Ended January 1, 2011									
Allowance for doubtful accounts									
Trade receivables	\$ 35,501	\$ 22,287	\$	(37,487)	\$	(117)	\$		\$ 20,184
Notes and other current receivables	15,879	5,634		(5,277)		113			16,349
Long-term notes and other receivables	21,213	21,584		(3,096)		(93)			39,608

Note:

- (A) Includes write-offs of uncollectible amounts
- (B) Includes purchase accounting and transfers among balance sheet accounts

149

Exhibits Index

Exhibit

Number	Title
2.1	Acquisition Agreement, dated as of September 17, 2012, between Dole Food Company, Inc. and ITOCHU Corporation, concerning the sale of Dole s worldwide packaged foods and Asia fresh produce businesses (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on September 21, 2012.
3.1(a)	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Dole Food Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 29, 2009)
3.1(b)	Articles of Incorporation of Oceanic Properties Arizona, Inc., dated as of January 12, 1988. Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Oceanic Properties Arizona, Inc., dated as of November 16, 1990, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Arizona, Inc. Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Arizona, Inc., dated as of December 21, 1995, changed the company s name to Calazo Corporation.
3.1(c)	Articles of Incorporation of AG 1970, Inc., dated as of September 25, 1987. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of AG 1970, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(d)	Articles of Incorporation of AG 1971, Inc., dated as of September 25, 1987. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of AG 1971, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(e)	Articles of Incorporation of AG 1972, Inc., dated as of September 25, 1987. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of AG 1972, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(f)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Homes, Inc., dated as of February 10, 1992. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Homes, Inc., dated as of March 18, 1996, changed the company s name to Alyssum Corporation
3.1(g)	Articles of Incorporation of Barclay Hollander Curci, Inc., dated as of February 28, 1969. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of February 1975, changed the company s name to Barclay Hollander Corporation. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Barclay Hollander Corporation, dated as of November 26, 1980. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Barclay Hollander Corporation, dated as of June 11, 1990
3.1(h)	Articles of Incorporation of Grandma Mac s Orchard, dated as of August 27, 1976. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Grandma Mac s Orchard, dated as of January 6, 1988, changed the company s name to Sun Giant, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Sun Giant, Inc., dated as of March 4, 1988, changed the company s name to Dole Bakersfield, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole Bakersfield, Inc., dated as of June 11, 1990. Agreement of Merger of Bud Antle, Inc. and Dole Bakersfield, Inc., dated as of December 18, 2000, changed the company s name to Bud Antle, Inc.
3.1(i)	Articles of Incorporation of Lake Anderson Corporation, dated as of June 26, 1964. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of November 12, 1971. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of August 28, 1972, changed the company s name to Oceanic California Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of July 14, 1977. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Oceanic California Inc., dated as of June 17, 1981. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Oceanic California Inc., dated as of November 16, 1990, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke California, Inc., dated as of December 21, 1995, changed the company s name to Calicahomes, Inc.
3.1(j)	Articles of Incorporation of California Polaris, Inc., dated as of April 6, 1979

Exhibit

Number	Title
3.1(k)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole ABPIK, Inc., dated as of November 15, 1988. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole ABPIK, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(1)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Sierra Vista, Inc., dated as of June 8, 1992. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Sierra Vista, Inc., dated as of March 18, 1996, changed the company s name to Dole Arizona Dried Fruit and Nut Company
3.1(m)*	Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Sunnyridge Farm, Inc., dated as of October 1, 2001. Certificate of Merger of Dole Berry Company, LLC with and into Sunnyridge Farm, Inc., effective December 29, 2012, changed the company s name to Dole Berry Company
3.1(n)	Articles of Incorporation of Miracle Fruit Company, dated as of September 12, 1979. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Miracle Fruit Company, dated as of October 1, 1979, changed the company s name to Blue Goose Growers, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Blue Goose Growers, Inc., dated as of June 11, 1990. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Blue Goose Growers, Inc., dated as of February 15, 1991, changed the company s name to Dole Citrus
3.1(o)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole DF&N, Inc., dated as of November 15, 1988. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole DF&N, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(p)	General Partnership Agreement of Dole Dried Fruit and Nut Company, a California general partnership, dated as of October 15, 1995
3.1(q)	Articles of Incorporation of Canfield Farming Company, dated as of July 17, 1963. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Canfield Farming Company, dated as of March 15, 1971, changed the company s name to Tenneco Farming Company. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Tenneco Farming Company, dated as of January 6, 1988, changed the company s name to Sun Giant Farming, Inc., Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Sun Giant Farming, Inc., dated as of April 25, 1988, changed the company s name to Dole Farming, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole Farming, Inc., dated as of June 11, 1990
3.1(r)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Fresh Vegetables, Inc., dated as of July 14, 1983. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Fresh Vegetables, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Fresh Vegetables, Inc., dated as of January 2, 1990, changed the company s name to Dole Fresh Vegetables, Inc.
3.1(s)	Restated Articles of Incorporation of T.M. Duche Nut Co., Inc., dated as of October 15, 1986. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of T.M. Duche Nut Co., Inc., dated as of November 14, 1986. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of April 20, 1988, changed the company s name to Dole Nut Company. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole Nut Company, dated as of December 13, 1989. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Dole Nut Company, dated as of January 28, 1998, changed the company s name to Dole Orland, Inc.
3.1(t)	Articles of Incorporation of S & J Ranch, Inc., dated as of December 15, 1952. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of S & J Ranch, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of S & J Ranch, Inc., dated as of September 27, 2000, changed the company s name to Dole Visage, Inc.
3.1(u)	Articles of Incorporation of E.T. Wall, Grower-Shipper, Inc., dated as of November 25, 1975. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of E.T. Wall, Grower-Shipper, Inc., dated as of July 25, 1984, changed the company s name to E.T. Wall Company. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of E.T. Wall Company, dated as of June 11, 1990

Exhibit

Number	Title
3.1(v)	Articles of Incorporation of Earlibest Orange Association, Inc., dated as of November 7, 1963. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Earlibest Orange Association, Inc., dated as of December 13, 1989
3.1(w)	Articles of Incorporation of The Citrus Company, dated as of February 1, 1984. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of The Citrus Company, dated as of February 16, 1984, changed the company s name to Fallbrook Citrus Company, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated as of March 15, 1994. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Fallbrook Citrus Company, Inc., dated as of June 11, 1990
3.1(x)	Articles of Incorporation of Lindero Headquarters Company, Inc., dated as of February 12, 1998
3.1(y)	Articles of Incorporation of Lindero Property, Inc., dated as of October 10, 1991
3.1(z)*	Articles of Organization and Conversion of Oceanview Produce LLC, dated as of December 28, 2012.
3.1(aa)	Articles of Incorporation of Prairie Vista, Inc., dated as of November 23, 1953
3.1(ab)*	Articles of Organization and Conversion of Royal Packing LLC, dated as of December 28, 2012.
3.1(ac)	Articles of Incorporation of Trojan Transport Co., dated as of August 31, 1955. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Trojan Transport Co., dated as of July 31, 1956, changed the company s name to Trojan Transportation and Warehouse Co. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Trojan Transportation Co., dated as of January 24, 1961, changed the company s name to Veltman Terminal Co.
3.1(ad)	Certificate of Incorporation of Bananera Antillana (Columbia), Inc., dated as of November 16, 1977
3.1(ae)	Certificate of Incorporation of Clovis Citrus Association, dated as of January 24, 1990. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Clovis Citrus Association, dated as of January 24, 1990
3.1(af)	Certificate of Incorporation of Tenneco Sudan, Inc., dated as of June 8, 1977. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Tenneco Sudan, Inc., dated as of December 10, 1986, changed the company s name to Tenneco Realty Development Holding Corporation. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Tenneco Realty Development Holding Corporation, dated as of April 21, 1988, changed the company s name to Oceanic California Realty Development Holding Corporation. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Oceanic California Realty Development Holding Corporation, dated as of November 16, 1990, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Bakersfield Holdings, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Bakersfield Holdings, Inc., dated as of March 18, 1996, changed the company s name to Delphinium Corporation
3.1(ag)	Certificate of Incorporation of Standard Banana Company, dated as of March 21, 1955. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Standard Banana Company, dated as of January 8, 1971, changed the company s name to Standard Fruit Sales Company. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Standard Fruit Sales Company, dated as of June 6, 1973, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Food Sales Company. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Food Sales Company, dated as of September 25, 1984, changed the company s name to Dole Europe Company. Certificate of Change of Location of Registered Office and of Registered Agent, dated as of April 18, 1988
3.1(ah)	Certificate of Incorporation of Castle Aviation, Inc., dated as of June 25, 1987. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Castle Aviation, Inc., dated as of April 10, 1992, changed the company s name to Dole Foods Flight Operations, Inc.

Exhibit

Number	Title
3.1(aj)	Certificate of Incorporation of Wenatchee-Beebe Orchard Company, dated as of November 7, 1927. Certificate of Ownership and Merger in Wenatchee-Beebe Orchard Company, dated as of June 23, 1943. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Wenatchee-Beebe Orchard Company, dated as of April 20, 1983, changed the company s name to Beebe Orchard Company. Certificate of Merger of Wells and Wade Fruit Company and Beebe Orchard Company, dated as of March 23, 2001, changed the company s name to Dole Northwest, Inc.
3.1(ak)	Certificate of Incorporation of Dole Sunburst Express, Inc. Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Dole Sunburst Express, Inc., dated as of July 21, 1996, changed the company s name to Dole Sunfresh Express, Inc.
3.1(al)	Certificate of Incorporation of Standard Fruit and Steamship Company, dated as of January 2, 1968
3.1(am)	Certificate of Incorporation of Standard Fruit Company, dated as of March 14, 1955. Certificate of Change of Location of Registered Office and of Registered Agent, dated as of April 18, 1988
3.1(ao)	Certificate of Incorporation of West Foods, Inc., dated as of March 9, 1973
3.1(ap)	Certificate of Incorporation of Cool Advantage, Inc., dated as of December 14, 1998
3.1(aq)	Articles of Incorporation of Cool Care Consulting, Inc., dated as of September 16, 1986. Articles of Amendment of Cool Care Consulting, Inc., dated as of April 4, 1996, changed the company s name to Cool Care, Inc.
3.1(at)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Development Corporation, dated as of June 8, 1992. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of March 1, 1993, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Communities, Inc. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of March 18, 1996, changed the company s name to Blue Anthurium, Inc.
3.1(au)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Acquisition Corporation, dated as of October 13, 1994. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of January 10, 1995, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Homes, Inc. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of March 18, 1996, changed the company s name to Cerulean, Inc.
3.1(av)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Land Company, Inc., dated as of March 8, 1990. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of May 7, 1997, changed the company s name to Dole Diversified, Inc.
3.1(aw)	Articles of Association of Kohala Sugar Company, dated as of February 3, 1863. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of May 1, 1989, changed the company s name to Dole Land Company, Inc.
3.1(ax)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Packaged Foods Corporation, dated as of April 4, 1990
3.1(ay)	Articles of Association of Oceanic Properties, Inc., dated as of May 19, 1961. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of October 23, 1990, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Properties, Inc. Articles of Amendment, dated as of November 26, 1990. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of December 4, 1995, changed the company s name to La Petite d Agen, Inc.
3.1(az)	Articles of Incorporation of Lanai Holdings, Inc., dated as of May 4, 1990. Articles of Amendment, dated as of November 26, 1990. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of January 22, 1996, changed the company s name to Malaga Company, Inc.
3.1(ba)	Articles of Incorporation of M K Development, Inc., dated as of February 26, 1988. Articles of Amendment, dated as of November 26, 1990

Exhibit

Number	Title
3.1(bb)	Articles of Incorporation of Mililani Town, Inc., dated as of December 29, 1966. Articles of Amendment, dated as of November 26, 1990. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, December 24, 1990, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Residential, Inc. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of October 21, 1993, changed the company s name to Castle & Cooke Homes Hawaii, Inc. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of December 4, 1995, changed the company s name to Muscat, Inc.
3.1(bc)	Articles of Incorporation of Oahu Transport Company, Limited, dated as of April 15, 1947. Articles of Amendment, dated as of July 24, 1987. Articles of Amendment, dated as of May 1997
3.1(bd)	Articles of Incorporation of Wahiawa Water Company, Inc., dated as of June 24, 1975
3.1(bf)	Certificate of Incorporation of Lanai Company, Inc., dated as of June 15, 1970. Articles of Amendment, dated as of November 26, 1990. Articles of Amendment to Change Corporate Name, dated as of December 4, 1995, changed the company s name to Zante Currant, Inc.
3.1(bg)	Articles of Incorporation of Diversified Imports Co., dated as of December 1, 1987
3.1(bh)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Assets, Inc., dated as of September 9, 1997
3.1(bi)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Fresh Fruit Company, dated as of September 12, 1985
3.1(bj)	Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Fresh Fruit, Inc., dated as of October 27, 1983. Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Castle & Cooke Fresh Fruit Company, dated as of May 9, 1997, changed the company s name to Dole Holdings Inc.
3.1(bk)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Logistics Services, Inc., dated as of February 4, 1993
3.1(bl)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Ocean Cargo Express, Inc., dated as of July 8, 1999
3.1(bm)	Articles of Incorporation of Dole Ocean Liner Express, Inc., dated as of June 3, 1993
3.1(bn)	Articles of Incorporation of Renaissance Capital Corporation, dated as of July 28, 1995
3.1(bo)	Certificate of Incorporation of Sun Giant, Inc., dated as of December 8, 1987
3.1(bp)	Certificate of Incorporation of Miradero Fishing Company, Inc., dated as of August 9, 1971
3.1(bq)	Articles of Incorporation of DNW Services Company, dated as of June 4, 1998
3.1(br)	Articles of Incorporation of Pacific Coast Truck Company, dated as of June 27, 1995
3.1(bs)	Articles of Incorporation of Pan-Alaska Fisheries, Inc., dated as of July 28, 1959. Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of Pan-Alaska Fisheries, Inc., dated as of May 26, 1972. Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of Pan-Alaska Fisheries, Inc., dated as of August 30, 1973. Amendment to Articles of Incorporation, dated as of June 25, 1976
3.1(bt)	Articles of Organization-Conversion of Dole Packaged Foods, LLC, dated as of December 30, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(bt) to Dole s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 30, 2006)
3.2(a)	Amended and Restated Bylaws of Dole Food Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 29, 2009)
3.2(b)	Form of By-Laws of the Additional Registrants
3.2(c)	Limited Liability Agreement of Dole Packaged Foods, LLC, dated as of December 30, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2(c) to Dole s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 30, 2006)

Exhibit

Number	Title
4.1	Indenture, dated as of July 15, 1993, between Dole and Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company (formerly Chemical Trust Company of California) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.2	Form of First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 30, 2002, between Dole and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, to the Indenture dated as of July 15, 1993, pursuant to which \$400 million of Dole s senior notes due 2009 were issued (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.3	Officers Certificate, dated August 3, 1993, pursuant to which \$175 million of Dole s debentures due 2013 were issued (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.4	Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 28, 2003, between Dole and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (successor trustee to J.P. Morgan Trust Company), to the Indenture dated as of July 15, 1993 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.5	Agreement of Removal, Appointment and Acceptance, dated as of March 28, 2003, by and among Dole, J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, successor in interest to Chemical Trust Company of California, as Prior Trustee, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed with the Commission on June 25, 2004 (File No. 333-106493))
4.6	Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 25, 2003, by and among Dole, Miradero Fishing Company, Inc., the guarantors signatory thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed with the Commission on June 25, 2004 (File No. 333-106493))
4.7	First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 25, 2003, by and among Dole, Miradero Fishing Company, Inc., the guarantors signatory thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed with the Commission on June 25, 2004 (File No. 333-106493))
4.8	Form of Dole Food Company, Inc. Master Retirement Savings Trust Agreement, dated as of February 1, 1999, between Dole and The Northern Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.13 to Amendment No. 1 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on September 18, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.9	Indenture, dated as of March 18, 2009, among Dole Food Company, Inc., the guarantors signatory thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, pursuant to which \$349,903,000 of Dole s 13.875% senior secured notes due 2014 were issued (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.15 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 24, 2009)
4.10	Form of Global Note for Dole s 13.875% senior secured notes due 2014 (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit Number 4.9 hereto)
4.11	Form of Guarantee for Dole s 13.875% senior secured notes due 2014 (included as Exhibit D to Exhibit 4.9 hereto)
4.12	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 18, 2009, among Dole Food Company, Inc. and the guarantors named therein, as issuers, and Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc., Banc of America Securities LLC, Scotia Capital (USA) Inc., Rabo Securities USA, Inc. and Goldman, Sachs & Co., as initial purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 24, 2009)

Exhibit

Numb	er	Title
4.13		Form of Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18 to Amendment No. 6 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on October 22, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
4.14		Indenture, dated as of September 25, 2009, among Dole Food Company, Inc., the guarantors signatory thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee, pursuant to which \$315,000,000 of Dole s 8% senior secured notes due 2016 were issued (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on September 30, 2009)
4.15		Form of Global Note for Dole s 8% senior secured notes due 2016 (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 14.14 hereto)
4.16		Form of Guarantee for Dole s 8% senior secured notes due 2016 (included as Exhibit D to Exhibit 14.14 hereto)
4.17		Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2009, among Dole Food Company, Inc. and the guarantors named therein, as issuers, and Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc., Banc of Americas Securities LLC, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, Scotia Capital (USA) Inc. and Goldman, Sachs & Co., as initial purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on September 30, 2009)
10.1		Credit Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003, amended and restated as of April 18, 2005, further amended and restated as of April 12, 2006, as amended March 18, 2009, as further amended on October 26, 2009, as further amended on March 2, 2010 and as further amended on July 8, 2011, among Dole Food Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Solvest, Ltd., a company organized under the laws of Bermuda, the Lenders from time to time party thereto, Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as Administrative Agent, Banc of America Securities, N.A. and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agents, JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., The Bank of Nova Scotia and Coöperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen Boerenleenbank B.A., Rabobank Nederland, New York Branch, as Co-Documentation Agents, and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as Lead Arrangers and Joint Book Runners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dole s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarterly period ended October 8, 2011 filed with the Commission on February 24, 2012)
10.2		Credit Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2006, as amended on March 18, 2009, as further amended on October 26, 2009, as further amended on March 2, 2010 and as further amended on July 8, 2011, among Dole Food Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation, the Lenders party thereto from time to time, Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as Administrative Agent, Bank of America, N.A. and Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC, as Co-Syndication Agents, JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., The Bank of Nova Scotia, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Co-Documentation Agents, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, and Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated as Joint Book Running Managers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Dole s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarterly period ended October 8, 2011 filed with the Commission on February 24, 2012)
10.3	#	Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan, Fifth Restatement, effective February 24, 2011
10.4	#	Excess Savings Plan, Restated, effective February 24, 2011
10.5	#	Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement, dated January 27, 2003, by and between Dole Food Company, Inc. and Mellon Bank, N.A.
10.6	#	Excess Savings Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement, dated December 4, 2002, by and between Dole Food Company, Inc. and Mellon Bank, N.A.

Exhibit

Number	Title
10.7 #	Amendment 2009-1, effective October 8, 2009, to Dole Food Company, Inc. Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement
10.8 #	Amendment 2009-1, effective October 8, 2009, to Dole Food Company, Inc. Excess Savings Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement
10.9 #	Amendment 2011-1, effective February 24, 2011, to Dole Food Company, Inc. Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement
10.10 #	Amendment 2011-1, effective February 24, 2011, to Dole Food Company, Inc. Excess Savings Plan Rabbi Trust Agreement
10.11	Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 4 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on October 9, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
10.12#	Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on February 25, 2011)
10.13 #	Dole s Non-Employee Directors Deferred Cash Compensation Plan, as amended and restated, effective February 24, 2011
10.14#	Dole Food Company, Inc. Sustained Profit Growth Plan, effective January 1, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Amendment No. 4 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on October 9, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
10.15#	Amendment to the Forms of Change of Control Agreement that are filed as Exhibits 10.16 and 10.17 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on September 13, 2012)
10.16#	Form of Change of Control Agreement with Messrs. C. Michael Carter and Joseph S. Tesoriero (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
10.17#	Form of Change of Control Agreement with Messrs. David H. Murdock and David A. DeLorenzo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Dole s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2010)
10.18 #	Form of Tier I Change of Control Agreement to be used for new agreements entered into after February 24, 2011
10.19 #	Form of Tier II Change of Control Agreement to be used for new agreements entered into after February 24, 2011
10.20#	Form of Amendment No. 1 to the Form of Change of Control Agreement that is filed as Exhibit 10.16 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 11, 2010)
10.21 #	Form of Amendment No. 2 to the Forms of Change of Control Agreement that are filed as Exhibits 10.16 and 10.17 to this Annual Report Form 10-K
10.22 #	Form of Amendment No. 3 to the Forms of Change of Control Agreement that are filed as Exhibits 10.16 and 10.17 to this Annual Report Form 10-K
10.23	Form of Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment No. 2 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on September 24, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))

Exhibit

Number	Title
10.24#	Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Dole s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Commission on April 13, 2012)
10.25#	Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Dole s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 10, 2009)
10.26#	2009 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Amendment No. 6 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on October 22, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
10.27#	2009 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Dole s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 10, 2009)
10.28#	2009 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Amendment No. 6 to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on October 22, 2009 (File No. 333-161345))
10.29#	Alternative Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Dole s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2010)
10.30#	Dole s 2010 Management One-Year Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 3, 2010)
10.31#	2010 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 3, 2010)
10.32#	2010 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 3, 2010)
10.33 #	2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan
10.34#	Dole Food Company, Inc. 2011 Self-Funded Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on November 18, 2011)
10.35#	Form of Performance Shares Agreement under the Dole Food Company, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Dole s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on November 18, 2011)
12*	Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
21*	Subsidiaries of Dole Food Company, Inc.
23*	Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP
31.1*	Certification by the President and Chief Operating Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

Exhibit

Number	Title
31.2*	Certification by the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
32.1**	Certification by the President and Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
32.2**	Certification by the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
101**	The following financial information from Dole Food Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2012, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Operations, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (loss), (iii) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (v) Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Incorporated by reference to the correspondingly numbered exhibits to Dole s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed with the Commission on June 25, 2004 (File No. 333-106493).

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding numbered exhibits to Dole s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Commission on March 14, 2011 (File No. 333-106493)

- * Filed herewith.
- ** Furnished herewith.
- # Management compensatory plan or arrangement.